Analytic Conformal Blocks of C_2 -cofinite Vertex Operator Algebras II: Convergence of Sewing and Higher Genus Pseudo-q-traces

BIN GUI, HAO ZHANG

Abstract

Let $\mathbb{V} = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{V}(n)$ be a C_2 -cofinite vertex operator algebra. We prove the convergence of Segal's sewing of conformal blocks associated to analytic families of pointed compact Riemann surfaces and grading-restricted generalized $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -modules (where N = 1, 2, ...) that are not necessarily tensor products of \mathbb{V} -modules, generalizing significantly the results on convergence in [Gui23a].

We show that "higher genus pseudo-*q*-traces" (called **pseudo-sewing** in this article) can be recovered from Segal's sewing. Therefore, our result on the convergence of Segal's sewing implies the convergence of pseudo-sewing, and hence covers both the convergence of genus-0 sewing in [HLZ12f] and the convergence of pseudo-*q*-traces in [Miy04] and [Fio16].

Using a similar method, we also prove the convergence of Virasoro uniformization, i.e., the convergence of conformal blocks deformed by non-automomous meromorphic vector fields near the marked points. The local freeness of the *analytic* sheaves of conformal blocks is a consequence of this convergence. It will be used in the third paper of this series to prove the sewing-factorization theorem.

Contents

0	Introduction: towards the geometry of pseudo- <i>q</i> -traces		
	0.1	Convergence of sewing conformal blocks	2
	0.2	Why do pseudo- <i>q</i> -traces appear in genus-1 but not in genus-0?	4
	0.3	Segal's (ordinary) sewing suffices in arbitrary genus	4
	0.4	A pseudo-trace $\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) \to \mathbb{C}$ is a two-pointed genus-0 conformal block	
		associated to the $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -submodule $\operatorname{End}_A^0(\mathbb{M})$ of $\mathbb{M} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{M}' \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	6
	0.5	Connections, local freeness, and the convergence of Virasoro uniformization	8
1	Prel	iminaries	11
	1.1	Notations	11
	1.2	Sewing a family of compact Riemann surfaces	12
	1.3	Sheaves of conformal blocks and coinvariants for the sewn family	18

2	Con	nections	23
	2.1	Lie derivatives in sheaves of VOAs	23
	2.2	A commutator formula	29
	2.3	The differential operators ∇_{η}	31
	2.4	Dependence of $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ on the lift $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}$	35
	2.5	Curvature and projective flatness	36
3	Convergence of Virasoro uniformization and local freeness		
	3.1	Convergence of formal parallel transports	38
	3.2	Virasoro uniformization by non-autonomous flows	41
	3.3	Local freeness for smooth families	44
	3.4	Application: $\square_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ for a smooth family \mathfrak{X}	46
4	Convergence of sewing conformal blocks		
	4.1	Sewing conformal blocks	49
	4.2	The sewing of a conformal block is a formal conformal block	52
	4.3	Convergence of sewing conformal blocks	53
	4.4	Application: convergence of higher genus pseudo- <i>q</i> -traces	60
Re	ferer	ices	63

0 Introduction: towards the geometry of pseudo-*q*-traces

This paper is the second part of the series on conformal blocks associated to a C_2 cofinite \mathbb{N} -graded vertex operator algebra (VOA) $\mathbb{V} = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{V}(n)$ and analytic families of
compact Riemann surfaces. The final goal of the series is to prove a **sewing-factorization**theorem (SF theorem).

An outline of this theorem was presented in the Introduction of [GZ23]. In genus 0, this theorem encompasses the associativity of intertwining operators as proved by Huang-Lepowsky-Zhang in [HLZ14, HLZ12a]-[HLZ12g]. In genus 1, we will show in future paper that the SF theorem implies the modular invariance property studied in [Zhu96, Miy04, AN13, Hua24]. In higher (i.e. arbitrary) genus, and when V is also rational, the theorem specializes to the analytic version of the factorization theorem and the (formal) sewing theorem proved by [DGT22], namely, Thm. 12.1 of [Gui23a].

0.1 Convergence of sewing conformal blocks

In this paper, we prove the convergence of sewing conformal blocks, which constitutes half of the SF theorem. (The other half is that the sewing construction implements an isomorphism of two spaces of conformal blocks: the space of conformal blocks before sewing and the space of those after sewing.) The results proved in this paper are interesting in their own right. Therefore, we have structured this paper in a way that it can be read independently of the other parts of the series.

The sewing construction is the most fundamental operation in 2d conformal field theory, as highlighted in Segal's seminal works [Seg88, Seg04]. For a concise (and necessarily incomplete) overview of the history behind the proof of convergence of sewing for rational VOAs, we refer readers to the Introduction of [Gui23a].

In fact, the proof of convergence of sewing already played an important role in the early history of VOAs. A notable feature of rational VOAs is that their characters $\text{Tr}_{\mathbb{M}}q^{L_0-\frac{c}{24}}$ (where \mathbb{M} runs through all irreducibles of \mathbb{V}) form a vector-valued modular form. More generally, Zhu proved in [Zhu96] the remarkable result that all $v \mapsto \text{Tr}_{\mathbb{M}}Y_{\mathbb{M}}(v,z)q^{L_0-\frac{c}{24}}$ form an $\text{SL}(2,\mathbb{Z})$ -invariant space. This modular invariance property can be reformulated in the following way:

- (1) **Convergence of sewing**. For 0 < |q| < 1, the sewing construction $v \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathbb{M}}Y_{\mathbb{M}}(\mathcal{U}(\alpha)v, 1)q^{L(0)}$ converges absolutely to a vacuum torus conformal block ϕ_q . (Here, $\mathcal{U}(\alpha)$ is a change of coordinate operator expressed in terms of the Virasoro operators.)
- (2) **Factorization**. For each fixed *q*, every vacuum torus conformal block arises from the sewing construction in (1). Moreover, this "factorization" process can be holomorphic with respect to *q*.
- (3) **Flat connections**. The space of vacuum torus conformal blocks form a holomorphic vector bundle together with a canonical modular-invariant (flat) connection *∇*.
- (4) **Parallelism**. The section $q \mapsto \phi_q$ in (1) is parallel up to the projective term $\frac{c}{24}$ where c is the central charge. Namely, $q \nabla_{\partial_q} \phi_q = \frac{c}{24} \phi_q$.

A primary purpose of (3) and (4) is to ensure that the *S* and *T* matrices obtained by modular transforming $q^{-\frac{c}{24}}\phi_q$ are "independent of q".

The associativity of intertwining operators in [HLZ14, HLZ12a]-[HLZ12g] can be phrased in a similar fashion, where \mathbb{V} is not assumed to be rational:

- (a) **Convergence of sewing**. The product $\mathcal{Y}_1(w_1, z_1)\mathcal{Y}_2(w_2, z_2)$ resp. the iterate $\mathcal{Y}_1(\mathcal{Y}_2(w_2, z_2 z_1)w_1, z_1)$ of intertwining operators (\approx genus-0 three-pointed conformal blocks) converge absolutely on suitable domains to a genus-0 four-pointed conformal block ϕ_{z_1, z_2} (with marked points $0, z_1, z_2, \infty$).
- (b) **Factorization**. For each fixed (suitable) z_1, z_2 , every genus-0 conformal block with marked points $0, z_1, z_2, \infty$ can be factored into a product resp. an iterate of intertwining operators. Moreover, this factorization process can be holomorphic with respect to z_1, z_2 .
- (c) Flat connections. The space of genus-0 four-pointed conformal blocks form a holomorphic vector bundle together with a canonical Möbius-invariant flat connection ∇.
- (d) **Parallelism**. The section $(z_1, z_2) \mapsto \phi_{z_1, z_2}$ is parallel under ∇ .

(c) and (d) ensure that the braiding and fusion matrices are "independent of z_1, z_2 ". We emphasize that *factorization is the inverse process of sewing*. Our SF theorem specializes to (1)+(2) in genus 1 and (a)+(b) in genus 0. The general theory related to (3)+(4) and (c)+(d) will also be given in this paper.

0.2 Why do pseudo-*q*-traces appear in genus-1 but not in genus-0?

One of the most puzzling phenomena for irrational C_2 -cofinite VOAs is that (a)-(d) continue to hold, as indicated by the works of Huang-Lepowsky-Zhang; however, (2) does not hold. Indeed, Miyamoto showed in [Miy04] that to achieve a factorization as in (2), it is necessary to consider in (1) not only the standard *q*-traces, but also pseudo-*q*-traces $\text{Tr}_{\mathbb{M}}^{\omega}Y_{\mathbb{M}}(\mathcal{U}(\alpha)v, 1)q^{L(0)}$. We aim to give a *conceptual* explanation of the following question: *Why are pseudo-q-traces needed only in genus-1 but not in genus-0*?

The permutation-twisted/untwisted correspondence obtained in [Gui21] suggests that sewing *and factorization* could be applied to higher genus Riemann surfaces even without (explicitly) appealing to pseudo-*q*-traces. (Therefore, Segal's sewing is sufficient in finite logarithmic CFT!) That correspondence says roughly that if *G* is a subgroup of S_N acting by permutation on $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$, then the genus-0 conformal blocks for *G*-twisted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ modules correspond to conformal blocks for (untwisted) \mathbb{V} -modules and branched coverings of \mathbb{P}^1 . Moreover, the sewing of the LHS corresponds to the sewing of the RHS. Therefore:

• The convergence of products/iterates and the associativity of intertwining operators among *G*-twisted V^{⊗N}-modules¹ can be translated to the sewing-factorization theorem for certain higher genus conformal blocks of untwisted V-modules via branched coverings.

In fact, [Gui21, Sec. 0.2] explains how the associativity of \mathbb{Z}_2 -twisted intertwining operators corresponds to the untwisted modular invariance. Although [Gui21] focuses on $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -modules that are tensor products of \mathbb{V} -modules (or their direct sums), most results in [Gui21] can be easily generalized to arbitrary $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -modules.

0.3 Segal's (ordinary) sewing suffices in arbitrary genus

In the Introduction of [GZ23], we have already presented the sewing construction in arbitrary genus that ensures the factorization holds. (In fact, our SF theorem is deeply inspired by the observation in Sec. 0.2.) Let us briefly recall its formulation. For simplicity, instead of a family of Riemann surfaces, we consider a single fiber

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}} = (\widetilde{C}|x_{\bullet}||x'_{\bullet}, x''_{\bullet}) = (\widetilde{C}|x_1, \dots, x_N||x'_1, \dots, x'_R, x''_1, \dots, x''_R)$$

where \tilde{C} is a (possibly disconnected) compact Riemann surface, and $x_{\bullet}, x'_{\bullet}, x''_{\bullet}$ are distinct marked points on \tilde{C} . We assume that each connected component of \tilde{C} contains at least one of x_1, \ldots, x_N . At each x_i, x'_j, x''_j we associate an (analytic) local coordinate η_i, ξ_j, ϖ_j . After choosing suitable $\varepsilon_j > 0$, one can sew $\tilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ along each pair of points (x'_j, x''_j) via the relation $\xi_j \varpi_j = q_j$. The result of sewing is a family of nodal curves with marked points (and local coordinates)

$$\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B} | \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_N)$$

¹This holds at least when \mathbb{V} is C_2 -cofinite and G is solvable. In that case, $(\mathbb{V}^N)^G$ is C_2 -cofinite [Miy15]. So one can combine Huang-Lepowski-Zhang and [McR21] to prove the associativity for intertwining operators of \mathbb{V}^N among G-twisted modules.

Here, $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}} := \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{1}} \times \cdots \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{R}}$ and $\mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{j}} = \{q_{j} \in \mathbb{C} : |q_{j}| < \varepsilon_{j}\}$. The marked points x'_{j}, x''_{j} disappear after sewing, and the constant extension of x_{i} gives the section ς_{i} .Let $\mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{i}}^{\times} = \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{j}} - \{0\}$. Then \mathfrak{X} is a smooth family on $\mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}}^{\times} := \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{1}}^{\times} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{R}}^{\times}$.

Now, we choose a (grading-restricted) $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module \mathbb{W} associated simultaneously to the marked points x_{\bullet} of $\tilde{\mathfrak{X}}$. Choose an $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes R}$ -module \mathbb{M} associated to x'_{\bullet} , and associate the contragredient module \mathbb{M}' to x''_{\bullet} .

We let $\mathscr{T}^*_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')$ be the space of conformal blocks associated to $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'$. Its elements are linear functionals

$$\psi: \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \to \mathbb{C}$$

satisfying certain invariance property under the action of sheaf of VOAs $\mathscr{V}_{\widetilde{C}}$. Let $L_j(n)$ be the Virasoro operator for the *j*-th component (cf. (1.1.3)). Let $\mathbb{M} = \bigoplus_{\lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^R} \mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}$ be the decomposition of \mathbb{M} with respect to the joint generalized eigenspaces of $L_1(0), \ldots, L_R(0)$. Let $q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} = q_1^{L_1(0)} \cdots q_R^{L_R(0)}$. Then the **sewing** $\mathcal{S}\Psi$ of Ψ (in the sense of Segal) is defined by taking contraction in the usual sense (*but not under a pseudo-trace*), i.e.,

$$\mathcal{S}\psi: \mathbb{W} \to \mathbb{C}\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}] = \mathbb{C}\{q_{1}, \dots, q_{R}\}[\log q_{1}, \dots, \log q_{R}]$$
$$\mathcal{S}\psi(w) = \sum_{\lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^{R}} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}_{\lambda_{\bullet}}} \psi(w_{\bullet} \otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} m_{(\lambda_{\bullet}, \alpha)} \otimes \breve{m}_{(\lambda_{\bullet}, \alpha)})$$

where $(m_{(\lambda_{\bullet},\alpha)})_{\alpha\in\mathfrak{A}_{\lambda_{\bullet}}}$ is a (finite) basis of $\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}$ with dual basis $(\check{m}_{(\lambda_{\bullet},\alpha)})_{\alpha\in\mathfrak{A}_{\lambda_{\bullet}}}$. (Note that $L_{j}(0)$ preserves each $\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}$.) See Subsec. 4.1.3 for the precise definition of $S\psi$.

Associate \mathbb{W} also to the marked points $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$ of \mathfrak{X} . Let $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W})$ be the \mathcal{B} -sheaf of conformal blocks associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W} . Thus, on $\mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}}^{\times}$, a section of this sheaf is precisely a linear map $\mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}}^{\times})$ whose restriction to each $q_{\bullet} \in \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}}^{\times}$ is a conformal block associated to \mathbb{W} and the fiber $\mathfrak{X}_{q_{\bullet}}$. (See Rem. 3.1.1 for details.) A major result of this paper (Thm. 4.3.1) is the generalization of the following theorem to the case that \mathfrak{X} is a family of pointed compact Riemann surfaces.

Theorem 0.3.1. Let $\psi \in \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')$. Then $\mathcal{S}\psi$ converges absolutely and locally uniformly (*a.l.u.*) on $\mathcal{D}^{\times}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}}$ to an element of $H^0(\mathcal{D}^{\times}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ (*i.e.*, a section of $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ on $\mathcal{D}^{\times}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}}$).

Now, when does the factorization hold in this setting? In other words, in which situation can every conformal block associated to $\mathfrak{X}_{q_{\bullet}}$ and \mathbb{W} be obtained by sewing conformal blocks associated to \mathfrak{X} and $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'$? An answer has been provided in the Introduction of [GZ23] and will be proved rigorously in the third part of the series:

The factorization holds if the sewing of *X* is a **disjoint sewing**, namely, if *C* is a disjoint union of open subsets *C*['] ⊔ *C*^{''} such that x₁['], ..., x_R['] belong to *C*^{''} and x₁^{''}, ..., x_R^{''} belong to *C*^{''}.

For example, in Sec. 0.1, the sewing in (a) is disjoint, any "branched covering" of (a) is disjoint, but (1) is not a disjoint sewing.

Thus, we can address the question posed in Sec. 0.2: The reason that the sewing construction $v \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}_{\mathbb{M}} Y_{\mathbb{M}}(v, 1) q^{L(0)}$ does not provide all vacuum torus conformal blocks is that this type of sewing is a "self-sewing" rather than a disjoint sewing.

There are two ways to achieve factorization for non-disjoint sewing. The first approach retains the sewing of conformal blocks but modifies the way of sewing compact Riemann surfaces. The second approach does the opposite. More precisely:

- (α) Transform the non-disjoint sewing of *Riemann surfaces* to a disjoint one, as shown e.g. in Fig. 0.3.1. Then the ordinary sewing of *conformal blocks* (as in Segal's work [Seg88, Seg04]) is sufficient.
- (β) Keep the sewing of *Riemann surfaces*. However, replace Segal's (ordinary) sewing of *conformal blocks* with pseudo-sewing (i.e. pseudo-*q*-trace).



Figure 0.3.1 Transforming self-sewing to disjoint sewing

In Sec. 4.4, we will show that (β) arises naturally as a special case of (α) . In future work, we will show that in most typical cases, (α) and (β) are roughly equivalent. For now, let me explain why the sewing in [Gui23a] is insufficient to achieve the factorization: In that work, the $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes R}$ -module \mathbb{M} is a tensor product of \mathbb{V} -modules. As we will see in the following section:

• The consideration of *V*^{⊗*R*}-modules that are not tensor products of *V*-modules (or their direct sums) is closely related to the pseudo-trace construction.

0.4 A pseudo-trace $\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) \to \mathbb{C}$ is a two-pointed genus-0 conformal block associated to the $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -submodule $\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$ of $\mathbb{M} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathbb{M}'$

To illustrate the main idea behind the embedding $(\beta) \hookrightarrow (\alpha)$ mentioned above, let's examine the simplest case: Let \mathfrak{Q} and \mathfrak{N} be a 3-pointed resp. 2-pointed sphere with local coordinates:

$$\mathfrak{Q} = (\mathbb{P}^1 | 1, \infty, 0; z - 1, 1/z, z) \qquad \mathfrak{N} = (\mathbb{P}^1 | \infty, 0; 1/z, z)$$

Here, *z* denotes the standard coordinate of \mathbb{C} . Associate the vacuum module \mathbb{V} to the marked point $1 \in \mathfrak{Q}$. Let \mathbb{X} be a $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -module associated to the marked points $(\infty, 0)$ of \mathfrak{N} . Its contragredient \mathbb{X}' is associated to the marked points $(\infty, 0)$ of \mathfrak{Q} . Choose conformal blocks

 $\varphi: \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{X}' \to \mathbb{C} \qquad \tau: \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{C}$

associated to \mathfrak{Q} and \mathfrak{N} respectively.

Let \mathfrak{X} be the sewing of \mathfrak{Q} and \mathfrak{N} along two pairs of points: The first pair is $(\infty_{\mathfrak{Q}}, \infty_{\mathfrak{N}})$, and the second pair is $(0_{\mathfrak{Q}}, 0_{\mathfrak{N}})$.² See Fig. 0.4.1. Then \mathfrak{X} has base manifold $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_1 \times \mathcal{D}_1$ where $\mathcal{D}_1 = \{q \in \mathbb{C} : |q| < 1\}$. By Thm. 0.3.1, for each $0 < |q_1|, |q_2| < 1$, $S_{q_{\bullet}}(\phi \otimes \tau)$ converges to a conformal block associated to \mathbb{V} and the fiber $\mathfrak{X}_{q_{\bullet}} = \mathfrak{X}_{q_1,q_2}$.

²Technically, this sewing does not satisfy our assumption in Sec. 0.3 that each component of $\mathfrak{Q} \sqcup \mathfrak{N}$ contains a marked point not intended for sewing. (Look at \mathfrak{N} .) However, this minor issue can be easily circumvented by propagating the conformal blocks. See Rem. 4.3.2.



Figure 0.4.1 Sewing $\mathfrak{Q} \sqcup \mathfrak{N}$ to get the torus \mathfrak{X}_{q_1,q_2} .

The factorization implies that any vacuum torus conformal block can be written as $S_{q_{\bullet}}(\phi \otimes \tau)$. We now explain how the pseudo-trace construction fits into our setting.

Let \mathbb{M} be a \mathbb{V} -module. If we let \mathbb{X} be $\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'$ and let $\tau : \mathbb{X} \otimes \mathbb{X}' \to \mathbb{C}$ be the standard pairing, then $S_{q_{\bullet}}(\phi \otimes \tau)$ is just the usual *q*-trace (where $q = q_1q_2$). However, we can let \mathbb{X} be a $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -submodule of $\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'$.

The following procesure provides a major way to get $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -submodules of $\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'$. Let

$$\operatorname{End}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) = \bigoplus_{\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{M}_{[\mu]}, \mathbb{M}_{[\lambda]})$$

where $\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda]}$ is the weight- λ generalized eigenspace. The canonical linear equivalence

$$\operatorname{End}^0(\mathbb{M}) \simeq \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'$$

makes $\operatorname{End}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$ a $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -module. Choose a unital subalgebra A of $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{V}}(\mathbb{M})^{\operatorname{op}}$. Then $\operatorname{End}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$ has a $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -submodule

$$\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) := \{T \in \operatorname{End}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) : (Tm)a = T(ma) \text{ for all } m \in \mathbb{M}, a \in A\}$$

We now assume that \mathbb{M} is projective as a right *A*-module. Fix a symmetric linear functional $\omega : A \to \mathbb{C}$. (Namely, ω is linear and $\omega(ab) = \omega(ba)$ for all $a, b \in A$.) Through the pseudo-trace construction in [Ari10], we obtain a symmetric linear functional

$$\operatorname{Tr}^{\omega} : \operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) \to \mathbb{C}$$

The fact that $\tau := Tr^{\omega}$ is symmetric implies that it is a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{N} and the $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -module

$$\mathbb{X} := \operatorname{End}_A^0(\mathbb{M})$$

Finally, the linear functional

$$\phi: \mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathbb{M} \to \mathbb{C} \qquad v \otimes m' \otimes m \mapsto \langle Y_{\mathbb{M}}(v, 1)m, m' \rangle$$

is a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{Q} and $\mathbb{V} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathbb{M}$. Using the fact that the vertex operators of \mathbb{M} commute with *A*, we see that ϕ descends to a linear map

$$\phi: \mathbb{V} \otimes \operatorname{End}_A^0(\mathbb{M})' \to \mathbb{C}$$

where $\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})' = \bigoplus_{\mu,\lambda\in\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(\mathbb{M}_{[\mu]},\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda]})^{*}$ is the contragedient $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -module of $\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$. Thus one can define the sewing $\mathcal{S}(\phi \otimes \operatorname{Tr}^{\omega}) : \mathbb{V} \to \mathbb{C}\{q_{1}, q_{2}\}[\log q_{1}, \log q_{2}],$

and by direct computation one sees that it has range in $\mathbb{C}\{q_1q_2\}[\log(q_1q_2)]$. If we let $v \mapsto \operatorname{Tr}^{\omega}(Y_{\mathbb{M}}(v,1)q^{L(0)})$ denote the pseudo-*q*-trace construction as in [Miy04, AN13, Fio16, Hua24], then as linear maps $\mathbb{V} \mapsto \mathbb{C}\{q\}[\log q]$ we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}^{\omega}(Y_{\mathbb{M}}(-,1)q^{L(0)}) = \mathcal{S}(\phi \otimes \operatorname{Tr}^{\omega})\big|_{q_1q_2=q}$$
(0.4.1)

Thus, the pseudo-*q*-trace on the LHS is realized by the ordinary sewing of conformal blocks on the RHS. In particular, the convergence of the ordinary sewing implies the convergence of pseudo-*q*-traces. See Sec. 4.4 for the generalization of the above discussions to arbitrary genus.

• Conclusion: The pseudo-q-traces can be recovered from Segal's (ordinary) sewing.

0.5 Connections, local freeness, and the convergence of Virasoro uniformization

Besides Thm. 4.3.1, in this paper, we also prove several results related to the connections on the sheaves. These connections were already used in [Gui23a] to derive the differential equations ensuring the convergence of sewing conformal blocks. In this paper, we adopt the same method. The idea behind this method is to transform the sewing to the uniformization of Riemann surfaces. Huang has already used this idea in [Hua97] to study the convergence of sewing conformal blocks associated to spheres with nonstandard local coordinates.

Unlike [Gui23a], which takes a pragmatic view of these connections, this paper offers a more thorough exploration of the topic for several reasons.

The parallelism of sewing up to a projective term

As suggested in Sec. 0.1, in genus-1, the SF theorem (including the convergence of sewing) is insufficient to imply modular invariance. One also needs the flat connections on the locally free sheaf of conformal blocks, and one needs to show that the sewing is parallel under this connection up to a projective term. The general formula for the projective term in arbitrary genus is given in Thm. 4.3.3. As we will show in a future work, this formula accounts for the extra factor $-\frac{c}{24}$ appearing in the modular invariance theorems.

Misunderstanding of the proof of analytic local freeness

Let us from now on assume that $\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}|\varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_N)$ is a family of *N*-pointed compact Riemann surfaces with local coordinate η_i at each $\varsigma_i(\mathcal{B})$. Associate a $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module \mathbb{M} simultaneously to the marked points $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$. A standard application of the connections is to show that the sheaf of conformal blocks $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$, as an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module, is locally free. (Namely, it is a (finite-rank) vector bundle on \mathcal{B} .) As an application, the dimensions of spaces of conformal blocks are topological invariants. See [TUY89, Uen97, Uen08, NT05, DGT22] for instance.

We believe that the following aspect has not received sufficient attention in the literature: Almost all proofs of the local freeness of sheaves of conformal blocks only apply in the algebraic setting but not in the complex analytic setting, the setting we take in our series of papers. The algebraic local freeness is proved in the following way: First, it is proved that the sheaf of coinvariants $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ (whose dual sheaf is $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W})$) is coherent. Then, since any coherent sheaf with a connection is locally free, it follows that $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is locally free, and hence $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W})$ is locally.

However, the above proof that $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is coherent relies heavily on the fact that \mathcal{B} is (locally) Noetherian. (See e.g. the proof of [NT05, Thm. 6.2.1].) Without the Noetherian property for $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$, one can only show that $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is of finite type—that is, locally it has an epimorphism from a free sheaf—but one cannot show that the sheaves of relations in $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ are of finite type, which is essential in defining coherent sheaves. Unfortunately, complex manifolds rarely exhibit the Noetherian property, making it challenging to establish coherence as in the algebraic case. Consequently, the algebraic proof of local freeness fails in the analytic setting.

Therefore, it is essential to give a correct proof of the local freeness for analytic families, which we achieve in Thm. 3.3.1.

Convergence of Virasoro uniformization

A key step in proving the (analytic) local freeness of $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ (and $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W})$) is to prove the convergence of Virasoro uniformization. The algebraic Virasoro uniformization is explicitly stated in [FBZ04, Ch. 17]. Roughly speaking, suppose that we have an *N*-pointed compact Riemann surface $\mathfrak{Y} = (C|x_1, \ldots, x_N)$ with local coordinates η_1, \ldots, η_N , where each η_i is defined on a disk U_i centered at x_i , and choose a meromorphic vector field $\mathfrak{x}_i = h_i \partial_{\eta_i}$ where h_i is a holomorphic function on $U_i \setminus \{x_i\}$ with finite poles at x_i . In the algebraic setting, these vector fields $\mathfrak{x}_1, \ldots, \mathfrak{x}_N$ generate the first order infinitesimal deformation of \mathfrak{Y} . Translating \mathfrak{x}_i to the Virasoro operators, we obtain the first order infinitesimal parallel transport of conformal block.

In our analytic setting, we can say more about the Virasoro uniformization. We can even assume that h_i relies holomorphically on another complex variable q. So each \mathfrak{x}_i is a non-autonomous vector field, which generates a non-autonomous holomorphic flow $q \mapsto \beta_q^i$ on any compact subset of $U_i - \{x_i\}$. Assume that U_i is large enough and r > 0 is small enough such that, whenever |q| < r, U_i contains $\beta_q^i \circ \eta_i^{-1}(\overline{\mathcal{D}}_1)$. Then we can remove $\beta_q^i \circ \eta_i^{-1}(\mathcal{D}_1)$ from C, use the map $\eta_i \circ (\beta_q^i)^{-1}$ to glue $\beta_q^i \circ \eta_i^{-1}(\mathbb{S}^1)$ with the boundary \mathbb{S}^1 of the standard closed disk $\overline{\mathcal{D}}_1$, and replace x_i and its local coordinates η_i with the new marked point $0 \in \overline{\mathcal{D}}_1$ and its standard coordinate z. Then this gives a new N-pointed compact Riemann surface \mathfrak{Y}_q with local coordinates.³ See Sec. 3.2 for more details.

With respect to the analytic deformation $\mathfrak{Y} \mapsto \mathfrak{Y}_q$, a given conformal block ψ (associated to \mathfrak{Y} and a $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module \mathbb{W}) is transformed to a new one ψ_q . This transformation is described by a differential equation involving Virasoro operators. See (3.1.6) (and also (3.1.4b)). Initially, ψ_q is only a formal power series of q. Our theorem on the **convergence**

³In the language of compact Riemann surfaces with boundaries and boundary parametrizations, this process is as follows: At *q*, the Riemann surface with boundary is $C - \bigcup_i \beta_q^i \circ \eta_i^{-1}(\mathcal{D}_1)$. The *i*-th boundary parametrization, i.e, the analytic diffeomorphism $\beta_q^i \circ \eta_i^{-1}(\mathbb{S}^1) \to \mathbb{S}^1$, is chosen to be $\eta_i \circ (\beta_q^i)^{-1}$.

of Virasoro uniformization says that for |q| < r, ψ_q converges absolutely to a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{Y}_q and \mathbb{W} .

In the special case that \mathfrak{r}_i is autonomous (i.e. independent of q), β^i is then an autonomous flow, and ψ_q can be expressed as an exponential: Write

$$\mathfrak{x}_i = \sum_{k=-\infty}^{+\infty} h_{i,k} \eta_i^k \tag{0.5.1}$$

where $h_{i,k} \in \mathbb{C}$ is zero when $k \ll 0$. Then for each $w \in \mathbb{W}$ we have

$$\phi(w) = \phi_0(e^{-qA}w) \quad \text{where } A = \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{k=-\infty}^{+\infty} h_{i,k} L_i(k-1) \quad (0.5.2)$$

(See Exp. 3.1.5.) To our knowledge, the convergence of such an exponential (for reasonably large |q|) has not been addressed before in the VOA literature. Therefore, we believe it is valuable to explore this topic in the present paper. Interestingly, our proof of the convergence of Virasoro uniformization shares many similarities with the proof convergence for sewing conformal blocks.

Lie derivatives in sheaves of VOAs

The most challenging part of constructing the connection is to show that the connection ∇ , originally defined on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) = \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$, descends to $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$. (Note that $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is the quotient of $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ by a suitable $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -submodule $\mathscr{I}_{\mathfrak{X}}$.) The purely algebraic approach in [FBZ04] does not suit our analytic framework optimally, so in this paper, we provide a differential-geometric proof.

Let \mathfrak{y} be a vector field on \mathcal{B} . To show that $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ preserves $\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}$, we need to calculate the commutator of $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ and the action of the sheaf of VOA $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ (more precisely, the action of $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}} \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}$) on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$. As we will see in Subsec. 2.3.2 (especially in (2.3.9)), this commutator is computed using the **Lie derivatives in** $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}$, generalizing the usual Lie derivatives of tensor fields.

It is noteworthy that in the case of \mathbb{V} being a unitary affine VOA associated to a simple Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} , this Lie derivative structure is obscured. In fact, as shown in [TUY89], to study the conformal blocks for such VOAs it suffices to use the subsheaf of $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ generated by weight one vectors. This subsheaf is canonically isomorphic to $\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}$, and hence its tensor with $\omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}$ is canonically isomorphic to $\mathfrak{g} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$. Therefore, the usual (Lie) derivative on $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ is adequate for studying connections. For this reason, extending the treatment of connections in [TUY89] to general C_2 -cofinite VOAs is far from straightforward.

Acknowledgment

We would like to thank David Ben-Zvi, Yi-Zhi Huang, and Baojun Wu for their valuable discussions. The authors were supported by BMSTC and ACZSP (Grant no. Z221100002722017).

1 Preliminaries

1.1 Notations

If *X* is a complex manifold, then we denote the holomorphic tangent (resp. cotangent) bundle as Θ_X (resp. ω_X). We denote by \mathcal{O}_X the sheaf of (germs of) holomorphic functions on *X*. Then $\mathcal{O}_X(X) = \mathcal{O}(X)$ is the space of holomorphic functions $U \to \mathbb{C}$. Suppose that \mathscr{E} is an \mathcal{O}_X -module. For each $x \in X$, the **stalk** of \mathscr{E} at x is denoted by \mathscr{E}_x . The **fiber** of \mathscr{E} at x is the \mathbb{C} -vector space

$$\mathscr{E}|_x := \mathscr{E}_x/\mathfrak{m}_{X,x}\mathscr{E}_x \tag{1.1.1}$$

where $\mathfrak{m}_{X,x} = \{ f \in \mathcal{O}_{X,x} : f(x) = 0 \}.$

In this article, if *X* is a complex manifold, and if \mathscr{E} and \mathscr{F} are \mathcal{O}_X -modules, then $\mathscr{E} \otimes \mathscr{F}$ means $\mathscr{E} \otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X} \mathscr{F}$. In other words, \otimes means $\otimes_{\mathcal{O}_X}$ but not (say) $\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}$.

If $s_{\bullet} = (s_i)_{i \in I}$ is a collection in $\mathscr{E}(X)$, we say that s_{\bullet} generates \mathscr{E} if for each $x \in X$, every element of \mathscr{E}_x is a (finite) $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ -linear combination of elements of s_{\bullet} . This is equivalent to saying that the \mathcal{O}_X -module morphism $\bigoplus_{i \in I} \mathcal{O}_X \to \mathscr{E}$ sending $\bigoplus_{i \in I} f_i$ to $\sum_i f_i s_i$ is an epimorphism.

We say that \mathscr{E} is of **finite type** if each $x \in X$ is contained in a neighborhood U such that $\mathscr{E}|_U$ is generated by a finite subset of $\mathscr{E}(U)$. Clearly, if \mathscr{E} is of finite type, then each $\mathscr{E}|_x$ is finite dimensional.

• For each $0 < r \leq +\infty$ and $r_{\bullet} = (r_1, \ldots, r_N)$, let

$$\mathcal{D}_r = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < r \} \qquad \mathcal{D}_r^{\times} = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : 0 < |z| < r \} \qquad \overline{\mathcal{D}}_r = \{ z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| \le r \}$$
$$\mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}} = \mathcal{D}_{r_1} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{D}_{r_N} \qquad \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}}^{\times} = \mathcal{D}_{r_1}^{\times} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{D}_{r_N}^{\times}$$

• Suppose $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}$ is a holomorphic map of complex manifolds. For each $E \subset \mathcal{B}$,

$$\mathcal{C}_E := \pi^{-1}(E)$$

- We fix an \mathbb{N} -graded VOA $\mathbb{V} = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{V}(n)$ with conformal vector $\mathbf{c} \in \mathbb{V}(2)$ and central charge c. We set $\mathbb{V}^{\leq n} = \bigoplus_{k \leq n} \mathbb{V}(k)$.
- On any weak V-module W, the vertex operator Y_W(v, z) (often abbreviated to Y) is written as Y(v, z) = ∑_{n∈Z} Y(v)_nz⁻ⁿ⁻¹. More generally, if W is a weak V^{⊗N}-module and v ∈ V, we write

$$Y_i(v,z) = \sum_n Y_i(v)_n z^{-n-1} = Y(\mathbf{1} \otimes \dots \otimes \underbrace{v}_{i \in \mathbf{h}} \otimes \dots \otimes \mathbf{1}, z)$$
(1.1.2)

$$L_i(n) = Y_i(\mathbf{c})_{n-1}$$
(1.1.3)

Then $L(n) = \sum_i L_i(n)$ are the Virasoro operators of $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ on \mathbb{W} .

• Consider the case that \mathbb{W} is a grading-restricted (generalized) $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module (cf. [Hua09]). Then each generalized eigenspace of L(0) is finite-dimensional and $L_j(0)$ -invariant for all j. So we can write

$$\mathbb{W} = \bigoplus_{\lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^N} \mathbb{W}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}$$
(1.1.4)

where $\mathbb{W}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]} = \mathbb{W}_{[\lambda_1,...,\lambda_N]}$ is the (finite-dimensional) subspace of all $w \in \mathbb{W}$ that is a generalized λ_i -eigenvector of $L_i(0)$ for each *i*. Define the **algebraic completion**

$$\overline{\mathbb{W}} = \prod_{\lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^N} \mathbb{W}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}$$

For each $\mu_{\bullet}, \lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^{N}$, we say $\mu_{\bullet} \leq \lambda_{\bullet}$ whenever $\Re(\mu_{i}) \leq \Re(\lambda_{i})$ for all $1 \leq i \leq N$. Let

$$\mathbb{W}_{[\leqslant\lambda_{\bullet}]} = \bigoplus_{\mu_{\bullet}\in\mathbb{C}^{N},\mu_{\bullet}\leqslant\lambda_{\bullet}} \mathbb{W}_{[\mu_{\bullet}]}$$

 $P_{\lambda_{\bullet}} = \text{ the projection } \overline{\mathbb{W}} \to \mathbb{W}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]} \qquad P_{\leqslant \lambda_{\bullet}} = \text{ the projection } \overline{\mathbb{W}} \to \mathbb{W}_{[\leqslant \lambda_{\bullet}]}$

• Let *W* be a \mathbb{C} -vector space. Let $z_{\bullet} = (z_1, \ldots, z_N)$ be (mutually commuting) variables.

$$W[[z_{\bullet}]] = \left\{ \sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^{N}} a_{n_{\bullet}} z_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} \right\}$$
$$W[z_{\bullet}] = \left\{ \sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^{N}} a_{n_{\bullet}} z_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} : a_{n_{\bullet}} = 0 \text{ for sufficiently large } n_{1}, \dots, n_{N} \right\}$$
$$W((z_{\bullet})) = \left\{ \sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{Z}^{N}} a_{n_{\bullet}} z_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} : a_{n_{\bullet}} = 0 \text{ for sufficiently negative } n_{1}, \dots, n_{N} \right\}$$
$$W\{z_{\bullet}\} = \left\{ \sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^{N}} a_{n_{\bullet}} z_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} : a_{n_{\bullet}} = 0 \text{ for sufficiently negative } \Re(n_{1}), \dots, \Re(n_{N}) \right\}$$

where all $a_{n_{\bullet}}$ are in \mathbb{W} . Note that $W\{z_{\bullet}\}$ is a $\mathbb{C}((z_{\bullet}))$ -module.

Let X be a locally compact Hausdorff space. Let $(f_i)_{i \in I}$ be a countable collection of functions on X. We say that $\sum_i f_i$ converges absolutely and locally uniformly (a.l.u.) on X if each $x \in X$ is contained in a neighborhood U such that $\sup_{y \in U} \sum_{i \in I} |f_i(y)| < +\infty$. This is equivalent to that for each compact $K \subset X$ we have $\sup_{y \in K} \sum_{i \in I} |f_i(y)| < +\infty$.

1.2 Sewing a family of compact Riemann surfaces

1.2.1 The sewing construction

We revisit the construction of sewing families of compact Riemann surfaces. The setting established in this subsection will be used throughout this paper. Our presentation follows and generalizes the one presented in [Gui23a, Sec. 2]. In [Gui23a], the sewing was restricted to a single pair of points, whereas here, we extend it to multiple pairs of points. Much of the geometric construction in this section is well known. We provide detailed explanations to establish the notations that will be used later.

Throughout this article, we fix a family of (N+2R)-pointed compact Riemann surfaces

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}} = (\widetilde{\pi} : \widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} | \varsigma_{\bullet} \| \varsigma_{\bullet}', \varsigma_{\bullet}'') = (\widetilde{\pi} : \widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} | \varsigma_1, \cdots, \varsigma_N \| \varsigma_1', \cdots, \varsigma_R', \varsigma_1'', \cdots, \varsigma_R'').$$
(1.2.1)

where $N \ge 1$ and $R \ge 0$. So $\tilde{\pi}$ is a proper surjective holomorphic submersion, and each fiber $\tilde{C}_b = \tilde{\pi}^{-1}(b)$ (where $b \in \tilde{\mathcal{B}}$) has complex dimension 1. $\varsigma_{\bullet}, \varsigma'_{\bullet}, \varsigma'_{\bullet}$ are sections of

 $\widetilde{\pi}: \widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}^4$ with mutually disjoint ranges. We always assume that

For each $b \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$, each connected component of $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}_b$ contains one of $\varsigma_1(b), \ldots, \varsigma_N(b)$ (1.2.2)

which is stronger than (2-b) of [GZ23, Def. 1.7.1]. (The reason for assuming this is due to (1.3.13).) We fix local coordinates $\xi_{\bullet}, \varpi_{\bullet}$ of $\tilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ at $\varsigma'_{\bullet}, \varsigma''_{\bullet}$.⁵

Choose $r_1, \dots, r_R, \rho_1, \dots, \rho_R > 0$ and neighborhoods $V'_1, \dots, V'_R, V''_1, \dots, V''_R$ of $\varsigma'_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \dots, \varsigma'_R(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \varsigma''_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \dots, \varsigma''_R(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$, on which $\xi_1, \dots, \xi_R, \varpi_1, \dots, \varpi_R$ are defined, such that

$$(\xi_i, \widetilde{\pi}) : V'_i \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \quad (\varpi_i, \widetilde{\pi}) : V''_i \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$$
(1.2.3)

are biholomorphic maps for each $1 \leq i \leq R$. Moreover, we assume $\varsigma_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \dots, \varsigma_N(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), V'_1, \dots, V'_R, V''_1, \dots, V''_R$ are disjoint. Identify

$$V'_i = \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \qquad V''_i = \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$$
 (1.2.4)

via (1.2.3). Then ξ_i (resp. ϖ_i) becomes the projection onto the \mathcal{D}_{r_i} -component (resp. \mathcal{D}_{ρ_i} component), and $\tilde{\pi}$ restricts to the projection onto $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$. We call r_i, ρ_i the **sewing radii** for $\varsigma'_i, \varsigma''_i$.

We sew $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ along pairs of points $\varsigma'_{\bullet}, \varsigma''_{\bullet}$ using $\xi_{\bullet}, \varpi_{\bullet}$ to get a family

$$\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B} | \varsigma_{\bullet}) = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B} | \varsigma_{1}, \cdots, \varsigma_{N})$$
(1.2.5)

 \mathfrak{X} is described as follows.

We shall freely switch the orders of Cartesian products. Set

$$\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} = \mathcal{D}_{r_{1}\rho_{1}} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{R}\rho_{R}} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}.$$
 (1.2.6)

Define also W_i and its open subsets W'_i, W''_i by

$$W_{i} = \mathcal{D}_{r_{i}} \times \mathcal{D}_{\rho_{i}} \times \prod_{j \neq i} \mathcal{D}_{r_{j}\rho_{j}} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$$
(1.2.7a)

$$W_{i}' = \mathcal{D}_{r_{i}}^{\times} \times \mathcal{D}_{\rho_{i}} \times \prod_{j \neq i} \mathcal{D}_{r_{j}\rho_{j}} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$$
(1.2.7b)

$$W_i'' = \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i}^{\times} \times \prod_{j \neq i} \mathcal{D}_{r_j \rho_j} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$$
(1.2.7c)

Then we can extend ξ_i, ϖ_i and $q_i = \xi_i \varpi_i$ constantly to

$$\xi_i: W_i \to \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \qquad (z, w, *) \mapsto z \tag{1.2.8a}$$

$$\varpi_i: W_i \to \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \qquad (z, w, *) \mapsto w \tag{1.2.8b}$$

$$q_i: W_i \to D_{r_i \rho_i} \qquad (z, w, *) \mapsto zw$$
 (1.2.8c)

⁴Namely, they are holomorphic maps $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}$ whose compositions with $\widetilde{\pi}$ are the identity map of $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$.

⁵Suppose that $\varsigma : \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{C}}$ is a section. Then a local coordinate at $\varsigma(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ means a (\mathbb{C} -valued) holomorphic function η on a neighborhood \widetilde{U} of $\varsigma(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ whose restriction to each fiber $\widetilde{U}_b = \widetilde{\pi}^{-1}(b)$ (where $b \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$) is univalent (i.e. injective), and whose restriction to $\varsigma(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ is zero.

so that $q_i = \xi_i \varpi_i$ still holds. Then we have open holomorphic embeddings

$$(\xi_i, \varpi_i, \operatorname{pr}) : W_i \xrightarrow{=} \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \times \prod_{j \neq i} \mathcal{D}_{r_j \rho_j} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$$
 (1.2.9a)

$$(\xi_i, q_i, \operatorname{pr}): W'_i \to \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_i \rho_i} \times \prod_{j \neq i} \mathcal{D}_{r_j \rho_j} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \simeq \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet} \rho_{\bullet}}$$
(1.2.9b)

$$(\varpi_i, q_i, \operatorname{pr}): W_i'' \to \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_i \rho_i} \times \prod_{j \neq i} \mathcal{D}_{r_j \rho_j} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \simeq \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet} \rho_{\bullet}}$$
(1.2.9c)

where pr denotes the projection onto the $\prod_{j \neq i} \mathcal{D}_{r_j \rho_j} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ -component. The image of (1.2.9b) resp. (1.2.9c) is precisely the subset of all $(z_i, b, p_1, \ldots, p_R) \in \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet} \rho_{\bullet}}$ resp. $(w_i, b, p_1, \ldots, p_R) \in \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet} \rho_{\bullet}}$ satisfying

$$\frac{|p_i|}{\rho_i} < |z_i| < r_i \qquad \text{resp.} \qquad \frac{|p_i|}{r_i} < |w_i| < \rho_i. \tag{1.2.10}$$

So closed subsets $F'_i \subset \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}}$ and $F''_i \subset \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}}$ can be chosen such that we have biholomorphisms

$$(\xi_i, q_i, \mathrm{pr}) : W'_i \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} - F'_i$$
(1.2.11a)

$$(\varpi_i, q_i, \operatorname{pr}) : W_i'' \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} - F_i''$$
 (1.2.11b)

By the identifications (1.2.4), we can write the above maps as

$$(\xi_i, q_i, \mathrm{pr}) : W'_i \xrightarrow{\simeq} V'_i \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} - F'_i \qquad \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}}$$
(1.2.12a)

$$(\varpi_i, q_i, \operatorname{pr}): W_i'' \xrightarrow{\simeq} V_i'' \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} - F_i'' \qquad \subset \mathcal{C} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}}$$
(1.2.12b)

In particular, we view F'_i and F''_i as closed subsets of $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}}$.

The complex manifold C is defined by

$$\mathcal{C} = (W_1 \sqcup \cdots \sqcup W_R) \bigsqcup \left(\widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} - \bigcup_{i=1}^R (F'_i \cup F''_i) \right) / \sim$$
(1.2.13)

Here, the equivalence ~ is defined by identifying each subsets W'_i, W''_i of W_i with the corresponding open subsets of $\widetilde{C} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet} \rho_{\bullet}} - \bigcup_{i=1}^{R} (F'_i \cup F''_i)$ via the biholomorphisms (1.2.12).

 $\pi:\mathcal{C}\to\mathcal{B}$ is defined as follows. The map

$$\widetilde{\pi} \times \mathrm{id}_{\mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}}} : \widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} = \mathcal{B}$$

agrees with

$$q_i: W_i = \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \times \prod_{j \neq i} \mathcal{D}_{r_j \rho_j} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet} \rho_{\bullet}} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} = \mathcal{B}$$

when restricted to W'_i and W''_i . These two maps give a well-defined surjective holomorphic map $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}$.

Extend ς_i constantly to $\mathcal{B} = \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}}$, whose image is disjoint from F'_i and F''_i for $1 \leq i \leq R$. So ς_i can be extended to sections of $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}$, also denoted by ς_i . This together with $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}$ gives (1.2.5).

Remark 1.2.1. If we choose local coordinates η_i defined on a neighborhood \widetilde{U}_i of $\varsigma_i(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ disjoint from $V'_1, \dots, V'_R, V''_1, \dots, V''_R$, then η_i can be extended constantly to neighborhoods $U_i := \widetilde{U}_i \times \mathcal{D}_{r_\bullet \rho_\bullet}$ of $\varsigma_i(\mathcal{B})$, also denoted by η_i .

Definition 1.2.2. The set

 $\Sigma = \{ x \in \mathcal{C} : \pi \text{ is not a submersion at } x \}$

is called the **critical locus** of \mathfrak{X} . Write

$$W = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{R} W_{i} \qquad W' = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{R} W'_{i} \qquad W'' = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{R} W''_{i}$$
(1.2.14)

It is not hard to see that π is a submersion outside W, and for each i we have

$$W_i \cap \Sigma = \left(\{0\} \times \{0\}\right) \times \prod_{j \neq i} \mathcal{D}_{r_j \rho_j} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \qquad \subset \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \times \prod_{j \neq i} \mathcal{D}_{r_j \rho_j} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \qquad (1.2.15)$$

Thus, we have

$$\Sigma = W - (W' \cup W'') = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{R} (W_i - (W'_i \cup W''_i))$$
(1.2.16)

It is clear that the **discriminant locus** $\Delta = \pi(\Sigma)$ satisfies

$$\Delta \stackrel{\text{def}}{=} \pi(\Sigma) = \{ (p_1, \dots, p_R, \widetilde{b}) \in \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} : p_1 \cdots p_R = 0 \} = (\mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} - \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}}^{\times}) \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$$
(1.2.17)

So Δ is the set of all $b \in \mathcal{B}$ such that \mathcal{C}_b is not smooth. If $b \in \mathcal{B} - \Delta$, we set

$$\mathfrak{X}_b := (\mathcal{C}_b | \varsigma_1(b), \cdots, \varsigma_N(b))$$

If the local coordinates η_{\bullet} are chosen as in Rem. 1.2.1, we set

$$\mathfrak{X}_b := (\mathcal{C}_b | \varsigma_1(b), \cdots, \varsigma_N(b); \eta_1 |_{\mathcal{C}_b}, \cdots, \eta_N |_{\mathcal{C}_b}).$$

More generally, if U is an open or a closed complex submanifold of \mathcal{B} , we let

 \mathfrak{X}_U = the restriction of \mathfrak{X} to $\mathcal{C}_U \to U$

Assumption 1.2.3. Throughout this article, unless otherwise stated, we always assume that $\mathfrak{X} = (1.2.5)$ is the family obtained by sewing the smooth family $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}} = (1.2.1)$ along pairs of points $\varsigma'_{\bullet}, \varsigma''_{\bullet}$ using $\xi_{\bullet}, \varpi_{\bullet}$. Set divisors

$$S_{\mathfrak{X}} = \varsigma_1(\mathcal{B}) + \dots + \varsigma_N(\mathcal{B}),$$

$$S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}} = \varsigma_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}) + \dots + \varsigma_N(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}) + \varsigma_1'(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}) + \varsigma_1''(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}) + \dots + \varsigma_R'(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}) + \varsigma_R''(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}).$$

Note that \mathfrak{X} is **smooth** if and only if R = 0, if and only if $\mathfrak{X} = \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$. If $E \subset \mathcal{B}$, we let \mathfrak{X}_E denote the restriction of \mathfrak{X} to E, i.e.

$$\mathfrak{X}_E = \left(\pi: \mathcal{C}_E o \mathcal{B}_E | \varsigma_1 |_E, \dots, \varsigma_N |_E \right)$$

If local coordinates η_1, \ldots, η_N of \mathfrak{X} at $\varsigma_1(\mathcal{B}), \ldots, \varsigma_N(\mathcal{B})$ are chosen, we set

$$\mathfrak{X}_E = \left(\pi : \mathcal{C}_E \to \mathcal{B}_E \big| \varsigma_1 |_E, \dots, \varsigma_N |_E; \eta_1 |_{\mathcal{C}_E}, \dots, \eta_N |_{\mathcal{C}_E} \right)$$

Let Δ, Σ be the critical locus and discriminant locus of \mathfrak{X} . Then the union of nonsmooth fibers is therefore

$$\mathcal{C}_{\Delta} = \pi^{-1}(\Delta)$$

Recall that if \mathscr{E} is a locally free $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -module (i.e., a holomorphic vector bundle on \mathcal{C}), then $\mathscr{E}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})$ denotes the sheaf of meromorphic sections of \mathscr{E} with only possible poles at $S_{\mathfrak{X}}$. If $k \in \mathbb{N}$, then $\mathscr{E}(kS_{\mathfrak{X}})$ denotes the sheaf of sections of $\mathscr{E}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})$ whose orders of poles at $S_{\mathfrak{X}}$ are at most k.

1.2.2 The relative tangent and dualizing sheaf

Recall that $\Theta_{\mathcal{B}}$ and $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}$ are the sheaves of holomorphic tangent fields of \mathcal{B} resp. \mathcal{C} . In this subsection, we recall the construction of $\Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta)$ and $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log C_{\Delta})$. These are the sheaves of sections of $\Theta_{\mathcal{B}}$ resp. $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}$ tangent to Δ resp. \mathcal{C}_{Δ} . Then the differential $d\pi : \Theta_{\mathcal{C}} \to \pi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}$ restricts to an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -module epimorphism

$$d\pi: \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta}) \to \pi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta).$$
(1.2.19)

Moreover, we will use (1.2.19) to construct a short exact sequence, which is crucial to the definition of connections.

Assume $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is a Stein manifold and is small enough to admit a coordinate $\tau_{\bullet} = (\tau_1, \cdots, \tau_m) : \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathbb{C}^m$. Let q_i be the standard coordinate of $\mathcal{D}_{r_i\rho_i}$ for $1 \leq i \leq R$. Then $(q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})$ becomes a coordinate of \mathcal{B} .

Definition 1.2.4. $\Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta)$ is defined as the $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -submodule of $\Theta_{\mathcal{B}}$ generated freely by

$$q_1\partial_{q_1},\cdots,q_R\partial_{q_R},\partial_{\tau_1},\cdots,\partial_{\tau_m}.$$
(1.2.20)

For simplicity, the pullback of (1.2.20) under π in $\pi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}$ will also be denoted as $q_1 \partial_{q_1}, \cdots, q_R \partial_{q_R}, \partial_{\tau_1}, \cdots, \partial_{\tau_m}$.

We now describe $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta})$ and the morphism (1.2.19) locally. Choose $x \in \mathcal{C}$.

Case 1. When $x \notin \Sigma$, x can be regarded as a point (\tilde{x}, p) of $\tilde{\mathcal{C}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r \bullet \rho \bullet}$ disjoint from F'_i, F''_i for all $1 \leq i \leq R$. Choose a neighborhood $\tilde{U} \subset \tilde{\mathcal{C}}$ of \tilde{x} together with $\eta \in \mathcal{O}(\tilde{U})$ univalent on each fiber of \tilde{U} . Choose a neighborhood V of $p \in \mathcal{D}_{r \bullet \rho \bullet}$ such that $U := \tilde{U} \times V$ is disjoint from F'_i, F''_i for all $1 \leq i \leq R$. Write $\tau \bullet \circ \tilde{\pi}$ as $\tau \bullet$ for short. Extend η constantly to U so that $\eta \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ is univalent on each fiber. Then $(\eta, \tau \bullet, q \bullet)$ becomes a set of coordinates of U. $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta})|_U$ is then the \mathcal{O}_U -submodule of $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}|_U$ generated (automatically freely) by

$$\partial_{\eta}, \partial_{\tau_1}, \cdots, \partial_{\tau_m}, q_1 \partial_{q_1}, \cdots, q_R \partial_{q_R}.$$
(1.2.21)

The restriction of (1.2.19) to U (which is also a restriction of $d\pi : \Theta_{\mathcal{C}} \to \pi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}$) sends ∂_{η} to 0 and keeps the other elements of (1.2.21).

Case 2. When $x \in \Sigma$, by (1.2.16), we can find $1 \le i \le R$, such that W_i is a neighborhood of x. By (1.2.7a), $(\xi_i, \varpi_i, q_1, \cdots, \hat{q_i}, \cdots, q_R, \tau_{\bullet})$ is a set of coordinates of W_i . $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta})|_{W_i}$ is then the \mathcal{O}_{W_i} -submodule of $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}|_{W_i}$ generated (automatically freely) by

$$\xi_i \partial_{\xi_i}, \varpi_i \partial_{\varpi_i}, q_1 \partial_{q_1}, \cdots, \widehat{q_i \partial_{q_i}}, \cdots, q_R \partial_{q_R}, \partial_{\tau_1}, \cdots, \partial_{\tau_m}.$$
(1.2.22)

As one can check, the restriction of (1.2.19) (which is also a restriction of $d\pi : \Theta_{\mathcal{C}} \to \pi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}$) to W_i satisfies

$$d\pi(\xi_i\partial_{\xi_i}) = d\pi(\varpi_i\partial_{\varpi_i}) = q_i\partial_{q_i}$$
(1.2.23)

and keeps the other elements of (1.2.22).

Remark 1.2.5. To see (1.2.23), note that π pulls the cotangent vector dq_i back to $d(\xi_i \varpi_i) = \xi_i d\varpi_i + \varpi_i d\xi_i$. So the dual element $q_i^{-1} dq_i$ of $q_i \partial_{q_i}$ is pulled back to $\varpi_i^{-1} d\varpi_i + \xi_i^{-1} d\xi_i$. The latter is the summation of the dual elements of $\varpi_i \partial_{\varpi_i}, \xi_i \partial_{\xi_i}$.

Combining Case 1 and Case 2 together, we complete the description of $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log C_{\Delta})$ and the morphism (1.2.19).

Definition 1.2.6. The kernel of (1.2.19) is called the **relative tangent sheaf** and is denoted by $\Theta_{C/B}$. It is a line bundle, since in Case 1 resp. Case 2 above, $\Theta_{C/B}|_U$ resp. $\Theta_{C/B}|_{W_i}$ is generated freely by the section

$$\partial_{\eta} \quad \text{resp.} \quad \xi_i \partial_{\xi_i} - \varpi_i \partial_{\varpi_i}$$

The dual $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -module of $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}$ is called the **relative dualizing sheaf** and is denoted by $\omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}$. When $b \in \mathcal{B} - \Delta$, we have canonical isomorphisms

$$\Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{\mathcal{C}_b} \simeq \Theta_{\mathcal{C}_b} \qquad \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{\mathcal{C}_b} \simeq \omega_{\mathcal{C}_b}$$

where Θ_{C_b} (resp. ω_{C_b}) is the holomorphic tangent (resp. cotangent) line bundle of the Riemann surface C_b .

Remark 1.2.7. Similar to $\Theta_{C/B}$, we have a local description of the line bundle $\omega_{C/B}$. If $U \subset C - \Sigma$ is open and $\eta \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ is univalent on each fiber, then

 $\omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_U$ is freely generated by $d\eta$

where $d\eta$ is the dual element of the tangent field ∂_{η} (orthogonal to $d\pi$). If $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{U})$ is also univalent on each fiber, the transition function is

$$d\eta = (\partial_{\mu}\eta) \cdot d\mu \tag{1.2.24}$$

This describes $\omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{\mathcal{C}-\Sigma}$. One the other hand, $\omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{W_i}$ is generated freely by the element of $H^0(W_i - \Sigma, \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{\mathcal{C}-\Sigma})$ whose restrictions to W'_i and W''_i are

$$\xi_i^{-1} d\xi_i \qquad \text{resp.} \qquad -\varpi_i^{-1} d\varpi_i \qquad (1.2.25)$$

This section is well-defined since the two of (1.2.25) agree on $W'_i \cap W''_i$ due to (1.2.24).

Remark 1.2.8. By Def. 1.2.6 and the surjectivity of (1.2.19), we have a short exact sequence of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -module

$$0 \to \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}} \to \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta}) \xrightarrow{d\pi} \pi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta) \to 0.$$
 (1.2.26)

When \mathfrak{X} is a smooth family, (1.2.26) becomes

$$0 \to \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}} \to \Theta_{\mathcal{C}} \xrightarrow{d\pi} \pi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{B}} \to 0.$$
 (1.2.27)

1.3 Sheaves of conformal blocks and coinvariants for the sewn family

Recall [GZ23, Sec. 1.2] for the definitions of admissible $\mathbb{V}^{\times N}$ -modules and finitelyadmissible $\mathbb{V}^{\times N}$ -modules. Roughly speaking, an admissible $\mathbb{V}^{\times N}$ -module \mathbb{W} is one having mutually commuting actions of N pieces of \mathbb{V} , together with simultaneously diagonalizable operators $\widetilde{L}_1(0), \ldots, \widetilde{L}_N(0)$ compatible with the actions of the N pieces of \mathbb{V} . Moreover, $\widetilde{L}_{\bullet}(0)$ gives an \mathbb{N}^N -grading $\mathbb{W} = \bigoplus_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^N} \mathbb{W}(n_{\bullet})$. If each $\mathbb{W}(n_{\bullet})$ is finite dimensional, then \mathbb{W} is called finitely-admissible.

Remark 1.3.1. It is important to keep in mind that if \mathbb{V} is C_2 -cofinite, then a finitelyadmissible $\mathbb{V}^{\times N}$ -module is equivalently a grading-restricted (generalized) $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module, cf. [GZ23, Thm. A.2.6]. We will talk about grading-restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -modules instead of finitely-admissible $\mathbb{V}^{\times N}$ when the choice of $\widetilde{L}_{\bullet}(0)$ is irrelevant. See e.g. Rem. 1.3.5.

Fix an admissible $\mathbb{V}^{\times N}$ -module \mathbb{W} . Associate \mathbb{W} to ς_{\bullet} . In [GZ23, Sec. 2.2], we have defined sheaves of partial conformal blocks for families of (M, N)-pointed compact Riemann surfaces. Specializing to M = 0, we obtain sheaves of conformal blocks as in [GZ23, Sec. 1.7]. This notion can be generalized in a straightforward way to the family \mathfrak{X} obtained by sewing $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$. The key ingredient is the generalization of sheaves of VOAs for smooth families, as considered in [GZ23, Sec. 1.7], to the family \mathfrak{X} . Such sheaves of VOAs have already been constructed in [DGT22] (in the algebraic setting) and [Gui23a, Sec. 5]. Let us briefly recall its definition following [Gui23a] and [GZ23].

1.3.1 Sheaves of VOAs

Recall that \mathbb{G} is the automorphism group of the set of local coordinates of \mathbb{C} at 0. Namely, the elements of \mathbb{G} are $f(z) = \sum_{n>0} a_n z^n$ where $a_n \in \mathbb{C}$, $a_1 \neq 0$, and f(z) converges absolutely for sufficiently small z. The group multiplication is defined by the composition of functions. If X is a complex manifold, a map $\rho : X \to \mathbb{G}$ is called a **holomorphic family of transformations** if ρ can be viewed as a holomorphic function on a neighborhood of $X \times \{0\}$ in $X \times \mathbb{C}$. Define

$$\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} = \varinjlim_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n}$$

where each $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}-\Sigma}^{\leqslant n}$ is an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -module defined as follows. Since $\pi : \mathcal{C} - \Sigma \to \mathcal{B}$ is a submersion, the sheaf $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}-\Sigma}^{\leqslant n}$ is defined as in [Gui23a, Sec. 5] and [GZ23, Sec. 1.6]. More precisely, if

 $U \subset C - \Sigma$ is open and $\eta \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ is univalent on each fiber $U_b = \pi^{-1}(b) \cap U$ (where $b \in \mathcal{B}$), we have a trivialization (cf. [Gui23a, Eq. (2.5)] or [GZ23, Sec. 1.6]):

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta): \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n}|_{U} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V}^{\leqslant n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U}$$

$$(1.3.1)$$

If $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ is also univalent on each fiber, the transition function is

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\mu)^{-1} = \mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta|\mu)) : \mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U}$$
(1.3.2)

Here, $\rho(\eta|\mu): U \to \mathbb{G}$ is a holomorphic family such that for each $p \in U$,

 $\rho(\eta|\mu)_p$ transforms the local coordinate $(\mu - \mu(p))|_{\mathcal{C}_{\pi(p)}}$ to $(\eta - \eta(p))|_{\mathcal{C}_{\pi(p)}}$ (1.3.3)

In other words,

$$\varrho(\eta|\mu)_p(z) = \eta \circ (\mu, \pi)^{-1} (z + \mu(p), \pi(p)) - \eta(p)$$
(1.3.4)

And $\mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta|\mu))$ associates to each p the change of coordinate operator $\mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta|\mu)_p) \in \operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{V})$ (restricting to $\operatorname{Aut}(\mathbb{V}^{\leq n})$); more precisely, if we set $\alpha = \varrho(\eta|\mu)_p$, and let $c_1, c_2, \dots \in \mathbb{C}$ be the (necessarily unique) scalars such that $\alpha(z) = \alpha'(0) \cdot \exp\left(\sum_{n>0} c_n z^{n+1} \partial_z\right) z$, then on \mathbb{V} resp. $\mathbb{V}^{\leq n}$ we have

$$\mathcal{U}(\alpha) = \alpha'(0)^{L(0)} \cdot \exp\left(\sum_{n>0} c_n L(n)\right)$$
(1.3.5)

The operator $\mathcal{U}(\alpha)$ is due to Huang [Hua97]; \mathcal{U} is a group homomorphism.

Remark 1.3.2. With abuse of notations, we also denote the tensor product of (1.3.1) and the identity map of $\omega_{C/B}$ by

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta): \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{U} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V}^{\leqslant n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d\eta$$
(1.3.6)

Namely, it sends $v \otimes d\eta$ to $\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta) v \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d\eta$.

To define $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n}$ near Σ , it suffices to describe its restriction to each W_i . Recall $W_i - \Sigma = W'_i \cup W''_i$ by (1.2.16). Recall from [GZ23, Sec. 1.3] the change of coordinates

$$\gamma_z(t) = \frac{1}{z+t} - \frac{1}{z}$$
 $\mathcal{U}(\gamma_z) = e^{zL(1)}(-z^{-2})^{L(0)}$ (1.3.7)

Definition 1.3.3. $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n}|_{W_i}$ is the (automatically free) \mathcal{O}_W -submodule of $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}-\Sigma}^{\leq n}|_{W_i-\Sigma}$ generated by the sections whose restrictions to W'_i and W''_i are

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\xi_i)^{-1}(\xi_i^{L(0)}v) \qquad \text{resp.} \qquad \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\varpi_i)^{-1}(\varpi_i^{L(0)}\mathcal{U}(\gamma_1)v) \tag{1.3.8}$$

where ξ_i, ϖ_i are defined by (1.2.8) and $v \in \mathbb{V}^{\leq n}$. This is well-defined (i.e. the two expressions in (1.3.8) agrees on $W'_i \cap W''_i$). See [Gui23a] Sec. 5, especially Lemma 5.2.

1.3.2 Sheaves of conformal blocks and coinvariants

Similar to [GZ23, Def. 2.2.4], we have a locally free $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ defined by the trivialization

$$\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}): \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{V} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{V}$$

associated η_{\bullet} if η_{\bullet} are local coordinates of \mathfrak{X}_{V} at $\varsigma_{\bullet}(V)$ where $V \subset \mathcal{B}$ is open. Readers unfamiliar with this trivialization can assume throughout the paper that \mathfrak{X} admits local coordinates η_{\bullet} at $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$, allowing $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ to be identified with $\mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$. In fact, in this paper, except for a very few places (such as Sec. 3.3), we assume that \mathfrak{X} has local coordinates.

Similar to [GZ23, Def. 2.2.8], we also have the residue action of $\pi_*(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ which is independent of the choice of local coordinates. Let us recall its definition in the case that the local coordinates η_{\bullet} have been chose.

Choose any connected open $V \subset \mathcal{B}$. Let $U_i \subset \mathcal{C}_V$ be a neighborhood of $\varsigma_i(V)$ on which η_i is defined. For each $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and each $\sigma \in H^0(U_i, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ and $w \in \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(V)$ (where $V \subset \mathcal{B}$ is open), we define the *i*-th residue action

$$\sigma *_i w = \operatorname{Res}_{\eta_i=0} Y_i(\mathcal{U}_{\rho}(\eta_i)\sigma, \eta_i)w$$
(1.3.9)

which is in $\mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(V)$. More precisely, note that the element $\mathcal{U}(\eta_i)\sigma \in H^0(U_i, \mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ is a finite sum $\sum_l v_l \otimes f_l d\eta_i$ where $v_l \in \mathbb{V}^{\leq n}$ and $f_l \in H^0(U_i, \mathcal{O}_{U_i}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$. Then for each $b \in V$, noting that $f_l|_{U_i \cap \pi^{-1}(b)}$ can be viewed as an element of $\mathbb{C}((\eta_i))$, we have

$$\sigma *_i w\big|_b = \sum_l \operatorname{Res}_{\eta_i=0} Y_i(v_l, \eta_i) w(b) \cdot f_l\big|_{U_i \cap \pi^{-1}(b)} \cdot d\eta_i$$

where the RHS is the residue of an element of $\mathbb{W}((\eta_i))d\eta_i$.

Now, we define the **residue action** of each $\sigma \in H^0(V, \pi_*(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))) = H^0(\mathcal{C}_V, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ on each $H^0(V, \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})) \simeq \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(V)$ to be

$$\sigma \cdot w = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sigma *_{i} w \tag{1.3.10}$$

Definition 1.3.4. Define the **sheaf of coinvariants** associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W} :

$$\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) = \frac{\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})}{\pi_{\ast}\big(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})\big) \cdot \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})}.$$

The denominator on the RHS is the sheaf associated to the presheaf $\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}}$ on \mathcal{B} defined by

$$\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}}(V) = H^0(\mathcal{C}_V, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}} (\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})) \cdot H^0(V, \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$$
(1.3.11)

for all open $V \subset \mathcal{B}$, where $\text{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}$ has been suppressed on the RHS. The dual sheaf of $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is denoted by

$$\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{*}(\mathbb{W}) = (\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))^{*}$$

and called the **sheaf of conformal blocks** associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W} . An element of $H^0(\mathcal{B}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ is called a **conformal block** associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W} .

Remark 1.3.5. Both $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ and $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ depend on the choice of $\widetilde{L}_{\bullet}(0)$ on \mathbb{W} . However, if \mathfrak{X} admits local coordinates η_{\bullet} at $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$ and if the identification $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) = \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ via $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})$ is assumed, then $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ does not rely on the choice of $\widetilde{L}_{\bullet}(0)$. In that case, when \mathbb{V} is C_2 -cofinite and \mathbb{W} is a grading-restricted generalized $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module, there is no ambiguity in talking about $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$.

Theorem 1.3.6. Assume that \mathfrak{X} admits local coordinates η_{\bullet} at $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$. Let $V \subset \mathcal{B}$ be open, and let $\phi : \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}_V}(\mathbb{W}) \to \mathcal{O}_V$ be an \mathcal{O}_V -module morphism. Assume that \mathcal{B} is Stein. Then ϕ belongs to $H^0(V, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_V}(\mathbb{W}))$ if and only if ϕ vanishes on the elements of $\mathscr{J}^{\mathrm{pre}}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathcal{B})$ (restricted to V).

Proof. The direction " \Rightarrow " is obvious. Let us prove " \Leftarrow ". Note that ϕ is a conformal block iff for each $b \in V$, ϕ vanishes on the stalk

$$(\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}})_{b} = \pi_{\ast} \big(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \big)_{b} \cdot \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})_{b} = \bigcup_{k,l \in \mathbb{N}} \pi_{\ast} \big(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant k} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(lS_{\mathfrak{X}}) \big)_{b} \cdot \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})_{b}$$

where $\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}$ has been suppressed as usual. Since \mathfrak{X} admits local coordinates, we have $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) \simeq \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$. Therefore $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})_b$ is generated by elements of $H^0(\mathcal{B}, \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$. Since $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq k} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(lS_{\mathfrak{X}})$ is a locally free $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -module (of finite rank), by Grauert's direct image theorem, $\pi_*(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq k} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(lS_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ is a coherent $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module. Thus, by Cartan's theorem A, elements of $H^0(\mathcal{B}, \pi_*(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq k} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(lS_{\mathfrak{X}})))$ generate $(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq k} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(lS_{\mathfrak{X}}))_b$. Therefore, if φ vanishes on $\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\operatorname{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$, it must vanish on $(\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\operatorname{pre}})_b$. This proves " \Leftarrow ".

Remark 1.3.7. When \mathbb{W} is a tensor product of grading-restricted \mathbb{V} -modules, Thm. 1.3.6 is simply [Gui23a, Thm. 6.3]. Note that in Thm. 1.3.6 we assumed the existence of η_{\bullet} . This condition is missing from [Gui23a, Thm. 6.3] and should be added. Therefore, we have presented the proof of Thm. 1.3.6 above to illustrate how to use the existence of η_{\bullet} .

The following theorem generalizes [Gui23a, Thm. 7.4]. Note that it was always assumed in [Gui23a] that the base manifold has finitely many components. In particular, [Gui23a, Thm. 7.4] assumes this condition.

Theorem 1.3.8. Assume that \mathfrak{X} is equipped with local coordinates η_{\bullet} at $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$. ⁶ Assume that $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ (and hence \mathcal{B}) has finitely many connected components. Assume that \mathbb{V} is C_2 -cofinite. Associate a grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module \mathbb{W} to $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$. Then for each Stein open subset $V \subset \mathcal{B}$,

$$\frac{\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})(V)}{\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}}(V)} \tag{1.3.12}$$

is a finitely generated $\mathcal{O}(V)$ -module.

Proof. This was proved in [Gui23a, Thm. 7.4] in the special case that R = 1, that V = B is Stein, and that \mathbb{M} is a tensor product of grading-restricted \mathbb{V} -modules. However, it is not hard to generalize the proof of [Gui23a, Thm. 7.4] to the present case. Instead of reproducing the proof, we highlight some key points of the proof and the adaptions that should be made.

⁶Here, we do not assume that η_{\bullet} is obtained by constantly extending local coordinates of \mathfrak{X} as in Rem. 1.2.1.

Similar to (7.2) of [Gui23a], we must show that for each $E \in \mathbb{N}$ there exists $k_0 \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for each $k \ge k_0$ and each $b \in V$, we have

$$H^{1}(\mathcal{C}_{b}, \mathscr{V}_{\mathcal{C}_{b}}^{\leqslant E} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}_{b}}(kS_{\mathfrak{X}})) = 0$$
(1.3.13)

This follows from [Gui23a, Thm. 2.3], which shows that a *b*-dependent k_0 can be chosen to rely only on the topology of the fiber \mathfrak{X}_b , namely, the topology of \mathcal{C}_b and the number of elements of $\varsigma_1(b), \ldots, \varsigma_N(b)$ in each irreducible component of \mathcal{C}_b . Although [Gui23a, Thm. 2.3] only deals with the case that the nodal curve \mathcal{C}_b has at most one node (i.e. R = 1), the proof clearly also applies to nodal curves with arbitrary numbers of nodes (i.e. arbitrary R). Moreover, [Gui23a, Thm. 2.3] assumes that each irreducible component of \mathcal{C}_b contains at least one of $\varsigma_1(b), \ldots, \varsigma_N(b)$. This is ensured by our assumption (1.2.2). Now, the assumption that $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ has finitely many components ensures that the fibers of \mathfrak{X} have only finitely many different topologies. Thus, a uniform k_0 for all $b \in V$ can be found.

The generalization of [Gui23a, Thm. 7.4] to arbitrary R and Stein open $V \subset \mathcal{B}$ has been addressed. The generalization of the proof of [Gui23a, Thm. 7.4] to the case that W is not necessarily a tensor product $\mathbb{M}_1 \otimes \cdots \otimes \mathbb{M}_N$ is straightforward, except that the third paragraph of that proof (using a finiteness property of \mathbb{M}_i due to [Gui23a, Cor. 7.3]) should be modified. The correct way to modify can be found in the proof of [GZ23, Thm. 3.4.2], a variant of Thm. 1.3.8 which deals with partial conformal blocks but concerns a fiber \mathfrak{X}_b instead of a family \mathfrak{X} .

Corollary 1.3.9. Assume that \mathbb{V} is C_2 -cofinite. Associate a grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module \mathbb{W} to $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$. Then $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is a finite type $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module. In particular, for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$ we have $\dim \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_b < +\infty$, and the function $b \in \mathcal{B} \mapsto \dim \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_b$ is lower semicontinuous.

Proof. Since the finite type condition can be checked locally, we may assume that \mathfrak{X} admits local coordinates η_{\bullet} at $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$, and $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is connected and Stein. By Thm. 1.3.8, we can find $s_1, \ldots, s_n \in \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})(\mathcal{B})$ generating the $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ -module $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})(\mathcal{B})/\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$. Since $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) \simeq \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$, the elements of $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})(\mathcal{B})$ generate the $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$, i.e., for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, every element of the stalk $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})_b$ is an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B},b}$ -linear combination of elements of $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})(\mathcal{B})$. Thus s_1, \ldots, s_n generate the $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$. This proves that $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is of finite type. The rest of the corollary follows from the following Prop. 1.3.10.

Proposition 1.3.10. Let X be a complex manifold. Let \mathscr{E} be a finite-type \mathcal{O}_X -module. Then for each $x \in X$ we have dim $\mathscr{E}|_x < +\infty$, and the **rank function**

$$\mathbf{R}: X \to \mathbb{N} \qquad x \mapsto \dim \mathscr{E}|_x$$

is upper semicontinuous. Moreover, if \mathbf{R} is also lower semicontinuous (and hence locally constant), then \mathscr{E} is locally free, i.e., it is a holomorphic vector bundle.

We warn the readers that in algebraic geometry, there is a similar proposition which does not distinguish between coherent sheaves and finite type sheaves. This is because the sheaves involved are automatically quasi-coherent and are over locally Noetherian schemes, in which case coherence is equivalent to finite type. In our analytic setting, however, one must distinguish between coherence and finite type. Due to this subtlety, we provide a self-contained proof of Prop. 1.3.10 for the reader's convenience, even though this proposition is elementary and well-known.

Proof. Choose any $x \in X$. Then x has a neighborhood U such that there exist $s_1, \ldots, s_n \in \mathscr{E}(U)$ generating $\mathscr{E}|_U$ (i.e. generating \mathscr{E}_y for each $y \in U$). In particular, s_{\bullet} generate \mathscr{E}_x , and hence spans the fiber $\mathscr{E}|_x$. Therefore, by removing some members of s_{\bullet} we may assume that $s_1|_x, \ldots, s_n|_x$ form a basis of $\mathscr{E}|_x$. So $n = \dim \mathscr{E}|_x$. Nakayama's lemma implies that $s_{\bullet}|_x$ generate $\mathscr{E}|_x$.

Since \mathscr{E} is of finite type, by shrinking U to a smaller neighborhood of x we can find $t_1, \ldots, t_m \in \mathscr{E}(U)$ generating $\mathscr{E}|_U$. Since each $t_j|_x$ is an $\mathcal{O}_{X,x}$ -linear combination of $s_{\bullet}|_x$, by further shrinking U, each t_j is an $\mathcal{O}(U)$ -linear combination of s_{\bullet} . Thus s_{\bullet} generate $\mathscr{E}|_U$. In particular, for each $y \in U$, $s_1|_y, \ldots, s_n|_y$ span the fiber $\mathscr{E}|_y$. Thus dim $\mathscr{E}|_y \leq n$. This proves that **R** is upper semicontinuous.

The above paragraph shows that we have an \mathcal{O}_U -module epimorphism $\varphi : \mathcal{O}_U^n \to \mathscr{E}|_U$ defined by $(f_1, \ldots, f_n) \mapsto f_1 s_1 + \cdots + f_n s_n$. Now, suppose that **R** is constantly n on U. Then for each $y \in U$, since $s_{\bullet}|_y$ span $\mathscr{E}|_y$, they form a basis of $\mathscr{E}|_y$. Therefore, if $V \subset U$ is open and $f_1, \ldots, f_n \in \mathcal{O}(V)$ satisfy $f_1 s_1 + \cdots + f_n s_n = 0$ in $\mathscr{E}(V)$, then $f_1(y)s_1|_y + \cdots + f_n(y)s_n|_y = 0$ in $\mathscr{E}|_y$. Therefore $f_1(y) = \cdots = f_n(y) = 0$ for all $y \in V$. This proves that s_{\bullet} is a free generator of $\mathscr{E}|_U$. Thus $\mathscr{E}|_U$ is free. We have thus proved that if **R** is locally constant then \mathscr{E} is locally free. \Box

Remark 1.3.11. Assume that R = 0 and hence $\mathfrak{X} = \mathfrak{X}$ is smooth. Recall that for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W})$ is the space of coinvariants associated to the fiber \mathfrak{X}_b . By [GZ23, Prop. 2.2.12] (see also [Gui23a, Rem. 6.5]), the restriction map $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})_b \mapsto \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W})$ descends to a linear isomorphism

$$\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{b} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_{b}}(\mathbb{W})$$

Thus, if \mathbb{V} is C_2 -cofinite and \mathbb{W} is a grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module, then by Cor. 1.3.9, the following three numbers are finite and equal:

$$\dim \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{b} = \dim \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_{b}}(\mathbb{W}) = \dim \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_{b}}^{*}(\mathbb{W}) < +\infty$$

The second half of Prop. 1.3.10 immediately implies:

Lemma 1.3.12. Assume that R = 0 and hence $\mathfrak{X} = \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ is smooth. Assume that \mathbb{V} is C_2 -cofinite. Associate a grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module \mathbb{W} to $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$. Assume that the rank function

$$\mathbf{R}: \mathcal{B} \to \mathbb{N} \qquad b \mapsto \dim \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{b} = \dim \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_{b}}(\mathbb{W}) = \dim \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_{b}}(\mathbb{W})$$

is lower semicontinuous. Then $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ *is locally free. Hence* $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W})$ *is also locally free.*

2 Connections

2.1 Lie derivatives in sheaves of VOAs

In this section, we assume that R = 0, and hence $\mathfrak{X} = \mathfrak{X}$ is smooth (cf. Asmp. 1.2.3). Choose a section \mathfrak{x} of $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})$ on U, where U is an open subset of \mathcal{C} . **Definition 2.1.1.** We say that \mathfrak{x} is **fiber-preserving** if for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, there exists a (necessarily unique) $\mathfrak{y}(b) \in \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}|_b$ such that $d\pi(\mathfrak{x}(p)) = \mathfrak{y}(b)$ for every p in the fiber $U_b \equiv \pi^{-1}(b) \cap U$. Equivalently, in view of the map

$$d\pi: H^0(U,\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}) \to H^0(U,\pi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{B}})$$

induced by the $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}$ -module morphism $d\pi : \Theta_{\mathcal{C}} \to \pi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}$, there exists a (necessarily unique) $\mathfrak{y} \in H^0(\pi(U), \Theta_{\mathcal{B}})$ such that $d\pi(\mathfrak{x}) = \pi^* \mathfrak{y}$.

The goal of this subsection is to define, for each fiber-preserving \mathfrak{x} , the **Lie derivative operator** $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{x}}$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{x}}: \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n}(U) \to \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n}(U)$$
(2.1.1)

Lie derivatives play an important role in defining the connection on the sheaf of coinvariants and conformal blocks.

Definition 2.1.2. Let $\varphi : U_1 \to U_2$ be a biholomorphic map, where U_1, U_2 are open subsets of \mathcal{C} and $\varphi(U_1) = U_2$. We say φ is **fiber-preserving** if φ maps each fiber of U_1 onto a fiber of U_2 ; equivalently, $\varphi((U_1)_{\pi(x)}) = (U_2)_{\pi \circ \varphi(x)}$ for each $x \in U_1$.

Let $\varphi : U_1 \to U_2$ be a fiber-preserving biholomorphic map. With abuse of notations, we let φ_* denote the two pushforward maps

$$\varphi_* : \mathcal{O}_{U_1} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathcal{O}_{U_2}, \qquad f \mapsto f \circ \varphi^{-1},$$
 (2.1.2a)

$$\varphi_*: \mathbb{V}^{\leqslant n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U_1} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathbb{V}^{\leqslant n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U_2}, \qquad v \mapsto v \circ \varphi^{-1}.$$
(2.1.2b)

Definition 2.1.3. The **pushforward** $\mathcal{V}_{\rho}(\varphi)$ of φ is a sheaf equivalence determined by

$$\begin{aligned}
\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi) : \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n}|_{U_{1}} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n}|_{U_{2}}, \\
\mathcal{U}_{\rho}(\eta)\mathcal{V}_{\rho}(\varphi) = \varphi_{\ast} \cdot \mathcal{U}_{\rho}(\eta \circ \varphi).
\end{aligned}$$
(2.1.3)

In other words, the following diagram commutes:

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n}|_{U_{1}} & \xrightarrow{\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi)} & \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n}|_{U_{2}} \\
\mathscr{U}_{\varrho}(\eta \circ \varphi) & & & \downarrow \mathscr{U}_{\varrho}(\eta) \\
\mathbb{V}^{\leqslant n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{1}} & \xrightarrow{\varphi_{*}} & \mathbb{V}^{\leqslant n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{2}}
\end{array}$$
(2.1.4)

Remark 2.1.4. The pushforward $\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi)$ is independent of the choice of η . To see this, choose another $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(U_2)$ univalent on each fiber. From the description of $\mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta|\mu))$ after (1.3.1), it is easy to see that, as automorphisms on $\mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U_1}$, we have

$$\mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta \circ \varphi | \mu \circ \varphi)) = \varphi_*^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta | \mu)) \cdot \varphi_*$$

(Quick proof: if we identify U_1 with U_2 via φ so that φ is the identity map, then both sides equal $\mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta|\mu))$.) Equivalently,

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta \circ \varphi)\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\mu \circ \varphi)^{-1} = \varphi_*^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\mu)^{-1} \cdot \varphi_*.$$
(2.1.5)

Then the independence of η follows from (2.1.3) and (2.1.5).

Remark 2.1.5. \mathcal{V}_{ϱ} is a groupoid homomorphism. More precisely: It is clear that $\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\mathrm{id}) = 1$. Suppose that $\psi : U_0 \to U_1$ is another fiber-preserving biholomorphic map. From the commutative diagrams

$$\begin{array}{ccc} \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n}|_{U_{0}} & \xrightarrow{\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\psi)} & \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n}|_{U_{1}} & \xrightarrow{\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi)} & \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n}|_{U_{2}} \\ \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta \circ \varphi \circ \psi) & & & \downarrow \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta \circ \varphi) \\ & & & & \downarrow \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta \circ \varphi) \\ & & & & \downarrow \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta) \\ & & & & \mathbb{C} & \mathcal{O}_{U_{0}} & \xrightarrow{\psi_{*}} & \mathbb{V}^{\leqslant n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{1}} & \xrightarrow{\varphi_{*}} & \mathbb{V}^{\leqslant n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{2}} \end{array}$$

we have $\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi \circ \psi) = \mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi) \circ \mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\psi)$. Therefore, we also have $\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi^{-1}) = \mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi)^{-1}$.

Choose a section \mathfrak{x} of $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}$ on U, where U is an open subset of \mathcal{C} . We let $\varphi^{\mathfrak{x}}$ be the flow generated by the vector field \mathfrak{x} . More precisely, if we choose any open precompact $V \subset U$, we can define the $\varphi^{\mathfrak{x}} \in \mathcal{O}_{T \times V}(T \times V), (\zeta, p) \mapsto \varphi^{\mathfrak{x}}_{\zeta}(p)$ satisfying

$$\varphi_0^{\mathfrak{x}}(p) = p, \tag{2.1.6a}$$

$$\partial_{\zeta} \varphi^{\mathfrak{x}}_{\zeta}(p)|_{\zeta=0} \cdot \partial_{\zeta} = \mathfrak{x}(p), \qquad (2.1.6b)$$

where *T* is an open subset of \mathbb{C} containing 0. Note that (2.1.6a) implies that the pushforward $\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi_0^{\mathfrak{r}})$ is the identity map on $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n}|_V$. By the chain rule, (2.1.6b) is equivalent to that for any $f \in \mathcal{O}_V$,

$$\partial_{\zeta}(f \circ \varphi^{\mathfrak{r}}_{\zeta})|_{\zeta=0} = \mathfrak{r}f.$$
(2.1.7)

It is clear that if \mathfrak{x} is fiber-perserving, then so is its flow $\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{x}}$. Therefore, for each ζ , the operator $\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{x}})$ can be defined.

Definition 2.1.6. Let $\mathfrak{x} \in H^0(U, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}})$ be fiber preserving. For any $v \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n}(U)$, we define $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{X}}v \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n}(U)$ as follows. For any precompact open subset V of U,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{f}}v|_{V} := \lim_{\zeta \to 0} \frac{\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}})^{-1}(v|_{\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}(V)}) - v|_{V}}{\zeta}$$
(2.1.8)

We would like to give an explicit formula of $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{x}}v$, which will imply the convergence of the limit (2.1.8). For that purpose, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 2.1.7. Let T be an open subset of \mathbb{C} containing 0. Let $\rho : T \to \mathbb{G}, \zeta \mapsto \rho_{\zeta}$ be a holomorphic family of transformations satisfying $\rho_0(z) = z$. Then for any $v \in \mathbb{V}^{\leq n}$,

$$\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{U}(\rho_{\zeta}) v \big|_{\zeta=0} = -\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{U}(\rho_{\zeta}^{-1}) v \big|_{\zeta=0} = \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{1}{k!} \big(\partial_{\zeta} \rho_{\zeta}^{(k)}(0) \big|_{\zeta=0} \big) L(k-1) v$$
(2.1.9)

where $\partial_{\zeta} \rho_{\zeta}^{(k)}(z) = \partial_{z}^{k} \partial_{\zeta} \rho_{\zeta}(z) = \partial_{\zeta} \partial_{z}^{k} \rho_{\zeta}(z).$

Proof. The first equality of (2.1.9) follows from $\mathcal{U}(\rho_{\zeta}) \cdot \mathcal{U}(\rho_{\zeta})^{-1} = \text{id}$ and $\mathcal{U}(\rho_{0}) = \text{id}$. Therefore, it suffices to show that the first term equals the third term of (2.1.9). Let $c_{1}, c_{2}, \dots \in \mathscr{O}_{\mathbb{C}}(T)$ such that

$$\rho_{\zeta}(z) = \rho_{\zeta}'(0) \exp\left(\sum_{k \ge 1} c_k(\zeta) z^{k+1} \partial_z\right)(z).$$

Since $\rho_0(z) = z$, and since $c_1(0), c_2(0), \ldots$ are uniquely determined by ρ_0 , we have $\rho'_0(0) = 1$ and $c_1(0) = c_2(0) = \cdots = 0$. Clearly $\rho_{\zeta}(z)$ equals

$$\rho_{\zeta}'(0)\left(z+\sum_{k\geq 1}c_k(\zeta)z^{k+1}\right)$$

plus some polynomials of *z* multiplied by at least two terms among $c_1(\zeta), c_2(\zeta), \ldots$ This observation, together with $\rho'_0(0) = 1, c_i(0) = 0$, implies

$$\partial_{\zeta}\rho_{\zeta}(z)\Big|_{\zeta=0} = \partial_{\zeta}\rho_{\zeta}'(0)z\Big|_{\zeta=0} + \left(\sum_{k\geq 1}\partial_{\zeta}c_k(0)z^{k+1}\right)$$

Therefore, when $k \ge 2$,

$$\frac{1}{k!}\partial_{\zeta}\rho_{\zeta}^{(k)}(0)\Big|_{\zeta=0} = \partial_{\zeta}c_{k-1}(0). \tag{(\star)}$$

Similarly, $\mathcal{U}(\rho_{\zeta})v = \rho'_{\zeta}(0)^{L(0)} \exp\left(\sum_{k \ge 1} c_k(\zeta)L(k)\right)v$ equals

$$\rho_{\zeta}'(0)^{L(0)} \left(v + \sum_{k \ge 1} c_k(\zeta) L(k) v \right)$$

plus some vectors of $\mathbb{V}^{\leq n}$ multiplied by at least two terms among $c_1(\zeta), c_2(\zeta), \ldots$, and this sum is a finite sum. Using again $\rho'_0(0) = 1, c_i(0) = 0$, we obtain

$$\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{U}(\rho_{\zeta}) v |_{\zeta=0} = \partial_{\zeta} \rho_{\zeta}'(0) L(0) v \Big|_{\zeta=0} + \Big(\sum_{k \ge 1} \partial_{\zeta} c_k(0) L(k) v \Big)$$

Plugging (\star) into this formula, we obtain (2.1.9).

Remark 2.1.8. Assume the setting of Def. 2.1.6. Assume *U* is small enough such that there is $\eta \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ univalent on each fiber. Recall that R = 0 and so there are no q_{\bullet} -variables. Assume that \mathcal{B} is small enough to admit a set of coordinates $\tau_{\bullet} = (\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_m)$. Denote $\tau_{\bullet} \circ \pi$ also by τ_{\bullet} for simplicity. Then (η, τ_{\bullet}) is a set of coordinates of *U*. By Def. 2.1.1, we can find $\mathfrak{y} \in H^0(\pi(U), \Theta_{\mathcal{B}})$ such that $(d\pi)(\mathfrak{x}) = \pi^*\mathfrak{y}$. Write

$$\mathfrak{y} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} g_j(\tau_{\bullet}) \partial_{\tau_j} \tag{2.1.10}$$

where $g_j \in \mathcal{O}(\tau_{\bullet}(U))$. Then we can $h \in \mathcal{O}((\eta, \tau_{\bullet})(U))$ such that

$$\mathfrak{x} = h(\eta, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} g_j(\tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\tau_j}$$
(2.1.11)

Proposition 2.1.9. Assume the setting of Def. 2.1.6. Then the limit in (2.1.8) is convergent. Moreover, assume the setting of Rem. 2.1.8. Set $u = U_{\varrho}(\eta)v$, which is an element of $\mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(U)$. Then, in $\mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(U)$ we have

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{x}}v = h(\eta,\tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta}u + \sum_{j=1}^{m} g_{j}(\tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\tau_{j}}u - \sum_{k\geq 1}\frac{1}{k!}\partial_{\eta}^{k}h(\eta,\tau_{\bullet})L(k-1)u$$
(2.1.12)

Proof. Choose any precompact open subset V of U. Let us show that the limit in (2.1.8) converges to $\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)$ times the RHS of (2.1.12). Choose $V, \varphi^{\mathfrak{r}}$ as above. We have $v = \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)^{-1}u$. Then

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}})^{-1}(v\big|_{\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}(V)}) = \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}})^{-1}\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)^{-1}(u\big|_{\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}(V)})$$

$$\stackrel{(2.1.3)}{==} \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta\circ\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}})^{-1}(\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}})^{-1}_{*}(u\big|_{\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}(V)}) \xrightarrow{(1.3.2)} \mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta|\eta\circ\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}))(u\circ\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}})\big|_{V}$$

It is easy to see that the derivative over ζ of the above expression at $\zeta = 0$ equals (2.1.12). Indeed, the first two terms of (2.1.12) come from the derivative of $u \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}$. We shall show that last term comes from the derivative of $\mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta|\eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}))$. We claim that for each $p \in U$,

$$\partial_{\zeta} \varrho(\eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}} |\eta)_{p}^{(k)}(0) \big|_{\zeta=0} = \partial_{\eta}^{k} h(\eta, \tau_{\bullet}) \big|_{p} \tag{(\star)}$$

Then, applying Lem. 2.1.7 to the family $\zeta \mapsto \varrho(\eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}} | \eta)_p \in \mathbb{G}$ and noting $\varrho(\eta | \eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}) = \varrho(\eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}} | \eta)^{-1}$, we get

$$\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta|\eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}))\big|_{\zeta=0} = -\partial_{\zeta} \mathcal{U}(\varrho(\eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}|\eta))\big|_{\zeta=0} = -\sum_{k\geqslant 1} \frac{1}{k!} \partial_{\eta}^{k} h(\eta, \tau_{\bullet}) L(k-1).$$

which will complete the proof.

By (1.3.4),

$$\varrho(\eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}|\eta)_{p}(z) = \eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}} \circ (\eta, \pi)^{-1}(z + \eta(p), \tau_{\bullet}(p)) - \eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{r}}(p).$$

By (2.1.7), we have $\partial_{\zeta}(\eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{x}})|_{\zeta=0} = \mathfrak{x}\eta = h(\eta, \tau_{\bullet})$, and hence

$$\partial_{\zeta} \varrho(\eta \circ \varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{x}} | \eta)_{p}(z) \big|_{\zeta=0} = h(z + \eta(p), \tau_{\bullet}(p)) - h(\eta(p), \tau_{\bullet}(p))$$

Eq. (\star) follows immediately from the above equation.

In the following, we always assume the setting of Rem. 2.1.8.

Remark 2.1.10. Recall that $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}$ is the relative tangent sheaf, cf. Def. 1.2.6. Choose any $k \in \mathbb{Z}$. If $\varphi : U_1 \to U_2$ is a fiber-preserving biholomorphism, we have the pushforward map

$$\varphi_*: \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}^{\otimes k}|_{U_1} \to \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}^{\otimes k}|_{U_2}$$

(For each $b, b' \in \mathcal{B}$ such that φ sends the fiber $(U_1)_b = U_1 \cap \pi^{-1}(b)$ to $(U_2)_{b'}, \varphi_*$ restricts to the *k*-th tensor product of the differential map of tangent vectors $\Theta_{(U_1)_b}^{\otimes k} \to \Theta_{(U_2)_{b'}}^{\otimes k}$) This allows us to define the Lie derivative $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{x}}$ on $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}^{\otimes k}|_U$ if $\mathfrak{x} \in H^0(U, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}})$ is fiber-preserving: If $\nu \in \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}^{\otimes k}(U)$, then for any precompact open subset *V* of *U* we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{x}}\nu|_{V} := \lim_{\zeta \to 0} \frac{(\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{x}})_{*}^{-1}(\nu|_{\varphi_{\zeta}^{\mathfrak{x}}(V)}) - \nu|_{V}}{\zeta}$$

If \mathfrak{x} is written as (2.1.11), and if $\nu = f \partial_{\eta}^{\otimes k}$ where $f \in \mathcal{O}(U)$, then similar to the proof of Prop. 2.1.9, we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{g}}\nu = \left(h(\eta,\tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta}f + \sum_{j=1}^{m} g_{j}(\tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\tau_{j}}f - k \cdot \partial_{\eta}h(\eta,\tau_{\bullet}) \cdot f\right) \cdot \partial_{\eta}^{\otimes k}$$
(2.1.13)

(This is because the change of coordinate formula for $\Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}^{\otimes k}$ is the same as that of the line sub-bundle of $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ generated by $\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)v|_U$ (for all possible open subset $U \subset \mathcal{C}$ and all $\eta \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ univalent on fibers) where $v \in \mathbb{V}$ is a given vector satisfying L(0)v = kv and $L(1)v = L(2)v = \cdots = 0$.) Specializing to k = -1 and $d\eta = \partial_{\eta}^{\otimes (-1)}$, we obtain the formula for the Lie derivative on $\omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}$.

Remark 2.1.11. If $\varphi : U_1 \to U_2$ is a fiber-preserving biholomorphism, we have pushforward maps $\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi) : \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n}|_{U_1} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n}|_{U_2}$ and (setting k = -1 in Rem. 2.1.10) $\varphi_* : \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{U_1} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{U_2}$. Their tensor product is denoted (with abuse of notation) by

$$\mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\varphi): \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{U_{1}} \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{U_{2}}$$
(2.1.14)

and also called the **pushforward map**. Therefore, if $U \subset C$ is open and $\mathfrak{x} \in H^0(U, \Theta_C)$ is fiber-preserving, using the pushforward of the flow $\varphi_{\mathcal{L}}^{\mathfrak{x}}$ we can define the **Lie derivative**

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{x}}: H^{0}(U, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}) \to H^{0}(U, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}})$$
(2.1.15)

using (2.1.8). Its local expression is "the sum of the formulas (2.1.12) and (2.1.13)": Let $v \in \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(U)$. If \mathfrak{x} is written as (2.1.11), and if the trivialization (1.3.6) sends v to

$$\mathcal{U}_{\rho}(v) = u d\eta$$

where $u \in \mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(U)$, then in $\mathbb{V}^{\leq n} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(U) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} d\eta$ we have

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta)\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{p}}v = \left(h(\eta,\tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta}u + \sum_{j=1}^{m}g_{j}(\tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\tau_{j}}u - \sum_{k\geqslant 1}\frac{1}{k!}\partial_{\eta}^{k}h(\eta,\tau_{\bullet})L(k-1)u + \partial_{\eta}h(\eta,\tau_{\bullet})\cdot u\right)\cdot d\eta \quad (2.1.16)$$

Remark 2.1.12. Assume that $U \subset C$ is open and $\mathfrak{x} \in H^0(U, \Theta_C(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ is fiber-preserving. (So \mathfrak{x} can be viewed as a fiber-preserving element of $\Theta_C(U - S_{\mathfrak{X}})$ with finite poles at $S_{\mathfrak{X}}$.) Then the Lie derivative in Rem. 2.1.11 gives rise to

$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{X}}: H^0\big(U, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})\big) \to H^0\big(U, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leqslant n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})\big)$$
(2.1.17)

In fact, if we choose $v \in H^0(U, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$, then v can equivalently be viewed as an element of $H^0(U - S_{\mathfrak{X}}, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}})$ with finite poles at $S_{\mathfrak{X}}$. Then $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{x}}v$ belongs to $H^0(U - S_{\mathfrak{X}}, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}})$. In the local expression (2.1.16), u and $h(\eta, \tau_{\bullet})$ have finite poles at $S_{\mathfrak{X}}$. Thus (2.1.16) implies that $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{x}}v$ has finite poles at $S_{\mathfrak{X}}$. Therefore $\mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{x}}v \in H^0(U, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\leq n} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$.

2.2 A commutator formula

In this section, we give a commutator formula, which will be used in defining the connection ∇ . As in the previous section, we assume that $\tilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ is smooth, i.e., R = 0 (cf. Asmp. 1.2.3). So $\mathfrak{X} = \tilde{\mathfrak{X}} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}|_{\varsigma_1}, \cdots, \varsigma_N)$.

Choose an open subset $U \subset C$ such that there exists $\eta \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ univalent on each fiber, and that $\pi(U)$ admits coordinates $\tau_{\bullet} = (\tau_1, \tau_2, \cdots)$. Write $\tau_{\bullet} \circ \pi$ as τ_{\bullet} for simplicity. We shall define a morphism of $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(U)$ -modules

$$\mathbf{L}: \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})(U) \to \mathscr{E}nd_{\mathcal{O}_{U}}(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})|_{U})$$
(2.2.1)

Fix the following identification

$$U \simeq (\eta, \tau_{\bullet})(U) \subset \mathbb{C} \times \mathcal{B}, \ \eta = z \text{ as the standard coordinate of } \mathbb{C}$$

$$\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}|_{U} \simeq \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U}, \ \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{U} \simeq \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{U}, \quad \text{via } \mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta) = \mathcal{V}_{\varrho}(\eta).$$
(2.2.2)

Choose any $udz = u(z, \tau_{\bullet})dz \in \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})(U)$, open subset $V \subset U$, and $v = v(z, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_U(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})(V)$. Define the action of udz on v to be

$$\mathbf{L}_{udz}v = (\mathbf{L}_{udz}v)(z,\tau_{\bullet}) = \operatorname{Res}_{\zeta-z=0}Y(u(\zeta,\tau_{\bullet}),\zeta-z)v(z,\tau_{\bullet})d\zeta$$
(2.2.3a)

where ζ is another distinct standard coordinate of \mathbb{C} . By (2.2.3a), it is easy to see

$$\mathbf{L}_{udz}v = \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{1}{n!} Y \left(\partial_z^n u(z, \tau_{\bullet}) \right)_n v(z, \tau_{\bullet})$$
(2.2.3b)

where the sum is finite by lower truncation property. By tensoring (2.2.3) with the identity map of $\omega_{C/B}$, we get

$$\mathbf{L}: \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})(U) \to \mathscr{E}nd_{\mathcal{O}_{U}}\left(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}\left(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}\right)|_{U}\right)$$
(2.2.4)

whose local expression under η is

$$\mathbf{L}_{udz}vdz = \left(\operatorname{Res}_{\zeta-z=0}Y(u(\zeta,\tau_{\bullet}),\zeta-z)v(z,\tau_{\bullet})d\zeta\right)dz$$
$$= \sum_{n\geq 0}\frac{1}{n!}Y(\partial_{z}^{n}u(z,\tau_{\bullet}))_{n}v(z,\tau_{\bullet})dz.$$
(2.2.5)

Now assume that \mathcal{B} is small enough such that we have local coordinates η_1, \dots, η_N at $\varsigma_1(\mathcal{B}), \dots, \varsigma_N(\mathcal{B})$. Associate a finitely admissible $\mathbb{V}^{\times N}$ -module \mathbb{W} to ς_{\bullet} . Fix $1 \leq i \leq N$ and set $\eta = \eta_i$. Let $U = U_i$ be a neighborhood of $\varsigma_i(\mathcal{B})$ on which η_i is defined. Fix the identifications given in (2.2.2) and

$$\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) \simeq \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}, \quad \text{via } \mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}).$$
 (2.2.6)

Proposition 2.2.1. For any $udz, vdz \in \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})(U)$ and $w \in \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$, we have

$$udz *_{i} (vdz *_{i} w) - vdz *_{i} (udz *_{i} w) = (\mathbf{L}_{udz} vdz) *_{i} w.$$
(2.2.7)

Proof. Since residue actions can be defined fiberwise, it suffices to assume that \mathcal{B} is a single point. So we can suppress the symbol τ_{\bullet} and assume that $U = \eta(U)$ is an open disk centered at $\eta_i(x_i) = 0$. Now w is a vector of \mathbb{W} .

We view \mathbb{W} as an admissible \mathbb{V} -module with vertex operator \mathbb{Y}_i . Choose any $w' \in \mathbb{W}'$. By the duality property of admissible \mathbb{V} -modules, there exists

$$f = f(z, \zeta) \in \operatorname{Conf}^2(U - \{0\}).$$
 (2.2.8)

such that for each fixed z, the series expansions of f (with respect to ζ) near 0 and z are

$$\alpha_z(\zeta) = \left\langle w', Y_i(v, z) Y_i(u, \zeta) w \right\rangle \in \mathbb{C}((\zeta)), \tag{2.2.9a}$$

$$\gamma_z(\zeta - z) = \left\langle w', Y_i(Y(u, \zeta - z)v, z)w \right\rangle \in \mathbb{C}((\zeta - z)),$$
(2.2.9b)

and that for each fixed ζ , the series expansion of f (with respect to z) near 0 is

$$\beta_{\zeta}(z) = \left\langle w', Y_i(u,\zeta) Y_i(v,z) w \right\rangle \in \mathbb{C}((z)).$$
(2.2.9c)

(This is well-known when u, v are constant sections and $U = \mathbb{C}$. See [FHL93, Prop. 5.1.2] or [Gui23b] Subsec. 7.13 and 9.4.)

Choose circles $C_1, C_2, C_3 \subset U$ centered at 0 with radii r_1, r_2, r_3 respectively satisfying $r_1 < r_2 < r_3$. For each $z \in C_2$, choose a circle C(z) centered at z with radius less than $r_2 - r_1$ and $r_3 - r_2$. Then by Cauchy's theorem in complex analysis, for each fixed $z \in C_2$,

$$\oint_{C_1} f(z,\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} + \oint_{C(z)} f(z,\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} = \oint_{C_3} f(z,\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{2\pi \mathbf{i}}.$$
(2.2.10)

Note that

$$\langle w', vdz *_i (udz *_i w) \rangle \xrightarrow{(2.2.9a)} \operatorname{Res}_{z=0} (\operatorname{Res}_{\zeta=0} \alpha_z(\zeta) d\zeta) dz = \oint_{C_2} \Big(\oint_{C_1} f(z,\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \Big) \frac{dz}{2\pi \mathbf{i}}$$

$$\langle w', udz *_i (vdz *_i w) \rangle \xrightarrow{(2.2.9c)} \operatorname{Res}_{\zeta=0} (\operatorname{Res}_{z=0} \alpha_z(\zeta) d\zeta) dz = \oint_{C_3} \Big(\oint_{C_2} f(z,\zeta) \frac{dz}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \Big) \frac{d\zeta}{2\pi \mathbf{i}}$$

$$= \oint_{C_2} \Big(\oint_{C_3} f(z,\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \Big) \frac{dz}{2\pi \mathbf{i}}$$

$$\langle w', (\mathbf{L}_{udz} vdz) *_i w \rangle \xrightarrow{(2.2.9b)} \operatorname{Res}_{z=0} (\operatorname{Res}_{\zeta-z} \gamma_z(\zeta-z) d\zeta) dz = \oint_{C_2} \Big(\oint_{C_2} f(z,\zeta) \frac{d\zeta}{2\pi \mathbf{i}} \Big) \frac{dz}{2\pi \mathbf{i}}.$$

These identities, together with $\oint_{C_2} (2.2.10) \frac{dz}{2\pi i} = 0$, prove

$$\left\langle w', udz \ast_i (vdz \ast_i w) \right\rangle - \left\langle w', vdz \ast_i (udz \ast_i w) \right\rangle = \left\langle w', (\mathbf{L}_{udz} vdz) \ast_i w \right\rangle.$$
(2.2.11)

Since (2.2.11) holds for all $w' \in W'$, we get (2.2.7).

Remark 2.2.2. If U_1, \dots, U_N are disjoint neighborhoods of $\varsigma_1(\mathcal{B}), \dots, \varsigma_N(\mathcal{B})$ and $\sigma \in H^0(U_1 \cup \dots \cup U_N, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$, Prop. 2.2.1 tells us

$$\sigma \cdot (udz *_i w) - udz *_i (\sigma \cdot w) = (\mathbf{L}_{\sigma} udz) *_i w, \qquad (2.2.12)$$

 \square

where $\mathbf{L}_{\sigma}udz$ is understood as $\mathbf{L}_{\sigma|_{U_i}}(udz)$. It is because $*_i$ commutes with $*_j$ when $i \neq j$.

The following lemma is also useful when defining connections.

Lemma 2.2.3. For any $vdz \in \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})(U)$ and $w \in \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$,

$$((\partial_z + L(-1))vdz) *_i w = 0.$$
(2.2.13)

where the partial derivative ∂_z is assumed to be perpendicular to $d\pi$.

Proof. It follows from

$$\partial_z Y_i(v, z) = Y_i(\partial_z v, z) + Y_i(L(-1)v, z)$$

and $\operatorname{Res}_z \partial_z (\cdots) \cdot dz = 0.$

2.3 The differential operators ∇_{η}

Recall (1.2.17) that $\Delta \subset \mathcal{B}$ is the discriminant locus of \mathcal{B} .

Definition 2.3.1. Let \mathscr{E} be an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module. Let $\mathfrak{y} \in \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(\mathcal{B})$. A **differential operator** $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ on \mathscr{E} denotes a sheaf map $\mathscr{E} \to \mathscr{E}$ satisfying the Leibniz rule. In other words, for each open $U \subset \mathcal{B}$ we have a map $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}} : \mathscr{E}(U) \to \mathscr{E}(U)$ satisfying $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}(fs) = (\mathfrak{y}f) \cdot s + f \cdot \nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}s$ for each $f \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ and $s \in \mathscr{E}(U)$. Moreover, if $V \subset U$ is open, then $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}(s|_V) = (\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}s)|_V$.

If ∇_{η} is a differential operator on \mathscr{E} , then we also have a differential operator on \mathscr{E}^{\vee} , called the **dual differential operator** and also denoted by ∇_{η} , defined by

$$\langle \nabla_{\mathfrak{y}} \varphi, s \rangle = \mathfrak{y} \langle \varphi, s \rangle - \langle \varphi, \nabla_{\mathfrak{y}} s \rangle$$
(2.3.1)

where $\varphi \in \mathscr{E}^{\vee}(U) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{O}_U}(\mathscr{E}_U, \mathcal{O}_U), \mathfrak{y} \in \Theta(U)$ and $s \in \mathscr{E}_U$.

A connection (resp. logarithmic connection) ∇ on \mathscr{E} associates to each open $U \subset \mathcal{B}$ and each $\mathfrak{y} \in \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(U)$ (resp. each $\mathfrak{y} \in \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta)(U)$) a differential operator $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ on $\mathscr{E}|_U$ satisfying $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}|_V = \nabla_{\mathfrak{y}|_V}$ for each open $V \subset U$, and $\nabla_{f\mathfrak{y}} = f \nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ for each $f \in \mathcal{O}(U)$. \Box

The goal of this section is to define a logarithmic connection ∇ on $\mathscr{W}(\mathbb{W})$, and show that it descends to a connection on the sheaf of coinvariants $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{\mathcal{B}-\Delta}$. The connection ∇ on $\mathscr{W}(\mathbb{W})$ is important for our later proof of the convergence of sewing conformal blocks. The definition of ∇ on $\mathscr{W}(\mathbb{W})$ is well-known, cf. [TUY89, FBZ04, DGT21]. However, our (differential geometric) proof that ∇ descends to $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{\mathcal{B}-\Delta}$ is new and, in particular, differs from the algebraic proof in [FBZ04].

Assumption 2.3.2. Throughout this section, we make the following assumptions.

- (1) We assume that $\mathfrak{X} = (1.2.1)$ has local coordinates η_1, \dots, η_N at the marked points $\varsigma_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \dots, \varsigma_N(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ where each η_i is defined on a neighborhood \widetilde{U}_i of $\varsigma_i(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$. We assume that $\widetilde{U}_1, \dots, \widetilde{U}_N, V'_1, \dots, V'_R, V''_1, \dots, V''_R$ are mutually disjoint. By constant extension, η_i becomes local coordinates of \mathfrak{X} at the marked point $\varsigma_i(\mathcal{B})$ defined on $U_i = \widetilde{U}_i \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}, \rho_{\bullet}}$, cf. Rem. 1.2.1.
- (2) We do not assume that $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ has a set of coordinates. However, if a set of coordinates $\tau_{\bullet} = (\tau_1, \cdots, \tau_m) : \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathbb{C}^m$ has been chosen, by abuse of notations, we write $(q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet}) = (q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet}) \circ \pi$ for simplicity. So $(\eta_i, q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})$ becomes a set of coordinate of U_i .

2.3.1 The action of ∇_{η} on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$

The map $d\pi : \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta}) \to \pi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta)$ (cf. (1.2.26)) gives rise to a map

$$H^{0}(\mathcal{C},\Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta} + \bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})) \xrightarrow{d\pi} H^{0}(\mathcal{C},\pi^{*}\Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta)(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$$
(2.3.2)

Choose $\mathfrak{y} \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta))$. Its pullback $\pi^*\mathfrak{y}$ is in $H^0(\mathcal{C}, \pi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta))$ and hence in $H^0(\mathcal{C}, \pi^*\Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta)(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$.

Definition 2.3.3. We say that $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}} \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta} + \bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ is a lift of \mathfrak{y} if it is sent by (2.3.2) to $\pi^*\mathfrak{y}$.

Remark 2.3.4. Suppose that $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is a Stein manifold (and hence \mathcal{B} is Stein). Then any \mathfrak{y} has a lift. This is because (1.2.26) gives rise to a short exact sequence

$$0 \to H^0(\mathcal{B}, \pi_* \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})) \to H^0(\mathcal{B}, \pi_* \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta} + \bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$$
$$\xrightarrow{d\pi} H^0(\mathcal{B}, \pi_*(\pi^* \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta)(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))) \to 0.$$

namely, a short exact sequence

$$0 \to H^{0}(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})) \to H^{0}(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta} + \bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$$
$$\xrightarrow{d\pi} H^{0}(\mathcal{C}, \pi^{*}\Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta)(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})) \to 0$$
(2.3.3)

See [Gui23a, Sec. 11] the paragraph around (11.3).

Choose

$$\mathfrak{y} \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta))$$
 with a lift $\mathfrak{g} \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta} + \bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$

We shall define a differential operator $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ on $\mathscr{W}(\mathbb{W})$.

First consider the special case that $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ has coordinates τ_{\bullet} as in Asmp. 2.3.2-(2). Then U_i has a set of coordinates $(\eta_i, q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})$. Write

$$\mathfrak{y} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} g_j(q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\tau_j} + \sum_{r=1}^{R} f_r(q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{q_r}.$$
(2.3.4)

where $g_j, f_r \in \mathcal{O}((q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})(\mathcal{B}))$. Then we can find $h_i \in \mathcal{O}((\eta_i, q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})(U_i - S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ such that

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}|_{U_i} = h_i(\eta_i, q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta_i} + \sum_{j=1}^m g_j(q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\tau_j} + \sum_{r=1}^R f_r(q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{q_r},$$
(2.3.5)

where $\eta_i^k h_i(\eta_i, q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})$ is holomorphic on U_i for some $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Recall that **c** is the conformal vector. Define

$$\nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}) \in H^0(U_1 \cup \dots \cup U_N, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$$

$$\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta_i)\nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}})|_{U_i} = h_i(\eta_i, q_{\bullet}, \tau_{\bullet})\mathbf{c}d\eta_i$$
(2.3.6)

Remark 2.3.5. It is easy to see that the definition of $\nu(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}})$ is independent of the coordinates τ_{\bullet} of $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$. Thus, $\nu(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}})$ can be defined globally if $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ does not have a set of coordinates. Therefore, in the following, we do not assume that $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ has a set of coordinates τ_{\bullet} .

Definition 2.3.6. Identify

$$\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) = \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \qquad \text{via } \mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}). \tag{2.3.7}$$

The differential operator $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}} : \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) \to \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ (which replies on $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}$ and η_{\bullet}) is defined as follows. For each open $V \subset \mathcal{B}$ and $w \in \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(V)$,

$$\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}w = \mathfrak{y}(w) - \boldsymbol{\nu}(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}) \cdot w \tag{2.3.8}$$

where $v(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}) \cdot w$ is the residue action of $v(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}})$ on w (Subsec. 1.3.2). In particular, $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ restricts to a differential operator on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{\mathcal{B}-\Delta}$.

Definition 2.3.7. Assume that $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ has a set of coordinates (τ_1, \ldots, τ_m) . Recall that $q_i \partial_{q_1}, \ldots, q_R \partial_{q_R}, \partial_{\tau_1}, \ldots, \partial_{\tau_m}$ are a set of free generators of $\Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log(\Delta))$ (cf. Def. 1.2.4). Assume that each of them has a lift so that we have differential operators

$$\nabla_{q_1\partial_{q_1}}, \cdots, \nabla_{q_R\partial_{q_R}}, \nabla_{\partial_{\tau_1}}, \cdots, \nabla_{\partial_{\tau_m}}$$

(This is true e.g. when $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is Stein, cf. Rem. 2.3.4.) We define the **logarithmic connection** ∇ on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ to be the unique one extending the above differential operators. It clearly restricts to a connection on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{\mathcal{B}-\Delta}$.

2.3.2 Descending ∇ to $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$

Theorem 2.3.8. Choose $\mathfrak{y} \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \Theta_{\mathcal{B}}(-\log \Delta))$ with a lift $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}$. Then the restriction of $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ to $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{\mathcal{B}-\Delta}$ descends to a differential operator on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{\mathcal{B}-\Delta}$.

It follows that in the setting of Def. 2.3.7, ∇ descends to a connection on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_{\mathcal{B}-\Delta}$.

Proof. Since \mathfrak{X} is smooth outside Δ , by replacing $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ with $\mathfrak{X}|_{\mathcal{B}-\Delta}$, it suffices to assume that R = 0 and hence $\mathfrak{X} = \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$. (In particular, $\Delta = \emptyset$.) So there are no q_{\bullet} -variables. Assume the identification (2.3.7). Choose an open subset $V \subset \mathcal{B}$, a section $w \in \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(V)$ and

$$v \in \pi_* \big(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \big) (V) = H^0 \big(\mathcal{C}_V, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}) \big).$$

Let us show that $[\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}, v] = \mathcal{L}_{\mathfrak{y}}v$ when acting on w, i.e.,

$$\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}(v \cdot w) = v \cdot \nabla_{\mathfrak{y}} w + \mathcal{L}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}} v \cdot w.$$
(2.3.9)

Then, since $\mathcal{L}_{\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}}v$ belongs to $H^0(\mathcal{C}_V, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ (cf. Rem. 2.1.12), $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ preserves the denominator sheaf $\pi_*(\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})) \cdot \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ in the definition of $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ (cf. Def. 1.3.4). Then the theorem clearly follows.

It suffices to prove the theorem locally with respect to \mathcal{B} . Therefore, we assume that \mathcal{B} admits coordinates τ_{\bullet} , and that $\mathcal{B} = V$. Make the following identifications via $\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta_i)$:

$$\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}|_{U_{i}} = \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{i}} \qquad \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}|_{U_{i}} = \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U_{i}} d\eta_{i}$$

So $v|_{U_i} = u_i d\eta_i$ for some $u_i \in \mathbb{V} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{U_i}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})(U_i)$. By (2.3.4), (2.3.5), and R = 0, we have

$$\mathfrak{y} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} g_j \partial_{\tau_j} \qquad \widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}|_{U_i} = h_i \partial_{\eta_i} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} g_j \partial_{\tau_j}$$

where we have abbreviated $g_j(\tau_{\bullet})$ to g_j and $h_i(\eta_i, \tau_{\bullet})$ to h_i . Then by (2.3.8),

$$\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}(v \ast_{i} w) = \nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}(u_{i}d\eta_{i} \ast_{i} w) = \sum_{j} g_{j}\partial_{\tau_{j}}(u_{i}d\eta_{i} \ast_{i} w) - \mathbf{v}(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}) \cdot ((u_{i}d\eta_{i}) \ast_{i} w)$$

$$\underbrace{(2.2.12)}_{j} \sum_{j} g_{j}((\partial_{\tau_{j}}u_{i})d\eta_{i} \ast_{i} w) + \sum_{j} g_{j}((u_{i}d\eta_{i}) \ast_{i} (\partial_{\tau_{j}}w))$$

$$- u_{i}d\eta_{i} \ast_{i} (\mathbf{v}(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}) \cdot w) - (\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{v}(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}})}u_{i}d\eta_{i}) \ast_{i} w$$

$$= v \ast_{i} \nabla_{\mathfrak{y}} w + \sum_{j} g_{j}((\partial_{\tau_{j}}u_{i})d\eta_{i} \ast_{i} w) - (\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{v}(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}})}u_{i}d\eta_{i}) \ast_{i} w \qquad (2.3.11)$$

where $v *_i \nabla_{\eta} w = (u_i d\eta_i) *_i (2.3.8)$ equals the sum of the second and the third terms of the second last expression of (2.3.11). We claim that

$$(\mathcal{L}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}}u_i d\eta_i) *_i w = \sum_j g_j \big((\partial_{\tau_j} u_i) d\eta_i *_i w \big) - (\mathbf{L}_{\mathsf{v}(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}})} u_i d\eta_i) *_i w.$$
(2.3.12)

where $\mathcal{L}_{\tilde{y}}u_i d\eta_i$ is the Lie derivative of $u_i d\eta_i$, cf. Rem. 2.1.11. If (2.3.12) can be proved, then (2.3.9) follows immediately by summing up (2.3.11) over all $1 \le i \le N$.

By (2.3.6), we have $\nu(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}})|_{U_i} = h_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i$. Thus, by (2.2.5),

$$\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{v}(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}})}u_i d\eta_i = \sum_{k \ge 0} \frac{1}{k!} \partial_{\eta_i}^k h_i \cdot L(k-1) \cdot u_i d\eta_i.$$

Now (2.1.16) reads

$$\mathcal{L}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}}(u_i d\eta_i) = h_i \partial_{\eta_i} u_i d\eta_i + \sum_{j=1}^m g_j \partial_{\tau_j} u_i d\eta_i - \sum_{k \ge 1} \frac{1}{k!} \partial_{\eta_i}^k h_i \cdot L(k-1) u_i d\eta_i + \partial_{\eta_i} h_i \cdot u_i d\eta_i$$

So $\mathbf{L}_{\mathbf{v}(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}})}u_i d\eta_i + \mathcal{L}_{\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}}u_i d\eta_i$ equals

$$(L(-1) + \partial_{\eta_i})(h_i u) d\eta_i + \sum_{j=1}^m g_j \partial_{\tau_j} u_i d\eta_i$$

This, together with Lem. 2.2.3, proves (2.3.12).

Remark 2.3.9. Assume that R = 0. Suppose that \mathcal{B} is Stein (so that the lift $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}$ always exists) and have a set of coordinates τ_{\bullet} , the differential operator $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ relies on the lift $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}$ and the local coordinates η_{\bullet} . Thus, the connection ∇ on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ defined by Def. 2.3.7 relies not only on the lifts and on η_{\bullet} , but also on the coordinates τ_{\bullet} (since ∇ relies on the choice of free generators $\partial_{\tau_1}, \ldots, \partial_{\tau_m}$ of $\Theta_{\mathcal{B}}$).

2.4 Dependence of ∇_{η} on the lift $\tilde{\eta}$

In this section, we assume that R = 0. Hence $\mathfrak{X} = \mathfrak{X}$ and $\Delta = \emptyset$. We assume Asmp. 2.3.2. (In particular, the local coordinates η_{\bullet} of \mathfrak{X} are chosen.)

Suppose that $\mathfrak{y} \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \Theta_{\mathcal{B}})$ has two lifts $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{y}}' \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$. Then $\tilde{\mathbf{0}} := \tilde{\mathfrak{y}}' - \tilde{\mathfrak{y}}'$ is a lift of the zero vector field 0. Since $\tilde{\mathbf{0}}$ is tangent to $d\pi$, we have

$$\widetilde{\mathbf{0}} \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$$

(This also follows from (2.3.3) if \mathcal{B} is Stein. Hence it holds for general \mathcal{B} by gluing local data.) Conversely, if $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}$ is a lift of \mathfrak{y} , and if $\tilde{\mathbf{0}} \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$, then $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}' := \tilde{\mathfrak{y}} + \tilde{\mathbf{0}}$ is clearly also a lift of \mathfrak{y} . Therefore, to study the dependence of $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ on the lift, it suffices to study the action of $H^0(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$.

Definition 2.4.1. Choose an open subset $U \subset C$ and $\eta \in O(U)$ univalent on each fiber. If $f \in O(U)$ satisfies that $\partial_{\eta} f$ is nowhere zero, then the **Schwarzian derivative of** f **over** η is defined to be

$$\mathbf{S}_{\eta}f = \frac{\partial_{\eta}^{3}f}{\partial_{\eta}f} - \frac{3}{2} \left(\frac{\partial_{\eta}^{2}f}{\partial_{\eta}f}\right)^{2}$$
(2.4.1)

where the partial derivative ∂_{η} is defined with respect to (η, π) , i.e., it is annihilated by $d\pi$ and restricts to $d/d\eta$ on each fiber.

Definition 2.4.2. An open cover $(U_{\alpha}, \eta_{\alpha})_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}}$ of C, where each open set U_{α} is equipped with a holomorphic function $\eta_{\alpha} \in \mathcal{O}(U_{\alpha})$ univalent on each fiber, is called a **projective chart** if for any $\alpha, \beta \in \mathfrak{A}$, we have $\mathbf{S}_{\eta_{\beta}}\eta_{\alpha} = 0$ on $U_{\alpha} \cap U_{\beta}$. Two projective charts are called equivalent if their union is a projective chart. A maximal projective atla (equivalently, an equivalence class of projective charts) is called a **projective structure**.

Theorem 2.4.3. Suppose that \mathcal{B} is Stein. Then \mathfrak{X} has at least one projective structure.

Proof. See [Gui23a, Thm. B.2].

Definition 2.4.4. Let **P** be a projective chart on \mathfrak{X} . Choose an open subset $U \subset \mathcal{C}$ and $\eta \in \mathcal{O}(U)$ univalent on each fiber. One can check that for each $(V, \mu), (W, \nu) \in \mathbf{P}$ we have $\mathbf{S}_{\eta}\mu = \mathbf{S}_{\eta}\nu$ on $U \cap V \cap W$. (See [Gui23a, Rem. 8.3].) Thus there is a unique

$$\mathbf{S}_{\eta}\mathbf{P}\in\mathcal{O}(U)$$

such that $\mathbf{S}_{\eta}\mathbf{P}|_{U \cap V} = \mathbf{S}_{\eta}\mu|_{U \cap V}$ for each $(V, \mu) \in \mathbf{P}$.

Recall that *c* is the central charge of \mathbb{V} .

Theorem 2.4.5. Suppose that \mathfrak{X} has a projective structure \mathbf{P} . Choose an element $\widetilde{\mathbf{0}} \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \pi_* \Theta_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$. Let $a_i \in H^0(U_i, \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{C}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ such that

$$\mathbf{0}|_{U_i} = a_i \partial_{\eta_i} \tag{2.4.2}$$

Then the action of $\nu(\widetilde{\mathbf{0}})$ on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})(\mathcal{B})/\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$ equals the multiplication by $\#(\widetilde{\mathbf{0}}) \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ where

$$\#(\widetilde{\mathbf{0}}) := \frac{c}{12} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \operatorname{Res}_{\eta_i = 0} \mathbf{S}_{\eta_i} \mathbf{P} \cdot a_i d\eta_i$$
(2.4.3)

Note that $\nu(\widetilde{\mathbf{0}}) \in H^0(U_1 \cup \cdots \cup U_N, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ is defined by (2.3.6), i.e., $\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\eta_i)\nu(\widetilde{\mathbf{0}})|_{U_i} = a_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i$. So it relies on η_{\bullet} .

Proof. When \mathbb{W} is a tensor product of \mathbb{V} -modules, this theorem was proved in [Gui23a, Prop. 9.2]. The same argument applies to the current general case.

Definition 2.4.6. We say that the local coordinates η_1, \dots, η_N of \mathfrak{X} admit a projective structure of \mathfrak{X} if there is a projective structure containing $(U_1, \eta_1), \dots, (U_N, \eta_N)$.

Corollary 2.4.7. Assume that η_1, \dots, η_N admit a projective structure of \mathfrak{X} . Then for each $\mathfrak{y} \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \Theta_{\mathcal{B}})$ having a lift, the differential operator $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ is independent of the choice of lifts when acting of $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$.

Proof. This is clear from Thm. 2.4.5 and the discussion at the beginning of this section. \Box

Corollary 2.4.8. Assume that η_1, \dots, η_N admit a projective structure of \mathfrak{X} . Then there is a connection ∇ on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ such that for each open $V \subset \mathcal{B}$, and for each $\mathfrak{y} \in H^0(V, \Theta_{\mathcal{B}})$ with lift $\mathfrak{y} \in H^0(\mathcal{C}_V, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})), \nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ is the differential operator on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_V$ defined as in Def. 2.3.6.

Proof. Choose any Stein open set $W \subset \mathcal{B}$ admitting a set of coordinates τ_{\bullet} . We can use Def. 2.3.7 and Thm. 2.3.8 to define a connection ∇^W on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})|_W$ (by first defining the differential operator $\nabla^W_{\partial_{\tau_i}}$ for each *i* using a lift $\widetilde{\partial_{\tau_i}}$). Now, if $\mathfrak{y} = \sum_i g_i \partial_{\tau_i} \in H^0(W, \Theta_{\mathcal{B}})$ (where $g_i \in \mathcal{O}(W)$), then $\nabla^W_{\mathfrak{y}}$ is clearly equal to the differential operator defined by the lift $\sum_i g_i \widetilde{\partial_{\tau_i}}$. Therefore, by Cor. 2.4.7, $\nabla^W_{\mathfrak{y}}$ is also equal to the differential operator $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ defined by any other lift $\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}$. Thus, if for any other Stein open set W' with coordinates we define $\nabla^{W'}$ in a similar way, then $\nabla^W = \nabla^{W'}$ on $W \cap W'$. Therefore, by gluing these locally defined connections, we get a (global) connection on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ satisfying the desired requirement.

2.5 Curvature and projective flatness

Assume again that R = 0. Assume Asmp. 2.3.2. Assume that $\mathcal{B} = \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ has a set of coordinates $\tau_{\bullet} = (\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_m)$.

Our goal in this section is to calculate the curvature of the connections constructed in Sec. 2.3. Choose $\mathfrak{y}, \mathfrak{z} \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \Theta_{\mathcal{B}})$ admitting lifts $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{z}}$. Then $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ and $\nabla_{\mathfrak{z}}$ are defined in terms of these lifts and η_{\bullet} . Then $[\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{z}}]$ gives a lift of $[\mathfrak{y}, \mathfrak{z}]$ (cf. (2.5.3)). We use this lift (together with η_{\bullet}) to define $\nabla_{[\mathfrak{y},\mathfrak{z}]}$ as in (2.3.8). Our goal is to calculate the **curvature**

$$R(\mathfrak{y},\mathfrak{z})=\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}\nabla_{\mathfrak{z}}-\nabla_{\mathfrak{z}}\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}-\nabla_{[\mathfrak{y},\mathfrak{z}]}$$

on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ and on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W})$. (Note that $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W})$ is defined by the dual differential operator of $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}$ on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$, cf. Def. 2.3.1.)

On U_i we can write the lifts in the form of (2.3.5), namely

$$\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}|_{U_i} = h_i(\eta_i, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta_i} + \sum_j g_j(\tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\tau_j}$$
(2.5.1a)

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{z}}|_{U_i} = k_i(\eta_i, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta_i} + \sum_j l_j(\tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\tau_j}$$
(2.5.1b)

since there are no variables q_1, \ldots, q_R . Thus $\mathfrak{y} = \sum_j g_j(\tau_{\bullet}) \partial_{\tau_j}$ and $\mathfrak{z} = \sum_j l_j(\tau_{\bullet}) \partial_{\tau_j}$.

The following formula for $R(\mathfrak{y},\mathfrak{z})$ is essentially Prop. 4.2.2-(2) of Ueno's monograph [Uen97] in the setting of affine Lie algebras. (See also Prop. 4.6 of [Uen08].) We provide detailed calculations for the reader's convenience. (They will also help the reader understand how the geometric setting in [Uen97] and [Uen08] matches ours.)

Theorem 2.5.1. Let $f \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ be

$$f = -\frac{c}{12} \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left(\operatorname{Res}_{\eta_i = 0} \partial_{\eta_i}^3 h_i(\eta_i, \tau_{\bullet}) \cdot k_i(\eta_i, \tau_{\bullet}) d\eta_i \right).$$
(2.5.2)

Then we have $R(\mathfrak{y},\mathfrak{z}) = -f$ on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ and hence on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$. Consequently, we have $R(\mathfrak{y},\mathfrak{z}) = f$ on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W})$.

Proof. Let $Y, Z \in H^0(\bigcup_i U_i, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}})$ be defined by $Y = \sum_j g_j(\tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\tau_j}$ and $Z = \sum_j l_j(\tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\tau_j}$. Thus Y and \mathfrak{y} (resp. Z and \mathfrak{z}) are different elements although they have the same expression due to our convention of abbreviating $\tau_j \circ \pi$ to τ_j . Now (2.5.1) reads

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}|_{U_i} = h_i(\eta_i, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta_i} + Y|_{U_i} \qquad \widetilde{\mathfrak{z}}|_{U_i} = k_i(\eta_i, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta_i} + Z|_{U_i} \tag{(*)}$$

(Thus, although \mathfrak{y} and Y have the same expression, Y is an element of $H^0(\bigcup_i U_i, \Theta_c)$ and is not the same as \mathfrak{y} . Similarly, $\mathfrak{z} \in H^0(\bigcup_i U_i, \Theta_c)$.) By (2.3.8), we have $\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}} s = \mathfrak{y} s - \sum_i (h_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i) *_i s$ and $\nabla_{\mathfrak{z}} s = \mathfrak{z} s - \sum_i (k_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i) *_i s$. So

$$\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}\nabla_{\mathfrak{z}}s = \mathfrak{y}\mathfrak{z}s - \mathfrak{y}\sum_{i}(k_{i}\mathbf{c}d\eta_{i})*_{i}s - \sum_{i}(h_{i}\mathbf{c}d\eta_{i})*_{i}\mathfrak{z}s + \sum_{i,j}(h_{i}\mathbf{c}d\eta_{i})*_{i}(k_{j}\mathbf{c}d\eta_{j})*_{j}s$$
$$\nabla_{\mathfrak{z}}\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}s = \mathfrak{z}\mathfrak{y}s - \mathfrak{z}\sum_{i}(h_{i}\mathbf{c}d\eta_{i})*_{i}s - \sum_{i}(k_{i}\mathbf{c}d\eta_{i})*_{i}\mathfrak{y}s + \sum_{i,j}(k_{j}\mathbf{c}d\eta_{j})*_{j}(h_{i}\mathbf{c}d\eta_{i})*_{i}s$$

Since *Y*, *Z* are orthogonal to $d\eta_i$, we have

$$\mathfrak{y}((k_i\mathbf{c}d\eta_i)*_is) - (k_i\mathbf{c}d\eta_i)*_i\mathfrak{y}s = ((Yk_i)\mathbf{c}d\eta_i)*_is$$
$$\mathfrak{z}((h_i\mathbf{c}d\eta_i)*_is) - (h_i\mathbf{c}d\eta_i)*_i\mathfrak{z}s = ((Zk_i)\mathbf{c}d\eta_i)*_is$$

Clearly, if $i \neq j$, the $*_i$ -action of $h_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i$ and the $*_j$ -action on $k_j \mathbf{c} d\eta_j$ on s commute. By Prop. 2.2.1, the $*_i$ -action of $[h_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i, k_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i]$ on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ equals that of

$$\begin{bmatrix} h_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i, k_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i \end{bmatrix} = \mathbf{L}_{h_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i} k_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i \xrightarrow{(2.2.5)} \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{1}{n!} (\partial_{\eta_i}^n h_i) k_i L(n-1) \mathbf{c} d\eta_i$$
$$= h_i k_i L(-1) \mathbf{c} d\eta_i + 2(\partial_{\eta_i} h_i) k_i \mathbf{c} d\eta_i + \frac{c}{12} (\partial_{\eta_i}^3 h_i) k_i \mathbf{1} d\eta_i.$$

since $L(0)\mathbf{c} = 2\mathbf{c}, L(1)\mathbf{c} = 0, L(2)\mathbf{c} = L(2)L(-2)\mathbf{1} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbf{c}$. By Lem. 2.2.3, the action of the above expression equals that of

$$\begin{aligned} &-\partial_{\eta_i}(h_ik_i)\mathbf{c}d\eta_i + 2(\partial_{\eta_i}h_i)k_i\mathbf{c}d\eta_i + \frac{c}{12}(\partial_{\eta_i}^3h_i)k_i\mathbf{1}d\eta_i \\ &= (\partial_{\eta_i}h_i)k_i\mathbf{c}d\eta_i - h_i(\partial_{\eta_i}k_i)\mathbf{c}d\eta_i + \frac{c}{12}(\partial_{\eta_i}^3h_i)k_i\mathbf{1}d\eta_i \end{aligned}$$

Summing up the above calculations, we get

$$\begin{split} [\nabla_{\mathfrak{y}}, \nabla_{\mathfrak{z}}]s = [\mathfrak{y}, \mathfrak{z}]s - \sum_{i} ((Yk_{i})\mathbf{c}d\eta_{i}) *_{i}s + \sum_{i} ((Zh_{i})\mathbf{c}d\eta_{i}) *_{i}s \\ + \sum_{i} ((\partial_{\eta_{i}}h_{i})k_{i}\mathbf{c}d\eta_{i}) *_{i}s - \sum_{i} (h_{i}(\partial_{\eta_{i}}k_{i})\mathbf{c}d\eta_{i}) *_{i}s - fs \end{split}$$
(*)

On the other hand, by (*), the local expression of $[\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{z}}]$ on U_i equals

$$[\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}, \tilde{\mathfrak{z}}]|_{U_i} = (h_i \partial_{\eta_i} k_i - k_i \partial_{\eta_i} h_i + Y k_i - Z h_i) \partial_{\eta_i} + [Y, Z]|_{U_i}$$
(2.5.3)

Now, applying (2.3.8) to $[\mathfrak{y},\mathfrak{z}]$ and its lift $[\mathfrak{\tilde{y}},\mathfrak{\tilde{z}}]$, we have (due to (2.5.3))

$$\nabla_{[\mathfrak{y},\mathfrak{z}]}s = [\mathfrak{y},\mathfrak{z}]s - \sum_{i} \left((h_i\partial_{\eta_i}k_i - k_i\partial_{\eta_i}h_i + Yk_i - Zh_i)\mathbf{c}d\eta_i \right) *_i s$$

which equals $(\star) + fs$. Therefore $R(\mathfrak{y},\mathfrak{z})s = -fs$.

3 Convergence of Virasoro uniformization and local freeness

Throughout this chapter, we always assume that \mathbb{V} is C_2 -cofinite, and \mathbb{W} is a grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module (equivalently, a finitely admissible $\mathbb{V}^{\times N}$ -module) associated to the marked points $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$. We assume R = 0 so that $\mathfrak{X} = \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}|\varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_N)$ is smooth.

3.1 Convergence of formal parallel transports

In this section, we fix $0 < r \leq +\infty$ and $\mathcal{D}_r = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| < r\}$, and assume that

 $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_r \times \mathcal{B}_0$

where \mathcal{B}_0 is a complex manifold. Assume that \mathfrak{X} is equipped with local coordinates, i.e.

$$\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B} | \varsigma_1, \dots, \varsigma_N; \eta_1, \dots, \eta_N) \qquad \eta_i \in \mathcal{O}(U_i)$$

where U_1, \ldots, U_N are mutually disjoint neighborhoods of $\varsigma_1(\mathcal{B}), \ldots, \varsigma_N(\mathcal{B})$.

Let $C_0 = \pi^{-1}(\{0\} \times \mathcal{B}_0)$ so that

$$\mathfrak{X}_0 = (\pi_0 : \mathcal{C}_0 \to \mathcal{B}_0 | \sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_N; \mu_1, \dots, \mu_N)$$
(3.1.1)

a family of *N*-pointed compact Riemann surfaces with local coordinates. Here, σ_i , μ_i are the restrictions of ς_i , η_i to \mathfrak{X}_0 . Similarly, π_0 is the restriction of π .

We always let q be the standard coordinate of \mathcal{D}_r . Assume that \mathcal{B}_0 has a set of coordinates τ_1, \ldots, τ_m . By constant extension, $(q, \tau_{\bullet}) = (q, \tau_1, \ldots, \tau_m)$ is a set of coordinates of \mathcal{B} , i.e., it maps \mathcal{B} biholomorphically to an open subset of \mathbb{C}^{m+1} . As usual, we abbreviate $\tau_j \circ \tilde{\pi}$ and $\tau_j \circ \pi$ to τ_j when no confusion arises. Fix identifications

$$\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}_{0}}(\mathbb{W}) = \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}_{0}} \quad \text{via } \mathcal{U}(\mu_{\bullet}) \qquad \qquad \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) = \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \quad \text{via } \mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})$$

Now ∂_q is an element of $H^0(\mathcal{D}_r, \Theta_{\mathcal{D}_r})$. By constant extension, ∂_q becomes an element of $H^0(\mathcal{B}, \Theta_{\mathcal{B}})$. Suppose that

$$\partial_q$$
 has a lift $\mathfrak{x} \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ (3.1.2)

(Recall Rem. 2.3.4 that the existence of \mathfrak{x} is automatic when \mathcal{B} is Stein.) By (2.3.5), we can find $h_i \in \mathcal{O}((\eta_i, q, \tau_{\bullet})(U_i - S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ such that

$$\mathfrak{x}|_{U_i} = h_i(\eta_i, q, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta_i} + \partial_q \tag{3.1.3}$$

So h_i has finite poles at $\eta_i = 0$. The differential operator ∇_{∂_q} on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is defined by the lift \mathfrak{x} as in Def. 2.3.6. Write

$$h_i(\eta_i, q, \tau_{\bullet}) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} h_{i,k}(q, \tau_{\bullet}) \eta_i^k$$
 where $h_{i,k} \in \mathcal{O}((q, \tau_{\bullet})(\mathcal{B}))$

noting that $h_{i,k} = 0$ for sufficiently negative k. Then for each $w \in \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ we have

$$\nabla_{\partial_q} w = \partial_q w - A(q, \tau_{\bullet}) w \qquad \in \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$$
(3.1.4a)

where

$$A(q,\tau_{\bullet})w = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} h_{i,k}(q,\tau_{\bullet}) L_i(k-1)w \qquad \in \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$$
(3.1.4b)

Note that RHS of (3.1.4b) is a finite sum. We write

$$A(q,\tau_{\bullet})w = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} A_n(\tau_{\bullet})w \cdot q^n$$

where $A_n(\tau_{\bullet})w \in \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)$.

Remark 3.1.1. Recall from [GZ23, Prop. 2.2.14] that we have an explicit description for conformal blocks associated to \mathfrak{X} : An element $\phi \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ is precisely an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module morphism $\phi : \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ such that $\phi|_b \in \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W})$ for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$.

Note that a morphism $\psi : \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ (i.e., an element $\psi \in H^{0}(\mathcal{B}, (\mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}})^{*}))$ is determined by its values $\psi(w)$ at the constant sections $w \in \mathbb{W}$. Thus, a morphism $\mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ is equivalent to a linear map $\mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$, and is also equivalent to an $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ -module morphism $\mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}) \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$. Therefore:

• An element $\phi \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ is equivalently a linear map $\mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ such that $\phi(\cdot)|_b \in \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W})$ for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$.

A similar description holds for conformal blocks associated to \mathfrak{X}_0 .

We shall always view \mathbb{W} as a subspace of $\mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ by identifying w with $w \otimes 1$.

Definition 3.1.2. Fix an element $\phi_0 \in H^0(\mathcal{B}_0, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_0}(\mathbb{W}))$, viewed as a linear map $\mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)$. The **formal parallel transport** of ϕ_0 (with respect to the lift \mathfrak{x} , cf. (3.1.2)) is the linear map

$$\phi: \mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)[[q]]$$

extended $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)[[q]]$ -linearly to

$$\phi: \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)[[q]] \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)[[q]]$$
(3.1.5)

such that for each $w \in \mathbb{W}$ we have

$$\partial_q \Phi(w) = -\Phi(A(q, \tau_{\bullet})w) \qquad \Phi(w)\big|_{q=0} = \Phi_0(w) \tag{3.1.6}$$

where $A(q, \tau_{\bullet})w = (3.1.4b)$.

Remark 3.1.3. By Def. 2.3.1, the first relation of (3.1.6) simply says for each $w \in W$ that

$$\partial_q \Phi(w) = \Phi(\nabla_{\partial_q} w) \tag{3.1.7}$$

By Leibniz's rule, (3.1.7) also holds when $w \in \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}) \subset \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)[[q]]$. So

$$(\nabla_{\partial_a} \mathbf{\Phi})(w) = 0$$

for all $w \in \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$, justifying the name "formal parallel transport".

Remark 3.1.4. Formal parallel transports always exist and are unique. To see this, we write any linear map $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)[[q]]$ as

$$\Phi(w) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \widehat{\Phi}_n(w) q^n$$

where $\hat{\Phi}_n : \mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)$ is linear, extended $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)$ -linearly to a linear map

$$\widehat{\Phi}_n : \mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0) \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)$$

Then condition (3.1.6) is equivalent to the following relations in $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)$:

$$n\hat{\phi}_{n}(w) = -\sum_{l=0}^{n-1} \hat{\phi}_{l} \left(A_{n-l-1}(\tau_{\bullet})w \right) \quad \text{(if } n \ge 1\text{)}, \qquad \hat{\phi}_{0}(w) = \phi_{0}(w) \quad (3.1.8)$$

The existence and uniqueness of $(\widehat{\phi}_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$ satisfying (3.1.8) is clear.

Example 3.1.5. In Rem. 3.1.4, if each $h_i(\eta_i, q, \tau_{\bullet})$ is independent of q (and hence can be written as $h_i(\eta_i, \tau_{\bullet}) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} h_{i,k}(\tau_{\bullet})$), then (3.1.6) can be solved by

$$\Phi(w) = \Phi_0\left(e^{-qA(\tau_{\bullet})}w\right) \qquad \text{where } A(\tau_{\bullet}) = \sum_{i=1}^N \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} h_{i,k}(\tau_{\bullet}) L_i(k-1) \tag{3.1.9}$$

Lemma 3.1.6. Let $\phi_0 \in H^0(\mathcal{B}_0, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_0}(\mathbb{W}))$. Then the formal parallel transport ϕ is a formal conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W} , namely, viewed as a map (3.1.5), ϕ vanishes on $\mathscr{J}^{\mathrm{pre}}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathcal{B}) = (1.3.11)$.

Proof. Choose $w \in \mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\operatorname{pre}}(\mathcal{B}) \subset \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$. By Rem. 3.1.3 we have

$$\Phi(w) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{q^n}{n!} \partial_q^n \Phi(w) \big|_{q=0} = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \frac{q^n}{n!} \Phi(\nabla_{\partial_q}^n w) \big|_{q=0}$$

By the proof of Thm. 2.3.8 (more precisely, by (2.3.9)), $\nabla_{\partial_q}^n w \in \mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\operatorname{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$ for all $n \in \mathbb{N}$. Thus $\nabla_{\partial_q}^n w|_{q=0} \in \mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}_0}^{\operatorname{pre}}(\mathcal{B}_0)$. Since ϕ_0 is a conformal block for \mathfrak{X}_0 and hence vanishes on $\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}_0}^{\operatorname{pre}}(\mathcal{B}_0)$, we have $\phi(\nabla_{\partial_q}^n w)|_{q=0} = \phi_0(\nabla_{\partial_q}^n w|_{q=0}) = 0$. So $\phi(w) = 0$.

Theorem 3.1.7. Let $\phi_0 \in H^0(\mathcal{B}_0, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_0}(\mathbb{W}))$ with formal parallel transport ϕ . Then for each $w \in \mathbb{W}$, the formal power series $\phi(w) \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)[[q]]$ converges a.l.u. on $\mathcal{D}_r \times \mathcal{B}_0 = \mathcal{B}$. This defines a linear map $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$. Moreover, ϕ belongs to $H^0(\mathcal{B}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$.

Proof. Since the properties to be proved can be checked locally (with respect to \mathcal{B}_0), by shrinking \mathcal{B}_0 , we assume that \mathcal{B}_0 is Stein and connected. So \mathcal{B} is also Stein and connected. Therefore, by Thm. 1.3.8, we can find finitely many elements $s_1, s_2, \dots \in \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ generating $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}) \mod \mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$. Fix $\mu_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^N$ such that $s_1, s_2, \dots \in \mathbb{W}_{[\leq \mu_{\bullet}]} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$. Since each s_i is an $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ -linear combination of elements of $\mathbb{W}_{[\leq \mu_{\bullet}]}$, one has that $\mathbb{W}_{[\leq \mu_{\bullet}]}$ generates the $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ -module $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}) \mod \mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$.

Choose any $\lambda_{\bullet} \geq \mu_{\bullet}$. Since \mathbb{W} is grading-restricted and $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ is C_2 -cofinite, $\mathbb{W}_{[\leq \lambda_{\bullet}]}$ is finite dimensional. Let $(e_j)_{j\in J}$ be a (finite) basis of $\mathbb{W}_{[\leq \lambda_{\bullet}]}$. By Rem. 3.1.3, we have $\partial_q \phi(e_i) = \phi(\nabla_{\partial_q} e_i)$. Since $\mathbb{W}_{[\leq \lambda_{\bullet}]}$ generates $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}) \mod \mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$, we can find $\Omega_{i,j} \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ such that

$$\nabla_{\partial_q} e_i = \sum_{j \in J} \Omega_{i,j} e_j \mod \mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\operatorname{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$$
(3.1.10)

for all $i, j \in J$. Thus, by Lem. 3.1.6,

$$\partial_q \phi(e_i) = \phi(\nabla_{\partial_q} e_i) = \sum_{j \in J} \Omega_{i,j} \phi(e_j).$$
(3.1.11)

By (3.1.11), as an element of $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}_0)[[q]]^J$, $f := \bigoplus_{j \in J} \phi(e_j)$ is a formal solution of the differential equation $\partial_q f = \Omega f$ where Ω is a $\mathbb{C}^{J \times J}$ -valued holomorphic function on \mathcal{B} . Therefore, by [Gui23a, Thm. A.1], $\phi(w)$ converges a.l.u. on \mathcal{B} whenever $w = e_i$, and hence whenever $w \in \mathbb{W}_{[\leq \lambda_\bullet]}$. Since $\lambda_\bullet \geq \mu_\bullet$ is arbitrary, $\phi(w)$ converges a.l.u. for all $w \in \mathbb{W}$.

By $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -linear extension, we can view ϕ as an $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module morphism $\phi : \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}} \to \mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ (cf. Rem. 3.1.1). By Lem. 3.1.6, ϕ vanishes on $\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$. Therefore, by Thm. 1.3.6, ϕ is a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X} and \mathbb{W} .

3.2 Virasoro uniformization by non-autonomous flows

In this section, we explain how Thm. 3.1.7 can be interpreted from the perspective of Virasoro uniformization. The material of this section will not be used elsewhere in the series of papers. However, it might have potential applications in the future. It also provides a differential geometric background for the construction of ∇ on $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ comparable to the algebraic geometric background in [FBZ04] Sec. 17.3 (especially Rem. 17.3.3).

An **open annulus** denotes a set of the form $\{z \in \mathbb{C} : r_1 < |z| < r_2\}$ where $0 < r_1 < r_2$. For each r > 0 we let $r\mathbb{S}^1 = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z| = r\}$. Consider a family of *N*-pointed compact Riemann surfaces with local coordinates

$$\mathfrak{X}_0 = (\pi_0 : \mathcal{C}_0 \to \mathcal{B}_0 | \sigma_1, \dots, \sigma_N; \mu_1, \dots, \mu_N)$$

where \mathcal{B}_0 is a connected open subset of \mathbb{C}^m with standard coordinates $\tau_{\bullet} = (\tau_1, \ldots, \tau_m)$. We abbreviate $\tau_j \circ \pi_0$ to τ_j as usual. Let $U_{1,0}, \ldots, U_{N,0}$ be mutually disjoint neighborhoods of $\sigma_1(\mathcal{B}_0) \ldots, \sigma_N(\mathcal{B}_0)$ such that $\mu_i \in \mathcal{O}(U_{i,0})$, and that

$$(\mu_i, \tau_{\bullet})(U_{i,0}) = \mathcal{D}_{p_i} \times \mathcal{B}_0$$

for some $p_1, \ldots, p_N > 0$.

Fix r > 0 and

$$\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_r \times \mathcal{B}_0$$

For each *i*, choose a Laurent series in $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})((z))$:

$$h_i(z, q, \tau_{\bullet}) = \sum_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} h_{i,k}(q, \tau_{\bullet}) z^k$$
 converging a.l.u. on $\mathcal{D}_{p_i}^{\times} \times \mathcal{B}$

So it is the expansion of an element of $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{D}_{p_i}^{\times} \times \mathcal{B})$ with finite poles at $\{0\} \times \mathcal{B}$. Fix

$$0 < r_i < p_i$$

By the basics of differential equations, after making r smaller, for each i we can find

 $\beta^i \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{A}^i \times \mathcal{B})$ where \mathcal{A}^i is an open annulus containing $r_i \mathbb{S}^1$

satisfying the following properties. (We write $\beta^i(z, q, \tau_{\bullet})$ as $\beta^i_{q, \tau_{\bullet}}(z)$.)

(1) For each $(q, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{B}$ we have

$$\beta^i_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}(\mathcal{A}^i) \subset \mathcal{D}^{\times}_{p_i} \tag{3.2.1}$$

Moreover, for each $(z, q, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{A}^i \times \mathcal{B}$, we have

$$\partial_q \beta^i_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}(z) = h\left(\beta^i_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}(z), q, \tau_{\bullet}\right) \qquad \beta^i_{0,\tau_{\bullet}}(z) = z \tag{3.2.2}$$

(Thus, when q = 0, (3.2.1) reads $\mathcal{A}^i \subset \mathcal{D}_{p_i}^{\times}$.)

(2) For each $(q, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{B}$, we have $0 \notin \beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}(r_{i}\mathbb{S}^{1})$.

Note that (3.2.2) simply says that when τ_{\bullet} is fixed, $q \in \mathcal{D}_r \mapsto \beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i$ is the non-autonomous flow generated by the time-dependent (i.e. *q*-dependent) vector field $h_i\partial_z$. (More precisely, if $q \mapsto \alpha_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i$ is the (autonomous) flow in $\mathbb{C} \times \mathbb{C}$ generated by $h_i\partial_z + \partial_q$, then $\alpha_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i(z,0) = (\beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i(z),q)$.) Therefore, the basic properties of autonomous flows implies:

(3) For each $(q, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{B}$, the map $\beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i} : \mathcal{A}^{i} \to \mathbb{C}$ is injective (and hence is a biholomorphism onto an open subset of \mathbb{C}).

For each (q, τ_{\bullet}) , let $\Gamma_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}$ denote the oriented simple closed curve $\beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}: r_{i}\mathbb{S}^{1} \to \mathbb{C}$. By the Jordan curve theorem, $\mathbb{P}^{1} - \Gamma_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}$ has exactly two components

$$\mathbb{P}^1 - \Gamma^i_{q,\tau_\bullet} = \Omega^i_{q,\tau_\bullet} \sqcup \widetilde{\Omega}^i_{q,\tau_\bullet}$$

where $\infty \in \widetilde{\Omega}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}$. Define

$$O^{i} = \{(z, q, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathbb{P}^{1} \times \mathcal{B} : z \in \Omega^{i}_{q, \tau_{\bullet}}\} \qquad \widetilde{O}^{i} = \{(z, q, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathbb{P}^{1} \times \mathcal{B} : z \in \widetilde{\Omega}^{i}_{q, \tau_{\bullet}}\}$$
(3.2.3)

Remark 3.2.1. O^i and \widetilde{O}^i are open subsets of $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \mathcal{B}$. Moreover, for each $(q, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{B}$ we have $0 \in \Omega^i_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$ (i.e. 0 is inside $\Gamma^i_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$).

Proof. The continuity of β^i implies that $O^i \cup \widetilde{O}^i$ is open. The function

$$\mathcal{W}: \quad (z,q,\tau_{\bullet}) \in O^i \cup \widetilde{O}^i \quad \mapsto \quad \frac{1}{2\mathbf{i}\pi} \oint_{\Gamma^i_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}} \frac{d\zeta}{\zeta - z}$$

is continuous and takes values in \mathbb{N} . So it must be locally constant. For each $(q, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{B}$, $\mathcal{W}(\cdot, q, \tau_{\bullet})$ is constant on $\Omega_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}$ and on $\widetilde{\Omega}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}$. Since $\mathcal{W}(\infty, q, \tau_{\bullet}) = 0$, we have $\mathcal{W}(\cdot, q, \tau_{\bullet})|_{\widetilde{\Omega}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}} = 0$. Since $0 \notin \Gamma_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}$ for all $(q, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{B}$, and since $\mathcal{W}(0, 0, \tau_{\bullet}) = 1$, we have $\mathcal{W}(0, q, \tau_{\bullet}) = 1$ for all q. So $\mathcal{W}(\cdot, q, \tau_{\bullet})|_{\Omega_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}} = 1$. It follows that $O^{i} = \mathcal{W}^{-1}(1)$ and $\widetilde{O}^{i} = \mathcal{W}^{-1}(0)$. Thus O^{i} and \widetilde{O}^{i} are open. Since $\mathcal{W}(0, q, \tau_{\bullet}) = 1$, we have $0 \in \Omega_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}$.

Remark 3.2.2. According to Rem. 3.2.1, for each $z \in \mathcal{A}^i - r_i \mathbb{S}^1$, the subset of all $(q, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{B}$ such that $\beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i(z)$ is inside (resp. outside) $\Gamma_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i$ is an open subset of \mathcal{B} , and hence is also closed, and must be either \emptyset or \mathcal{B} . Therefore, for each $z \in \mathcal{A}^i$ we have

$$\begin{aligned} |z| < r_i & \iff & \beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i(z) \text{ is inside } \Gamma_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i \text{ for all } (q,\tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{B} \\ |z| > r_i & \iff & \beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i(z) \text{ is outside } \Gamma_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i \text{ for all } (q,\tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{B} \end{aligned}$$
(3.2.4)

Definition 3.2.3. We now construct a family $\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}|\varsigma_1, \ldots, \varsigma_N; \eta_1, \ldots, \eta_N)$, called the **Virasoro uniformization of** \mathfrak{X}_0 by the non-autonomous flows β^1, \ldots, β^N (or by h_1, \ldots, h_N). \mathcal{B} has already been defined. For each $(q, \tau_{\bullet}) \in \mathcal{B}$, let

$$\mathcal{R}^{i}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}} = \beta^{i}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}(\mathcal{A}^{i}) \cup \Omega^{i}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$$

Then the fiber $C_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$ is defined by (setting $\varepsilon_i = \inf\{|z| : z \in A^i\}$)

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{C}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{+} &= \pi_{0}^{-1}(\tau_{\bullet}) \Big\langle \bigcup_{i=1}^{N} \mu_{i}^{-1}(\overline{\mathcal{D}}_{\varepsilon_{i}}) \qquad \mathcal{C}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{-} = \bigsqcup_{i=1}^{N} \mathcal{R}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i} \\ \mathcal{C}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}} &= \left(\mathcal{C}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{+} \sqcup \mathcal{C}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{-}\right) \big/ \sim \end{aligned}$$

where the gluing ~ is given by the following biholomorphism between open subsets of $C_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^+$ and $C_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^-$:

$$\beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i} \circ \mu_{i} : \pi_{0}^{-1}(\tau_{\bullet}) \cap \mu_{i}^{-1}(\mathcal{A}^{i}) \xrightarrow{\simeq} \beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}(\mathcal{A}^{i})$$

(One needs (3.2.4) to show that $C_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$ is (sequentially) compact Hausdorff.) Assembling these fibers together, one gets C. The map $\pi : C \to B$ is defined by sending each $C_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$ to (q, τ_{\bullet}) .

Recall that 0 belongs to $\Omega_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}$ (Rem. 3.2.1). Then ς_{i} is defined such that $\varsigma_{i}(q,\tau_{\bullet})$ is $0 \in \mathcal{R}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^{i}$. Let

$$U_i = \bigcup_{(q,\tau_{\bullet})\in\mathcal{B}} \mathcal{R}^i_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$$

which is open in C and contains $\varsigma_i(\mathcal{B})$. The local coordinate $\eta_i \in \mathcal{O}(U_i)$ at $\varsigma_i(\mathcal{B})$ is defined such that its restriction to $\mathcal{R}^i_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$ is the standard coordinate $z \mapsto z$. (Therefore, its restriction to $\pi_0^{-1}(\tau_{\bullet}) \cap \mu_i^{-1}(\mathcal{A}^i) \subset C^+_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$ is $\eta_i = \beta^i_{q,\tau_{\bullet}} \circ \mu_i$.)

Remark 3.2.4. Now one can define a lift $\mathfrak{x} \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ of ∂_q as follows. On the open subset $\mathcal{C}^+ := \bigcup_{(q,\tau_{\bullet})\in\mathcal{B}} \mathcal{C}^+_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$ of \mathcal{C} , the vector field \mathfrak{x} is ∂_q . In particular, on the open subset $\bigcup_{(q,\tau_{\bullet})} (\pi_0^{-1}(\tau_{\bullet}) \cap \mu_i^{-1}(\mathcal{A}^i))$ of \mathcal{C}^+ and under the coordinate system $(\mu_i, q, \tau_{\bullet})$, the vector field \mathfrak{x} is ∂_q . Using (3.2.2) and the change of variable formula for tangent vectors, one easily shows that under the coordinate system $(\eta_i = \beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i \circ \mu_i, q, \tau_{\bullet})$ one has $\mathfrak{x} = h_i(\eta_i, q, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta_i} + \partial_q$ on this open set. Thus, the construction of \mathfrak{x} is finished if we define \mathfrak{x} on $\bigcup \mathcal{R}^i_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$ (under

 (q, τ_{\bullet})

the standard coordinates (z, q, τ_{\bullet})) to be $h_i(z, q, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_z + \partial_q$.

The above construction shows that \mathfrak{x} satisfies (3.1.3) in Sec. 3.1, i.e. $\mathfrak{x}|_{U_i} = h_i(\eta_i, q, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta_i} + \partial_q$. Therefore, we have shown that the non-autonomous Virasoro uniformization gives rise to a family \mathfrak{X} and a lift \mathfrak{x} of ∂_q as in Sec. 3.1. Identify \mathcal{B}_0 with $\{0\} \times \mathcal{B}_0$ in $\mathcal{D}_r \times \mathcal{B}_0 = \mathcal{B}$. Then the family \mathfrak{X}_0 in Sec. 3.1 is the restriction of \mathfrak{X} to \mathcal{B}_0 . Choose $\phi_0 \in H^0(\mathcal{B}_0, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_0}(\mathbb{W}))$. Let ϕ be its formal parallel transport (Def. 3.1.2), called the **Virasoro uniformization** of ϕ_0 . Then Thm. 3.1.7 says that *the Virasoro uniformization of* ϕ_0 *converges a.l.u. to a conformal block associated to* \mathfrak{X} *and* \mathbb{W} .

Remark 3.2.5. Intuitively, the fiber $\mathfrak{X}_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}$ is obtained from $\mathfrak{X}_{0,\tau_{\bullet}}$ by changing each of the local coordinates μ_i to the parametrization $\beta_{q,\tau_{\bullet}}^i \circ \mu_i$. Therefore, the formula (3.1.6) (equivalently, (3.1.8)) for ϕ can be viewed as the **change of parametrization formula for conformal blocks**. In particular, if each β^i is autonomous (i.e., h_i is independent of q), Exp. 3.1.5 shows that ϕ can be expressed as the exponential of a sum of Virasoro operators. See [Gui23b] (especially Sec. 13) for more discussions on this topic.

3.3 Local freeness for smooth families

We emphasize that in this section, unless otherwise stated, \mathfrak{X} is not assumed to have local coordinates η_{\bullet} at $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$.

Theorem 3.3.1. The $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is a locally free. Hence $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W})$ is locally free.

Therefore, if we consider the stalk map $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})_b \to \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W})$ defined by the restriction maps $H^0(V, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})) \to \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W})$ (for all open $V \ni b$) sending each $\phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(V)$ to $\phi(\cdot)|_b$, then by

Rem. 1.3.11, this stalk map descends to a linear isomorphism

$$\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})\Big|_b \xrightarrow{\simeq} \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W})$$

Consequently, the function $b \in \mathcal{B} \mapsto \dim \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W})$ *is locally constant.*

Note that the second paragraph describes how the space of conformal blocks $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W})$ can be viewed canonically as the fiber of the vector bundle $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ at *b*.

Proof. By Lem. 1.3.12, it suffices to prove that the rank function $\mathbf{R} : b \in \mathcal{B} \mapsto \dim \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W})$ is locally constant. Thus we may assume that \mathcal{B} is the open ball $B_r = \{\tau_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^m : |\tau_{\bullet}| < r\}$ and prove that $\mathbf{R}(a_{\bullet}) = \mathbf{R}(0)$ for each $a_{\bullet} = (a_1, \ldots, a_m) \in B_r$. Since $\zeta \in \mathcal{D}_{r/|a_{\bullet}|} \mapsto \zeta \cdot a_{\bullet}$ parametrizes a closed 1-dimensional submanifold of B_r containing a_{\bullet} , it suffices to prove that \mathbf{R} is constant on this Riemann surface. Therefore, it suffices to prove that \mathbf{R} is locally constant under the assumption that dim $\mathcal{B} = 1$.

We want to prove that each point of \mathcal{B} has a neighborhood on which \mathbf{R} is constant. Thus we may assume that \mathfrak{X} has local coordinates η_{\bullet} at $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$, that $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_{2r}$, and prove that $\mathbf{R}(p) = \mathbf{R}(0)$ for each $p \in \mathcal{D}_r$. Let q be the standard coordinate of \mathcal{B} . Then by Rem. 2.3.4, ∂_q has a lift \mathfrak{x} . Fix $p \in \mathcal{D}_r$. By Thm. 3.1.7, for each $\psi \in \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_0}(\mathbb{W})$, we have $F\psi \in H^0(\mathcal{D}_r, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ satisfying the differential equation (3.1.6) (defined by \mathfrak{x}) with initial condition $F\psi|_{q=0} = \psi$. Similarly, let $\mathcal{D}_r(p) = \{z \in \mathbb{C} : |z - p| < r\}$, then for each $\omega \in \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_p}(\mathbb{W})$ we have $G\omega \in H^0(\mathcal{D}_r(p), \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ satisfying the same differential equation (3.1.6) but with initial condition $G\omega|_{q=p} = \omega$.

Define linear maps

$$F_p: \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_0}^*(\mathbb{W}) \to \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_p}^*(\mathbb{W}) \qquad \text{resp.} \qquad G_0: \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_p}^*(\mathbb{W}) \to \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_0}^*(\mathbb{W})$$

by $F_q \psi = F\psi|_p$ resp. $G_0 \omega = G\omega|_0$. Then for each $\omega \in \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_p}(\mathbb{W})$, clearly $F(G_0 \omega) \in H^0(\mathcal{D}_r, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ and $G\omega \in H^0(\mathcal{D}_r(p), \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ satisfy the same differential equation and the same initial condition at q = 0. So the series expansions of $FG_0\omega$ and $G\omega$ at 0 both satisfy (3.1.8), and hence are equal. So $FG_0\omega$ equals $G\omega$ on $\mathcal{D}_r \cap \mathcal{D}_r(p)$, and hence at p. This shows $F_pG_0\omega = G\omega|_p = \omega$. Thus $F_pG_0 = \mathrm{id}$. A similar analysis for $GF_p\psi$ and $F\psi$ shows that $G_0F_p = \mathrm{id}$. So F_p is a linear isomorphism, and hence $\mathbf{R}(p) = \mathbf{R}(0)$.

Corollary 3.3.2. Let $(C; x_1, ..., x_N)$ be an N-pointed compact Riemann surface. Associate \mathbb{W} to x_{\bullet} . Then the finite number dim $\mathcal{T}^*_{(C;x_{\bullet})}(\mathbb{W})$ depends only on the **topology of** $(C; x_{\bullet})$, namely, the number of components of C, the topology of each component of C, and the subset of all $i \in \{1, ..., N\}$ such that x_i is contained in a given component.

Thus, dim $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is independent of the complex structure of *C*, the position of each x_i (as long as it is always on the same component), and the local coordinates at x_{\bullet} .

Proof. All *N*-pointed compact Riemann surfaces (with certain extra structures) that have the same topology as $(C; x_{\bullet})$ form a family \mathfrak{X} whose base manifold is a product of Te-ichmüller spaces $\mathcal{T}_{g,n}$ and hence is connected. Therefore, by Thm. 3.3.1, all fibers of \mathfrak{X} have the same dimension of space of conformal blocks.

3.4 Application: $\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ for a smooth family \mathfrak{X}

The goal of this section is to establish the existence of dual fusion products of W along a family of compact Riemann surfaces, generalizing the corresponding result from [GZ23] for a single compact Riemann surface. The results of this section will be needed in the third paper of the series to prove the sewing-factorization for families.

We consider a setting different from Asmp. 1.2.3. Choose a family of (M, N)-pointed compact Riemann surfaces with local coordinates (recall Def. 2.2.1 in [GZ23])

$$\mathfrak{X} = (\tau_{\star}; \theta_{\star} | \pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B} | \varsigma_{\bullet}; \eta_{\bullet}) = (\tau_1, \cdots, \tau_M; \theta_1, \cdots, \theta_M | \pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B} | \varsigma_1, \cdots, \varsigma_N)$$

where $M, N \ge 0$. Assume that for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, each connected component of C_b intersects one of $\varsigma_1(\mathcal{B}), \ldots, \varsigma_N(\mathcal{B})$.

Recall that \mathbb{V} is C_2 -cofinite. Associate the grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module \mathbb{W} to the incoming marked points $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$. When \mathcal{B} is a single point, we have proved in [GZ23, Thm. 3.5.5] that \mathbb{W} has a dual fusion product along \mathfrak{X} in the following sense:

Definition 3.4.1. Assume that \mathcal{B} is a single point. A **dual fusion product** denotes a pair $(\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \beth)$ where $\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is a grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes M}$ -module associated to $\tau_{\star}(\mathcal{B})$, and $\beth \in \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W} \otimes \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ satisfying the universal property:

For each φ ∈ 𝔅^{*}_𝔅(𝔅 ⊗ 𝔅) (where 𝔅 is a grading restricted 𝔅^{𝔅M}-module associated to τ_⋆(𝔅)) there exists a unique *T* ∈ Hom_{V⊗M}(𝔅, □_𝔅(𝔅)) such that φ = 𝔅 ◦ (𝔅^𝔅)

We abbreviate $(\square_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \beth)$ to $\square_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ when no confusion arises. The contragredient $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes M}$ -module of $\square_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is denoted by $\boxtimes_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ and called the **fusion product** of \mathbb{W} along \mathfrak{X} .

Example 3.4.2. When M = 0, then $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes M} = \mathbb{C}$. A grading restricted \mathbb{C} -module is understood as a finite-dimensional \mathbb{C} -vector space. Thus, if \mathcal{B} is a single point, then

 $(\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \beth)$ is a dual fusion product of \mathbb{W} along \mathfrak{X}

where $\exists \in \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ is defined by

$$\exists: \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{r}}(\mathbb{W}) \to \mathbb{C} \qquad w \otimes \phi \mapsto \phi(w)$$

Equivalently, noting the linear isomorphism $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})) \simeq \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$, then $\mathbb{I} = \sum_i \phi_i \otimes \check{\phi}^i$ where (ϕ_i) is a (finite) basis of $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ with dual basis $(\check{\phi}^i)$ in $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$.

Remark 3.4.3. Assume that \mathcal{B} is a single point, and let $(\square_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \beth)$ be a dual fusion product. Then $\beth : \mathbb{W} \otimes \square_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) \to \mathbb{C}$ is **partially injective** in the sense that

$$\{\xi \in \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) : \exists (w \otimes \xi) = 0 \text{ for all } w \in \mathbb{W}\}$$
(3.4.1)

is zero. There is an equivalent formulation of this injectivity. Recall (1.1) for the meaning of $P_{\leq \lambda_{\bullet}}$. Note that \exists gives rise to a linear map

$$\mathsf{J}^{\sharp}: \mathbb{W} \to \square_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})^* = \overline{\boxtimes_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})} \qquad w \mapsto \mathsf{J}(w \otimes -)$$

Then for each $\lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^M$, the map $P_{\leq \lambda_{\bullet}} \circ \mathbb{I}^{\sharp} : \mathbb{W} \to \boxtimes_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})_{\leq \lambda_{\bullet}}$ is surjective.

Proof that (3.4.1) = 0. Assume that $\mathbb{M} := (3.4.1)$ is not zero. Let $T_1, T_2 : \mathbb{M} \to \square_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ be respectively the inclusion map and the zero map. Then $\exists \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes T_1) = \exists \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes T_2) = 0$, but $T_1 \neq T_2$. This contradicts the uniqueness part in Def. 3.4.1.

We now generalize Def. 3.4.1 to the case that \mathfrak{X} is a family.

Definition 3.4.4. The **dual fusion product** of \mathbb{W} along \mathfrak{X} is a pair $(\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \beth)$ where $\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is a grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes M}$ -module, $\beth \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})))$, such that for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, the pair $(\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \beth|_b)$ is a dual fusion product of \mathbb{W} along \mathfrak{X}_b . The contragredient $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes M}$ -module of $\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ is denoted by $\boxtimes_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ and called the **fusion product** of \mathbb{W} along \mathfrak{X} .

The following proposition will be a special case of the sewing-factorization theorem for families to be proved in the third paper of this series.

Definition 3.4.5. Let $\mathbb{W}_1, \mathbb{W}_2$ be $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -modules such that $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}}(\mathbb{W}_1, \mathbb{W}_2) < +\infty$ (e.g. when $\mathbb{W}_1, \mathbb{W}_2$ are grading restricted). Then for each complex manifold X, the **holomorphicity** of each map $X \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}}(\mathbb{W}_1, \mathbb{W}_2)$ can be defined in the obvious way as a vector-valued holomorphic function.

Proposition 3.4.6. Let $(\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \beth)$ be a dual fusion product of \mathbb{W} along \mathfrak{X} . Then for each grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes M}$ -module \mathbb{M} and each $\varphi \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M}))$, there exists a unique holomorphic map $b \in \mathcal{B} \mapsto T_b \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{V} \otimes M}(\mathbb{M}, \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ such that $\varphi|_b = \beth|_b \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes T_b)$ for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$.

Proof. The uniqueness is obvious. As for the existence, consider the linear map

 $\Psi: \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{V}^{\otimes M}}(\mathbb{M}, \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})) \to H^0(\mathcal{B}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M})) \qquad S \mapsto \beth \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes S)$

which (by Def. 3.4.4) restricts to a linear isomorphism

$$\Psi|_b: \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{V}^{\otimes M}}(\mathbb{M}, \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})) \to \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M}) \qquad S \mapsto \exists|_b \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes S)$$

for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$. Therefore, if S_1, \ldots, S_n are a basis of $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{V}\otimes M}(\mathbb{M}, \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$, then $\Psi|_b(S_1), \ldots, \Psi|_b(S_n)$ are a basis of $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_b}(\mathbb{W}\otimes\mathbb{M})$. This shows that $\Psi(S_1), \ldots, \Psi(S_n)$ are a free generator of the $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}\otimes\mathbb{M})$, i.e., the $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module morphism $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}^n \to \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}\otimes\mathbb{M})$ sending each (f_1, \ldots, f_n) to $\sum_j f_j \Psi(S_j)$ is an isomorphism. Thus ϕ can be uniquely written as $\sum_{j=1}^n f_j \Psi(S_j)$ where $f_j \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$. The existence of T follows from setting $T_b = \sum_j f_j(b)S_j$ for each b.

Corollary 3.4.7. Let $(\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \mathbb{I})$ and $(\widetilde{\Box}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \widetilde{\mathbb{I}})$ be dual fusion products of \mathbb{W} along \mathfrak{X} . Then there exists a unique holomorphic map $b \in \mathcal{B} \mapsto \Phi_b \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{W}^{\otimes M}}(\widetilde{\Box}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ such that for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, we have that $\widetilde{\mathbb{I}}|_b = \mathbb{I}|_b \circ (\mathbb{1} \otimes \Phi_b)$, and that Φ_b is a $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes \mathbb{M}}$ -module isomorphism.

We call Φ the **canonical isomorphism** from $(\widetilde{\square}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \widetilde{\beth})$ to $(\square_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \beth)$.

Proof. The existence and uniqueness of Φ satisfying the desired properties, except that Φ_b is bijective, is clear from Prop. 3.4.6. Similarly, there is a unique $\Psi : \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) \to \widetilde{\Box}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ satisfying all the properties of a canonical isomorphism except that Ψ_b is bijective. Thus $\exists_b = \exists_b \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes (\Phi_b \circ \Psi_b))$, which shows that $\Phi_b \circ \Psi_b = \mathbf{1}$. Similarly $\Psi_b \circ \Phi_b = \mathbf{1}$. Therefore Φ_b is bijective.

When dim $\mathcal{B} > 0$, a dual fusion product does not necessarily exist. However, the following theorem shows that the existence holds locally. Therefore, using the canonical isomorphisms in Cor. 3.4.7, one can glue all $\Box_{\mathfrak{X}_V}(\mathbb{W}) \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \mathcal{O}_V$ together (for all open $V \subset \mathcal{B}$ such that a dual fusion product $\Box_{\mathfrak{X}_V}(\mathbb{W})$ exists for \mathbb{W} along \mathfrak{X}_V) and get a **bundle of dual fusion products**. (More precisely, it is an infinite-rank locally free $\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$ -module.) We will not explore this topic further in this paper.

Theorem 3.4.8. Assume that $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_r \times \mathcal{B}_0$ where \mathcal{B}_0 is a Stein manifold and $0 < r \leq +\infty$. Let

$$\mathfrak{X}_0 = (\tau_\star; \theta_\star | \pi_0 : \mathcal{C}_0 \to \mathcal{B}_0 | \varsigma_\bullet; \eta_\bullet)$$

be the restriction of \mathfrak{X} to $\mathcal{B}_0 \simeq \{0\} \times \mathcal{B}_0$ as in (3.1.1). Assume that \mathbb{W} has a dual fusion product $(\Box_{\mathfrak{X}_0}(\mathbb{W}), \mathtt{I}_0)$ along \mathfrak{X}_0 . Then \mathbb{W} has a dual fusion product $(\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \mathtt{I})$ along \mathfrak{X} .

Proof. Let *q* be the standard coordinate of \mathcal{D}_r . Consider ∂_q as a constant vector field on \mathcal{B} . Set $\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}) = \Box_{\mathfrak{X}_0}(\mathbb{W})$. Since \mathcal{B}_0 and \mathcal{D}_r are Stein, \mathcal{B} is Stein. So by Rem. 2.3.4, ∂_q has a lift \mathfrak{x} , by which one can define the differential operator ∇_{∂_q} on $\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$, $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$, $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W})$. Therefore, since $\exists_0 \in H^0(\mathcal{B}_0, \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}_0}^*(\mathbb{W} \otimes \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})))$, by Thm. 3.1.7, the formal parallel transport \exists of \exists_0 converges a.l.u. to an element of $H^0(\mathcal{B}, \mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W} \otimes \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})))$. In other words, \exists can be viewed as a linear map $\mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ whose restriction to each $(p, b) \in \mathcal{B}$ is a conformal block associated to \mathbb{W} and $\mathfrak{X}_{(p,b)}$.

We want to show that for each $(p, b) \in \mathcal{B}$, $(\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \beth|_{(p,b)})$ is a dual fusion product of \mathbb{W} along $\mathfrak{X}_{(p,b)}$. For that purpose, it suffices to assume that \mathcal{B}_0 is a single point, say $\{0\}$. Then $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_r \times \{0\} \simeq \mathcal{D}_r$. Therefore, $p \in \mathcal{D}_r$ denotes a general element of \mathcal{B} . By Thm. 3.3.1, for each grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes M}$ -module \mathbb{M} associated to $\tau_{\star}(\mathcal{B})$, $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M})$ is a (finite-rank) holomorphic vector bundle on \mathcal{D}_r . Then ∇_{∂_q} defines an (obviously flat) connection ∇ on $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{X}}^*(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M})$, and \beth is parallel under this connection if $\mathbb{M} = \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$.

Choose any $\phi_p \in \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_p}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M})$. Let $\phi_0 \in \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}_0}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M})$ be the parallel transport of ϕ_p (under ∇) to 0. Since $(\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \beth_0)$ is a dual fusion product along \mathfrak{X}_0 , there exists $T \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{V} \otimes M}(\mathbb{M}, \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ such that $\phi_0 = \beth_0 \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes T) = \beth \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes T)|_0$. Since \beth is parallel under ∇ and T intertwines the actions of $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes M}$, it is clear that $\beth \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes T) \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M}))$ is parallel under ∇ . So $\beth|_p \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes T)$ and ϕ_p are both the parallel transport of ϕ_0 to p. Thus $\beth|_p \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes T) = \phi_p$.

On the other hand, if $S \in \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{V}^{\otimes M}}(\mathbb{M}, \Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ also satisfies $\exists |_p \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes S) = \phi_p$, then ϕ_0 is the parallel transport of $\exists |_p \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes S)$ to 0, and hence $\phi_0 = \exists |_0 \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes S)$. Similarly $\phi_0 = \exists |_0 \circ (\mathbf{1} \otimes T)$, which shows T = S because $(\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \exists_0)$ is a dual fusion product. This finishes the proof that $(\Box_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \exists|_p)$ is a dual fusion product of \mathbb{W} along \mathfrak{X}_p . \Box

Corollary 3.4.9. Suppose that \mathcal{B} is an open polydisk, i.e., it is of the form $\mathcal{D}_{r_1} \times \cdots \times \mathcal{D}_{r_m} \subset \mathbb{C}^m$ where $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Then there exists a dual fusion product $(\square_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}), \beth)$ of \mathbb{W} along \mathfrak{X} .

Proof. This follows immediately from Thm. 3.4.8 and from induction on *m*.

4 Convergence of sewing conformal blocks

In this chapter, we continue to assume Asmp. 1.2.3, and use freely the notations in Subsec. 1.2.1. In particular,

$$\mathfrak{X} = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B} | \varsigma_{\bullet}) = (\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B} | \varsigma_1, \cdots, \varsigma_N)$$

is obtained by sewing the family

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}} = (\widetilde{\pi} : \widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} | \varsigma_{\bullet} \| \varsigma_{\bullet}', \varsigma_{\bullet}'') = (\widetilde{\pi} : \widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} | \varsigma_1, \cdots, \varsigma_N \| \varsigma_1', \cdots, \varsigma_R', \varsigma_1'', \cdots, \varsigma_R'')$$

satisfying (1.2.2). Assume that $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ has local coordinates $\eta_{\bullet}, \xi_{\bullet}, \varpi_{\bullet}$ at $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \varsigma'_{\bullet}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \varsigma''_{\bullet}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$, and extend η_{\bullet} constantly to local coordinates of \mathfrak{X} at $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$ (also denoted by η_{\bullet}), cf. Asmp. 2.3.2.

We always assume that $\mathbb{V} = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{N}} \mathbb{V}(n)$ is a C_2 -cofinite VOA, and \mathbb{W} is a grading-restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module associated to $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\tilde{\mathcal{B}})$ and also to $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$. Let \mathbb{M} be a grading-restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes R}$ -module with (automatically grading-restricted) contragredient \mathbb{M}' . Associate \mathbb{M}, \mathbb{M}' to $\varsigma'_{\bullet}(\tilde{\mathcal{B}})$ and $\varsigma''_{\bullet}(\tilde{\mathcal{B}})$ respectively. We use $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet}, \xi_{\bullet}, \varpi_{\bullet})$ and $\mathcal{U}(\eta_{\bullet})$ to make the identifications

$$\mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}\otimes\mathbb{M}\otimes\mathbb{M}')=\mathbb{W}\otimes\mathbb{M}\otimes\mathbb{M}'\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathfrak{F}}\qquad \mathscr{W}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})=\mathbb{W}\otimes_{\mathbb{C}}\mathcal{O}_{\mathcal{B}}$$
(4.0.1)

4.1 Sewing conformal blocks

4.1.1 The decomposition $L_j(0) = L_j(0)_s + L_j(0)_n$

Recall the grading $\mathbb{M} = \bigoplus_{\lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^R} \mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}$, cf. (1.1.4). Since \mathbb{M} is grading-restricted, by the first part of the proof of [GZ23, Thm. A.2.6], there exists a finite subset $E \subset \mathbb{C}^R$ such that

$$\mathbb{M} = \bigoplus_{\lambda_{\bullet} \in E + \mathbb{N}^{R}} \mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]} \quad \text{and} \quad \dim \mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]} < +\infty \text{ for each } \lambda_{\bullet}$$
(4.1.1)

For each $1 \leq j \leq R$, we let $L_j(0)_s \in \text{End}(\mathbb{M})$ be defined such that $L_j(0)_s|_{\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda \bullet]}} = \lambda_j$, and let $L_j(0)_n = L_j(0) - L_j(0)_s$.

Since for each $v \in \mathbb{V}$ and $1 \leq i, j \leq R$ and $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ we have on \mathbb{M} that

$$[L_j(0), Y_i(v)_n] = [L_j(0)_s, Y_i(v)_n] = \delta_{i,j} Y_i((L_j(0) - n - 1)v)_n$$

we see that $L_j(0)_n \in \operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{V}\otimes R}(\mathbb{M})$ when $L_j(0)_n$ acts on \mathbb{M} . In particular, we have $[L_j(0)_n, L_i(0)] = 0$. So $L_j(0)_n$ preserves each generalized eigenspace of $L_i(0)$, i.e.

$$[L_j(0)_n, L_i(0)_s] = 0$$
 and hence $[L_j(0)_n, L_i(0)_n] = 0$

Thus $\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}$ is $L_j(0)_n$ -invariant. Therefore, on the finite-dimensional space $\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}$,

$$L_j(0)\big|_{\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_\bullet]}} = L_j(0)_s\big|_{\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_\bullet]}} + L_j(0)_n\big|_{\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_\bullet]}}$$

is the (unique) Jordan-Chevalley decomposition of $L_j(0)|_{\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}}$. Hence $L_j(0)_n|_{\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}}$ is nilpotent. Since \mathbb{M} is finitely-generated as a $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes R}$ -module ([Hua09]), it follows that

$$L_j(0)_n$$
 is nilpotent on \mathbb{M} (4.1.2)

4.1.2 The element $q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet$ of $(\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}') \{q_{\bullet}\} [\log q_{\bullet}]$

We treat q_1, \ldots, q_R and $\log q_1, \ldots, \log q_R$ as mutually commuting and independent formal variables. Each $A \in \text{End}(\mathbb{M})$ acts on $(\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')\{q_{\bullet}\}$ resp. $(\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$ by acting on the coefficient before each power of q_{\bullet} and $\log q_{\bullet}$. Define

$$\bullet \otimes \bullet \in (\mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathbb{M})^* \qquad \langle \bullet \otimes \bullet, m' \otimes m \rangle = \langle m', m \rangle$$

for all $m \in \mathbb{M}, m' \in \mathbb{M}'$. For each $A \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{M})$ such that $A^{t} \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{M}')$ exists (i.e. $\langle Am, m' \rangle = \langle m, A^{t}m' \rangle$ for all $m \in \mathbb{M}, m' \in \mathbb{M}'$), we have a linear map

$$A: (\mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathbb{M})^* \to (\mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathbb{M})^* \qquad (A\phi)(m' \otimes m) = \phi(A^{\mathrm{t}}m' \otimes m)$$

for each $\phi \in (\mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathbb{M})^*$. We set

$$\blacktriangleright \otimes A^{\mathrm{t}} \blacktriangleleft := A \blacktriangleright \otimes \blacktriangleleft$$

Note that $\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'$ is canonically a subspace of $(\mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathbb{M})^*$. Consider $P_{\lambda_{\bullet}}$, the projection of \mathbb{M} onto $\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}$. Then one checks easily that

$$P_{\lambda_{\bullet}} \bullet \otimes A^{\mathsf{t}} \bullet = \sum_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}_{\lambda_{\bullet}}} m_{(\lambda_{\bullet},\alpha)} \otimes A^{\mathsf{t}} \check{m}_{(\lambda_{\bullet},\alpha)} \qquad \in \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'$$
(4.1.3)

where $(m_{(\lambda_{\bullet},\alpha)})_{\alpha\in\mathfrak{A}_{\lambda_{\bullet}}}$ is any (finite) basis of $\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda_{\bullet}]}$ with dual basis $(\check{m}_{(\lambda_{\bullet},\alpha)})_{\alpha\in\mathfrak{A}_{\lambda_{\bullet}}}$. **Definition 4.1.1.** For each $A \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{M})$ such that $A^{t} \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{M}')$ exists, define

$$q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{\mathrm{s}}} \bullet \otimes A^{\mathrm{t}} \bullet = \sum_{\lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^{R}} q_{\bullet}^{\lambda_{\bullet}} \cdot P_{\lambda_{\bullet}} \bullet \otimes A^{\mathrm{t}} \bullet \qquad \in (\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')\{q_{\bullet}\}$$

where $q_{\bullet}^{\lambda_{\bullet}} = q_1^{\lambda_1} \cdots q_R^{\lambda_R}$. Thus, its evaluation with each $m' \otimes m \in \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathbb{M}$ is

$$\langle A^{\mathsf{t}} q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{\mathsf{s}}} m', m \rangle = \langle q_{1}^{L_{1}(0)_{\mathsf{s}}} \cdots q_{R}^{L_{R}(0)_{\mathsf{s}}} m', Am \rangle$$

Definition 4.1.2. Define a linear map

$$q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{n}}: \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \to (\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')[\log q_{\bullet}] \qquad q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{n}}(m \otimes m') = (q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{n}}m \otimes m')$$

where

$$q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{n}}m = \sum_{k_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^{R}} (\log q_{1})^{k_{1}} \cdots (\log q_{R})^{k_{R}} \cdot \frac{L_{1}(0)_{n}^{k_{1}}}{k_{1}!} \cdots \frac{L_{R}(0)_{n}^{k_{R}}}{k_{R}!}m$$

By (4.1.2), the order of power of each $\log q_i$ in $q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_n}m$ has an upper bound independent of the choice of $m \in \mathbb{M}$. Thus, we can define

$$q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{n}} : (\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')\{q_{\bullet}\} \to (\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$$

$$\sum_{\lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^{R}} \chi_{\lambda_{\bullet}} \cdot q_{\bullet}^{\lambda_{\bullet}} \mapsto \sum_{\lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^{R}} (q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{n}} \chi_{\lambda_{\bullet}}) \cdot q_{\bullet}^{\lambda_{\bullet}}$$
(4.1.4)

Finally, for each $A \in End(\mathbb{M})$ such that $A^{t} \in End(\mathbb{M}')$ exists, define

$$q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes A^{\mathsf{t}} \bullet \in (\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}] \qquad q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes A^{\mathsf{t}} \bullet = q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{\mathsf{n}}} \left(q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{\mathsf{s}}} \bullet \otimes A^{\mathsf{t}} \bullet\right)$$

In particular, $q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet$ is an element of $(\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}') \{q_{\bullet}\} [\log q_{\bullet}].$

Note that by (4.1.3) we have

$$Aq_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet = \sum_{\lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^{R}} q_{\bullet}^{\lambda_{\bullet}} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}_{\lambda_{\bullet}}} Aq_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{n}} m_{(\lambda_{\bullet},\alpha)} \otimes \check{m}_{(\lambda_{\bullet},\alpha)}$$
(4.1.5a)

$$q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes A^{\mathsf{t}} \bullet = \sum_{\lambda_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^{R}} q_{\bullet}^{\lambda_{\bullet}} \sum_{\alpha \in \mathfrak{A}_{\lambda_{\bullet}}} q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{\mathsf{n}}} m_{(\lambda_{\bullet},\alpha)} \otimes A^{\mathsf{t}} \check{m}_{(\lambda_{\bullet},\alpha)}$$
(4.1.5b)

Remark 4.1.3. Since $L_j(0)_n \in \text{End}_{\mathbb{V}^{\otimes R}}(\mathbb{M})$, the map (4.1.4) intertwines the action of $Y_i(v)_n$ for each $1 \leq i \leq R, v \in \mathbb{V}, n \in \mathbb{Z}$.

Remark 4.1.4. By (4.1.1), each \mathbb{M} is a finite direct sum of submodules that are $L_{\bullet}(0)_{s}$ -simple. Now assume that \mathbb{M} is $L_{\bullet}(0)_{s}$ -simple, i.e., the set E in (4.1.1) can be chosen to be a single point set { κ_{\bullet} }. Define

$$\widetilde{L}_j(0) = L_j(0)_{\rm s} - \kappa_j \tag{4.1.6}$$

So the eigenvalues of $\widetilde{L}_j(0)$ are in \mathbb{N} . Then $\widetilde{L}_{\bullet}(0)$ makes \mathbb{M} a finitely-admissible $\mathbb{V}^{\times R}$ -module.

4.1.3 Sewing conformal blocks

For each $\psi \in \mathscr{T}^*_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{T}}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ and $w \in \mathbb{W}$, define

$$\mathcal{S}\psi(w) = \psi\left(w \otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet\right) \in \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}].$$
(4.1.7)

 $S\psi$ is called **the sewing of \psi** along pairs of points $\varsigma'_{\bullet}(\widetilde{B}), \varsigma''_{\bullet}(\widetilde{B})$. Write

$$S\Psi(w) = \sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^{R}, l_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^{R}} S\Psi(w)_{n_{\bullet}, l_{\bullet}} q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} (\log q_{\bullet})^{l_{\bullet}}$$
(4.1.8)

Then $S\psi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$ can be extended in an obvious way to an $\mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})[[q_{\bullet}]]$ -module morphism

$$\mathcal{S}\psi: \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})[[q_\bullet]] \to \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})\{q_\bullet\}[\log q_\bullet]$$
(4.1.9)

In particular, $S\psi$ can be defined on $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$.

Definition 4.1.5. We say $S\psi$ converges a.l.u. if for each $w \in W$ and each compact subsets $K \subset \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ and $Q \subset \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet,\bullet}}^{\times}$, there exists C > 0 such that

$$\sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^{R}} |\mathcal{S}\psi(w)_{n_{\bullet},l_{\bullet}}(b)| \cdot |q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}}| \leq C$$

holds for any $b \in K$, $q_{\bullet} = (q_1, \cdots, q_R) \in Q$, and $l_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^R$.

Note that the a.l.u. convergence of $S\psi$ is slightly stronger than the condition that for each $w \in \mathbb{W}$, the series of functions $\sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^{R}, l_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^{R}} S\psi(w)_{n_{\bullet}, l_{\bullet}} q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} (\log q_{\bullet})^{l_{\bullet}}$ converge a.l.u. on $\mathcal{B} - \Delta = \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}}^{\times} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$.

4.2 The sewing of a conformal block is a formal conformal block

If
$$1 \leq k \leq R$$
, we set $q_{\bullet \setminus k} = (q_1, \ldots, q_{k-1}, q_{k+1}, \ldots, q_R)$.

Proposition 4.2.1. Let \mathscr{A} be a unital commutative \mathbb{C} -algebra. For any $u \in \mathbb{V}$, $1 \leq k \leq R$ and $f \in \mathscr{A}[[\xi_k, \varpi_k, q_{\bullet \setminus k}]]$, the following elements of $(\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathscr{A})\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$ are equal:

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\xi_{k}=0} Y_{\mathbb{M},k}(\xi_{k}^{L(0)}u,\xi_{k})q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \checkmark \cdot f(\xi_{k},\frac{q_{k}}{\xi_{k}},q_{\bullet\setminus k})\frac{d\xi_{k}}{\xi_{k}}$$

$$=\operatorname{Res}_{\varpi_{k}=0} q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes Y_{\mathbb{M}',k}(\varpi_{k}^{L(0)}\mathcal{U}(\gamma_{1})u,\varpi_{k}) \checkmark \cdot f(\frac{q_{k}}{\varpi_{k}},\varpi_{k},q_{\bullet\setminus k})\frac{d\varpi_{k}}{\varpi_{k}}$$

$$(4.2.1)$$

Remark 4.2.2. Using (4.1.5), one easily sees that

$$Y_{\mathbb{M},k}(\xi_k^{L(0)}u,\xi_k)q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet \in (\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')((\xi_k))\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$$
$$q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes Y_{\mathbb{M}',k}(\varpi_k^{L(0)}\mathcal{U}(\gamma_1)u,\varpi_k)\bullet \in (\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')((\varpi_k))\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$$

Multiplying these two elements respectively by

$$f\left(\xi_k, \frac{q_k}{\xi_k}, q_{\bullet \setminus k}\right) \quad \in \mathscr{A}((\xi_k))[[q_\bullet]] \qquad \text{and} \qquad f\left(\frac{q_k}{\varpi_k}, \varpi_k, q_{\bullet \setminus k}\right) \quad \in \mathscr{A}((\varpi_k))[[q_\bullet]]$$

they become elements of

$$(\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathscr{A})((\xi_k))\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}] \qquad \text{resp.} \qquad (\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathscr{A})((\varpi_k))\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$$

Thus, the residues in (4.2.1) make sense.

Proof of Prop. 4.2.1. Without loss of generality, we assume \mathbb{M} is $L_{\bullet}(0)_{s}$ -simple. When $L_{\bullet}(0)$ is replaced by $\tilde{L}_{\bullet}(0)$ and R = 2, Eq. (4.2.1) holds in $(\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathscr{A})[[q_{\bullet}]]$ by Step 1 of the proof of [GZ23, Prop. 2.3.10]; for general R the proof is similar. Since $\tilde{L}_{j}(0)$ and $L_{j}(0)_{s}$ differ by a scalar, Eq. (4.2.1) holds in $(\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathscr{A})\{q_{\bullet}\}$ when $L_{\bullet}(0)$ is replaced by $L_{\bullet}(0)_{s}$. Multiplying both sides of this result by the map $q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)_{n}} = (4.1.4)$ and noting Rem. 4.1.3, we obtain (4.2.1). (See also the proof of [Gui23a, Lem. 10.2].)

Proposition 4.2.3. If $\psi \in H^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'))$, then $\mathcal{S}\psi$ is a formal conformal block, i.e., $\mathcal{S}\psi = (4.1.9)$ vanishes on $\mathscr{J}^{\mathrm{pre}}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathcal{B})$ (defined in (1.3.11)).

When $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is a single point, this proposition becomes a special case of [GZ23, Prop. 2.3.10]. Although the following proof is similar to the one of [GZ23, Prop. 2.3.10], we have included it here because the setting and the notations in the proof will be useful for the discussions in the third paper of our series.

Proof. Step 1. Choose $v \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$. We claim that outside the nodes we have power series expansion

$$v = \sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^{R}} v_{n_{\bullet}} q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} \qquad \text{where } v_{n_{\bullet}} \in H^{0}\left(\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}, \mathscr{V}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}} \otimes \omega_{\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(\bullet S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}})\right)$$
(4.2.2)

We use freely the notations in Subsec. 1.2.1. Choose a precompact open subset \widetilde{U} of \widetilde{C} disjoint from $\varsigma'_{\bullet}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ and $\varsigma''_{\bullet}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$. Choose small enough $\varepsilon_{\bullet}, \kappa_{\bullet}$ such that $\widetilde{U} \times \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}\kappa_{\bullet}}$ is an open subset of $\widetilde{C} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}} - \bigcup_{i=1}^{R} (F'_{i} \cup F''_{i})$. Then $\pi : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{B}$, when restricted to $\widetilde{U} \times \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}\kappa_{\bullet}}$, becomes equals $\widetilde{\pi} \times \operatorname{id} : \widetilde{U} \times \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}\kappa_{\bullet}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}\kappa_{\bullet}}$. Thus $v|_{\widetilde{U} \times \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}\kappa_{\bullet}}}$ can be viewed as a global section of $\mathscr{V}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}} \times \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}}} \otimes \omega_{\widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \times \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}\kappa_{\bullet}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \times \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}\kappa_{\bullet}}}$ (• $S_{\mathfrak{X}}$), and hence an element in $H^{0}(\widetilde{U}, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))[[q_{\bullet}]]$. The coefficient before $q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}}$ defines $v_{n_{\bullet}}|_{\widetilde{U}}$ which are clearly compatible for different \widetilde{U} . Therefore, by considering all such \widetilde{U} , we obtain a section $v_{n_{\bullet}}$ of $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}})$ on $\widetilde{\mathcal{C}} - \bigcup_{i=1}^{R} (\varsigma'_{i}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}) \cup \varsigma''_{i}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}))$.

To finish proving (4.2.2), it remains to prove that each $v_{n_{\bullet}}$ has finite poles at $\varsigma'_{i}(\tilde{\mathcal{B}})$ and $\varsigma''_{i}(\tilde{\mathcal{B}})$ for each *i*. By the description of $\mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}}$ and $\omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}$ in Def. 1.3.3 and Rem. 1.2.7, $v|_{W_{i}-\Sigma}$ is a finite sum of elements whose restrictions to W'_{i} (resp. W''_{i}) under trivializations $\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\xi_{i})$ (resp. $\mathcal{U}_{\varrho}(\varpi_{i})$) are

$$f(\xi_i, q_i/\xi_i, q_{\bullet\setminus i})\xi_i^{L(0)}u \cdot \frac{d\xi_i}{\xi_i} \qquad \text{resp.} \qquad -f(q_i/\varpi_i, \varpi_i, q_{\bullet\setminus i})\varpi_i^{L(0)}\mathcal{U}(\gamma_1)u \cdot \frac{d\varpi_i}{\varpi_i} \quad (4.2.3)$$

where $u \in \mathbb{V}$ and $f \in \mathcal{O}(W_i)$. (Here, we have suppressed the local coordinates τ_{\bullet} of $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ in the parentheses of f. The choice of τ_{\bullet} is clearly irrelevant.) By taking power series expansion of (4.2.3), we see the term before $q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}}$ has poles of orders at most $n_i + 1$ at $\xi_i = 0$ (resp. $\varpi_i = 0$). So is $v_{n_{\bullet}}$.

Step 2. By Prop. 4.2.1 and (4.2.3), in $(\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}))\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$ we have

$$\sum_{\mathbf{n}_{\bullet}\in\mathbb{N}^{R}} \left(v_{n_{\bullet}} \cdot q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \ast \otimes \checkmark + q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \ast \otimes v_{n_{\bullet}} \checkmark \right) q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} = 0$$
(4.2.4)

Since $v_{n_{\bullet}} \in H^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ and ψ is a conformal block, we have

$$\psi \left(v_{n_{\bullet}} \cdot w \otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet + w \otimes v_{n_{\bullet}} \cdot q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet + w \otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes v_{n_{\bullet}} \cdot \bullet \right) = 0$$
(4.2.5)

Therefore, for each $w \in \mathbb{W}$ we have

$$\mathcal{S}\psi(v\cdot w) = \sum_{n_{\bullet}\in\mathbb{N}^{R}} \psi(v_{n_{\bullet}}\cdot w\otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \star \otimes \star)q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}}$$

$$\xrightarrow{(4.2.4)} \sum_{n_{\bullet}\in\mathbb{N}^{R}} \psi(v_{n_{\bullet}}\cdot w\otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \star \otimes \star + w\otimes v_{n_{\bullet}}\cdot q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \star \otimes \star + w\otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \star \star \star + w\otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \star \star + w\otimes q_{\bullet}^{$$

which equals 0 by (4.2.5). Since any element of $\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$ is an $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ -linear combination of such $v \cdot w$, we conclude that $\mathcal{S}\psi$ vanishes on $\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\mathrm{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$.

4.3 Convergence of sewing conformal blocks

The following theorem specializes to [Gui23a, Thm. 13.1] in the special case that \mathbb{M} is a tensor product of grading-restricted \mathbb{V} -modules. In fact, the proof for that special case applies almost directly to the present general situation. However, in [Gui23a], the proof

of Thm. 13.1 was only outlined in Sec. 13, with the detailed proof provided solely for the case that R = 1 in Sec. 11. Therefore, we now provide the detailed proof of Thm. 4.3.1 for arbitrary R and arbitrary grading-restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes R}$ -module \mathbb{M} .

Theorem 4.3.1. Let $\psi \in H^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'))$. Then $\mathcal{S}\psi$ converges a.l.u. (in the sense of Def. 4.1.5) to a linear map $\mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B} - \Delta)$, which belongs to $H^0(\mathcal{B} - \Delta, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ (cf. Rem. 3.1.1).

Recall that $\Delta = (1.2.17)$ is the discriminant locus of \mathfrak{X} , and hence $\mathcal{B} - \Delta = \mathcal{D}_{r_{\bullet}\rho_{\bullet}}^{\times} \times \tilde{\mathcal{B}}$.

Proof. Step 1. The theorem can be proved locally with respect to $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$. Thus, we may assume that $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is an open ball in \mathbb{C}^m with standard coordinates τ_{\bullet} . Therefore, by Thm. 2.4.3, $\tilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ has a projective structure **P**. We abbreviate each $\tau_j \circ \pi$ to τ_j . Moreover, once we can prove the a.l.u. convergence, then the fact that $S\psi$ belongs to $H^0(\mathcal{B} - \Delta, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ will follow from Prop. 4.2.3 and Thm. 1.3.6.

Fix $1 \leq k \leq R$. By Rem. 2.3.4, we have a lift $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}} \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta} + \bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ for $q_k \partial_{q_k}$ and use $\tilde{\mathfrak{g}}$ to define the differential operator $\nabla_{q_k \partial_{q_k}}$, cf. Def. 2.3.6. Let

$$\Gamma = \bigcup_{i=1}^{R} \left(\varsigma'_{i}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}) \cup \varsigma''_{i}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}) \right)$$

Choose any precompact open subset $\widetilde{U} \subset \widetilde{C} - \Gamma$ equipped with a fiberwise univalent $\eta \in \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{U})$. We can find a sufficiently small sub-polydisk $\mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon \bullet \kappa \bullet} \subset \mathcal{D}_{r \bullet \rho \bullet}$ such that $\widetilde{U} \times \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon \bullet \kappa \bullet} \simeq \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon \bullet \kappa \bullet} \times \widetilde{U}$ is an open subset of $\widetilde{C} \times \mathcal{D}_{r \bullet \rho \bullet} - \bigcup_{i=1}^{R} (F'_i \cup F''_i)$. (We will freely switch the order of product of manifolds.) After extending η constantly to a fiberwise univalent function on $U := \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon \bullet \kappa \bullet} \times \widetilde{U}$, as in (2.3.5), we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}|_U = h(q_{\bullet}, \eta, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta} + q_k \partial_{q_k}$$
(4.3.1a)

where $h \in \mathcal{O}((q_{\bullet}, \eta, \tau_{\bullet})(U - S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ has finite poles at $(q_{\bullet}, \eta, \tau_{\bullet})(S_{\mathfrak{X}}) = \mathcal{D}_{\varepsilon_{\bullet}\kappa_{\bullet}} \times (\eta, \tau_{\bullet})(S_{\mathfrak{X}})$. Write

$$h = \sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^R} h_{n_{\bullet}}(\eta, \tau_{\bullet}) q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}}$$
(4.3.1b)

where each $h_{n_{\bullet}} \in \mathcal{O}((\eta, \tau_{\bullet})(\widetilde{U} - S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ has finite poles at $(\eta, \tau_{\bullet})(S_{\mathfrak{X}})$, and set

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp} = h_{n_{\bullet}}(\eta, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta} \qquad \in H^{0}(\widetilde{U}, \Theta_{\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(\bullet S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))$$
(4.3.1c)

Then $\mathfrak{y}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}$ is independent of the choice of η , and hence can be extended to an element of $H^{0}(\widetilde{\mathcal{C}} - \Gamma, \Theta_{\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(\bullet S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))$. To see this, suppose we have another $\mu \in \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{U})$ univalent on each fiber, extended constantly to U. So $\partial_{q_{j}}\mu = 0$ for $1 \leq j \leq R$, and hence (4.3.1a) implies $\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}|_{U} = h(q_{\bullet}, \eta, \tau_{\bullet}) \cdot \partial_{\eta}\mu \cdot \partial_{\mu} + q_{k}\partial_{q_{k}}$. Note that $\partial_{\eta}\mu$ is constant over q_{\bullet} . So if we define $\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}$ using μ , then $\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp} = h_{n_{\bullet}}(\eta, \tau_{\bullet}) \cdot \partial_{\eta}\mu \cdot \partial_{\mu}$, which coincides with (4.3.1c).

Step 2. In this step, we calculate $\tilde{y}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}$ on each V'_i, V''_i . Our result (4.3.8) will imply

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp} \in H^0\big(\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}, \Theta_{\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(\bullet S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}})\big)$$
(4.3.2)

i.e., that $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}$ has finite poles at Γ . We use the notations in Asmp. 2.3.2. By the description of $d\pi$ in Subsec. 1.2.2, for each $1 \le i \le N$ and $1 \le j \le R$, we can write

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}|_{U_i} = h^i(q_{\bullet}, \eta_i, \tau_{\bullet})\partial_{\eta_i} + q_k\partial_{q_k}$$
(4.3.3a)

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}|_{W_j} = a^j(\xi_j, \varpi_j, q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet})\xi_j\partial_{\xi_j} + b^j(\xi_j, \varpi_j, q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet})\varpi_j\partial_{\varpi_j} + (1 - \delta_{j,k})q_k\partial_{q_k}$$
(4.3.3b)

where $h^i \in \mathcal{O}((q_{\bullet}, \eta_i, \tau_{\bullet})(U - S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$ has finite poles at $(q_{\bullet}, \eta, \tau_{\bullet})(S_{\mathfrak{X}})$, and $a^j, b^j \in \mathcal{O}(W_j)$ (where $W_j = (1.2.7a)$ has standard coordinates $(\xi_j, \varpi_j, q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet})$) satisfy

$$a^j + b^j = \delta_{j,k} \tag{4.3.4}$$

The tangent vectors ∂_{ξ_j} , ∂_{ϖ_j} , ∂_{q_k} are defined using the coordinates $(\xi_j, \varpi_j, q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet})$. When restricted to $W'_j = (1.2.7b)$ resp. $W''_j = (1.2.7c)$ and using the coordinates $(\xi_j, q_j/\xi_j, q_{\bullet\setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet})$ resp. $(q_j/\varpi_j, \varpi_j, q_{\bullet\setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet})$ to define the tangent vectors $\partial_{\xi_j}, \partial_{q_k}$ resp. $\partial_{\varpi_i}, \partial_{q_k}, \text{Eq. (4.3.3b) becomes}$

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}|_{W'_j} = a^j(\xi_j, q_j/\xi_j, q_{\bullet\backslash j}, \tau_{\bullet})\xi_j\partial_{\xi_j} + q_k\partial_{q_k}$$
(4.3.5a)

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}|_{W_j''} = b^j (q_j / \varpi_j, \varpi_j, q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) \varpi_j \partial_{\varpi_j} + q_k \partial_{q_k}$$
(4.3.5b)

which are calculated from the change of coordinate formula for tangent vectors

$$\begin{cases} \partial_{\xi_j} = \partial_{\xi_j} + \varpi_j \partial_{q_j} \\ \partial_{\varpi_j} = \xi_j \partial_{q_j} \end{cases} \quad \text{on } W'_j \qquad \begin{cases} \partial_{\xi_j} = \varpi_j \partial_{q_j} \\ \partial_{\varpi_j} = \partial_{\varpi_j} + \xi_j \partial_{q_j} \end{cases} \quad \text{on } W''_j \end{cases}$$

due to $q_j = \xi_j \varpi_j$. Write

$$\begin{aligned} a^{j}(\xi_{j}, \varpi_{j}, q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) &= \sum_{m,n \in \mathbb{N}} a^{j}_{m,n}(q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet})\xi_{j}^{m} \varpi_{j}^{n} \\ b^{j}(\xi_{j}, \varpi_{j}, q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) &= \sum_{m,n \in \mathbb{N}} b^{j}_{m,n}(q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet})\xi_{j}^{m} \varpi_{j}^{n} \end{aligned}$$

Then the RHS below converge a.l.u. on W_i to the LHS:

$$a^{j}(\xi_{j}, q_{j}/\xi_{j}, q_{\bullet\setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) = \sum_{n \ge 0, l \ge -n} a^{j}_{l+n,n}(q_{\bullet\setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet})\xi^{l}_{j}q^{n}_{j}$$
(4.3.6a)

$$b^{j}(q_{j}/\varpi_{j}, \varpi_{j}, q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) = \sum_{m \ge 0, l \ge -m} b^{j}_{m, l+m}(q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) \varpi^{l}_{j} q^{m}_{j}$$
(4.3.6b)

By substituting (4.3.6) into (4.3.5), we obtain

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}|_{W'_j} = \sum_{n \ge 0, l \ge -n} a^j_{l+n,n}(q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet})\xi^{l+1}_j q^n_j \partial_{\xi_j} + q_k \partial_{q_k}$$
$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}|_{W''_j} = \sum_{m \ge 0, l \ge -m} b^j_{m,l+m}(q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) \varpi^{l+1}_j q^m_j \partial_{\varpi_j} + q_k \partial_{q_k}$$

Write

$$a_{l+n_j,n_j}^j(q_{\bullet\setminus j},\tau_{\bullet}) = \sum_{n_{\bullet\setminus j}\in\mathbb{N}^{R-1}} a_{l+n_j,n_j,n_{\bullet\setminus j}}^j(\tau_{\bullet}) q_{\bullet\setminus j}^{n_{\bullet\setminus j}}$$
(4.3.7a)

$$b_{n_{j},l+n_{j}}^{j}(q_{\bullet\setminus j},\tau_{\bullet}) = \sum_{\substack{n_{\bullet\setminus j}\in\mathbb{N}^{R-1}}} b_{n_{j},l+n_{j},n_{\bullet\setminus j}}^{j}(\tau_{\bullet})q_{\bullet\setminus j}^{n_{\bullet\setminus j}}$$
(4.3.7b)

Then in $H^0(V'_j - S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}, \Theta_{\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}})$ resp. $H^0(V''_j - S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}, \Theta_{\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}})$ we have

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}\big|_{V_{j}'} = \sum_{l \ge -n_{j}} a_{l+n_{j},n_{j},n_{\bullet \setminus j}}^{j}(\tau_{\bullet})\xi_{j}^{l+1}\partial_{\xi_{j}}$$

$$(4.3.8a)$$

$$\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}\big|_{V_{j}''} = \sum_{l \ge -n_{j}} b_{n_{j},l+n_{j},n_{\bullet\setminus j}}^{j}(\tau_{\bullet})\varpi_{j}^{l+1}\partial_{\varpi_{j}}$$
(4.3.8b)

where ∂_{ξ_j} resp. ∂_{ϖ_j} are with respect to the coordinates (ξ_j, τ_{\bullet}) resp. $(\varpi_j, \tau_{\bullet})$ of V'_j resp. V''_i (cf. (1.2.4)). So $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}$ has poles of orders at most $n_j - 1$ at $\varsigma'_i(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ and $\varsigma''_i(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$.

Step 3. By (4.3.2), $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}$ is a lift of the zero tangent field of $\tilde{\mathcal{B}}$. Therefore

$$\nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}) \in H^{0}(\widetilde{U}_{1} \cup \cdots \cup \widetilde{U}_{N} \cup V_{1}' \cup V_{1}'' \cup \cdots \cup V_{R}' \cup V_{R}'', \mathscr{V}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}} \otimes \omega_{\widetilde{\mathcal{C}}/\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(\bullet S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))$$
$$\nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}) \in H^{0}(U_{1} \cup \cdots \cup U_{N}, \mathscr{V}_{\mathfrak{X}} \otimes \omega_{\mathcal{C}/\mathcal{B}}(\bullet S_{\mathfrak{X}}))$$

can be defined by (2.3.6). The goal of this step is to prove (4.3.9).

Note (4.3.1) for the relation between $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}$ and $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}$. Choose any $w \in \mathbb{W} \subset \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$. By Def. 2.3.6, in $\mathbb{W} \otimes (\mathcal{O}(\tilde{\mathcal{B}})[[q_{\bullet}]])$ we have

$$\nabla_{q_k \partial_{q_k}} w = -\nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}) w = -\sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^R} \nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}) w \cdot q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}}$$

Therefore, by Thm. 2.4.5, in $(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}))\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$ we have

$$\nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp})w \otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \ast \otimes \checkmark + w \otimes \nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp})q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \ast \otimes \checkmark + w \otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \ast \otimes \nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}) \checkmark$$

=# $(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}) \cdot w \otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \ast \otimes \checkmark + \text{ an element of } \mathscr{J}_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}^{\operatorname{pre}}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$

Note that $\#(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}) \in \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$. Since ψ vanishes on $\mathscr{J}_{\tilde{\mathfrak{X}}}^{\mathrm{pre}}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$, in $\mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$ we have

$$\sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^{R}} q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} \psi \left(w \otimes \nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}) q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \ast \otimes \star + w \otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \ast \otimes \nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}) \star \right)$$

$$= \mathcal{S}\psi (\nabla_{q_{k}\partial_{q_{k}}} w) + \sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^{R}} \#(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}) q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} \cdot \mathcal{S}\psi(w)$$

$$(4.3.9)$$

Step 4. Let us prove in $(\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}))\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$ that

$$\sum_{n_{\bullet}\in\mathbb{N}^{R}}q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}}\left(\nu(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp})q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)}\ast\otimes \checkmark +q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)}\ast\otimes\nu(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp})\checkmark\right) = L_{k}(0)q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)}\ast\otimes \checkmark$$
(4.3.10)

This will imply that for each $w \in W$, we have in $\mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})\{q_{\bullet}\}[\log q_{\bullet}]$ that

$$q_{k}\partial_{q_{k}}\mathcal{S}\psi(w) = \psi(w \otimes q_{k}\partial_{q_{k}}q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet) = \psi(w \otimes L_{k}(0)q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet)$$

$$\underbrace{(4.3.10)}_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^{R}} \sum_{q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} \psi\left(w \otimes \nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{n_{\bullet}})q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet + w \otimes q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \nu(\widetilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{n_{\bullet}}) \bullet\right)$$

$$\underbrace{(4.3.9)}_{m_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^{R}} \mathcal{S}\psi(\nabla_{q_{k}\partial_{q_{k}}}w) + \sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^{R}} \#(\widetilde{\mathfrak{g}}_{n_{\bullet}})q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} \cdot \mathcal{S}\psi(w)$$

$$(4.3.11)$$

To prove (4.3.10), note that by (4.3.8), the *j*-th residue actions $*_j$ of $\nu(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp})$ on \mathbb{M}, \mathbb{M}' are

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\xi_{j}=0} \sum_{l \ge -n_{j}} a_{l+n_{j},n_{j},n_{\bullet \setminus j}}^{j}(\tau_{\bullet}) Y_{\mathbb{M},j}(\mathbf{c},\xi_{j}) \xi_{j}^{l+1} d\xi_{j}$$
$$\operatorname{Res}_{\varpi_{j}=0} \sum_{l \ge -n_{j}} b_{n_{j},l+n_{j},n_{\bullet \setminus j}}^{j}(\tau_{\bullet}) Y_{\mathbb{M}',j}(\mathbf{c},\varpi_{j}) \varpi_{j}^{l+1} d\varpi_{j}$$

These formulas, together with (4.3.7), show that the LHS of (4.3.10) equals

$$\sum_{n_j \ge 0} \sum_{j=1}^R \operatorname{Res}_{\xi_j=0} \sum_{l \ge -n_j} a_{l+n_j,n_j}^j (q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) q_j^{n_j} Y_{\mathbb{M},j}(\mathbf{c}, \xi_j) q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet \xi_j^{l+1} d\xi_j$$

$$+ \sum_{n_j \ge 0} \sum_{j=1}^R \operatorname{Res}_{\varpi_j=0} \sum_{l \ge -n_j} b_{n_j,l+n_j}^j (q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) q_j^{n_j} q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes Y_{\mathbb{M}',j}(\mathbf{c}, \varpi_j) \bullet \varpi_j^{l+1} d\varpi_j$$

$$\underbrace{(4.3.6)}_{j=1} \sum_{j=1}^R \operatorname{Res}_{\xi_j=0} a^j (\xi_j, q_j / \xi_j, q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) Y_{\mathbb{M},j}(\mathbf{c}, \xi_j) q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \bullet \xi_j d\xi_j$$

$$+ \sum_{j=1}^R \operatorname{Res}_{\varpi_j=0} b^j (q_j / \varpi_j, \varpi_j, q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes Y_{\mathbb{M}',j}(\mathbf{c}, \varpi_j) \bullet \varpi_j d\varpi_j$$

This result, together with $a^j + b^j = \delta_{j,k}$ and the formula

$$\operatorname{Res}_{\xi_{j}=0} Y_{\mathbb{M},j}(\xi_{j}^{2}\mathbf{c},\xi_{j})q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes \checkmark \cdot b^{j}(\xi_{j},q_{j}/\xi_{j},q_{\bullet\setminus j},\tau_{\bullet})\frac{d\xi_{j}}{\xi_{j}}$$
$$=\operatorname{Res}_{\varpi_{j}=0} q_{\bullet}^{L_{\bullet}(0)} \bullet \otimes Y_{\mathbb{M}',j}(\varpi_{j}^{2}\mathbf{c},\varpi_{j}) \checkmark \cdot b^{j}(q_{j}/\varpi_{j},\varpi_{j},q_{\bullet\setminus j},\tau_{\bullet})\frac{d\varpi_{j}}{\varpi_{j}}$$

(due to Prop. 4.2.1 and the fact that $\mathcal{U}(\gamma_1)\mathbf{c} = \mathbf{c}$), implies (4.3.10).

Step 5. In this step, we prove that

$$g_k := \sum_{n_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{N}^R} \#(\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}) q_{\bullet}^{n_{\bullet}} \in \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})[[q_{\bullet}]]$$
(4.3.12)

belongs to $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$. Recall (1.2.4) that $V'_i = \mathcal{D}_{r_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ and $V''_i = \mathcal{D}_{\rho_i} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$. Define $h^i_{n_{\bullet}}$ from h^i as in (4.3.1). By Thm. 2.4.5 and (4.3.8), we have

$$#(\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}_{n_{\bullet}}^{\perp}) = \frac{c}{12} \Big(\sum_{1 \leq j \leq R} A_{j,n_{\bullet}} + \sum_{1 \leq j \leq R} B_{j,n_{\bullet}} + \sum_{1 \leq i \leq N} C_{i,n_{\bullet}} \Big)$$

where

$$A_{j,n_{\bullet}} = \sum_{l \ge -n_{j}} \operatorname{Res}_{\xi_{j}=0} \mathbf{S}_{\xi_{j}} \mathbf{P}(\xi_{j}, \tau_{\bullet}) \cdot a_{l+n_{j},n_{j},n_{\bullet\setminus j}}^{j}(\tau_{\bullet})\xi_{j}^{l+1}d\xi_{j}$$
$$B_{j,n_{\bullet}} = \sum_{l \ge -n_{j}} \operatorname{Res}_{\varpi_{j}=0} \mathbf{S}_{\varpi_{j}} \mathbf{P}(\varpi_{j}, \tau_{\bullet}) \cdot b_{n_{j},l+n_{j},n_{\bullet\setminus j}}^{j}(\tau_{\bullet})\varpi_{j}^{l+1}d\varpi_{j}$$

$$C_{i,n_{\bullet}} = \operatorname{Res}_{\eta_i=0} \mathbf{S}_{\eta_i} \mathbf{P}(\eta_i, \tau_{\bullet}) \cdot h_{n_{\bullet}}^i(\eta_i, \tau_{\bullet}) d\eta_i$$

Choose anticlockwise circles γ'_j inside \mathcal{D}_{r_j} and γ''_j inside \mathcal{D}_{ρ_j} around the origins with radii $0 < \epsilon'_j < r_j$ resp. $0 < \epsilon''_j < \rho_j$. Let

$$A_j = \frac{1}{2\mathbf{i}\pi} \oint_{\gamma'_j} \mathbf{S}_{\xi_j} \mathbf{P}(\xi_j, \tau_{\bullet}) \cdot a^j(\xi_j, q_j/\xi_j, q_{\bullet\setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) \cdot \xi_j d\xi_j$$
(4.3.14a)

$$B_{j} = \frac{1}{2\mathbf{i}\pi} \oint_{\gamma_{j}'} \mathbf{S}_{\varpi_{j}} \mathbf{P}(\varpi_{j}, \tau_{\bullet}) \cdot b^{j}(q_{j}/\varpi_{j}, \varpi_{j}, q_{\bullet \setminus j}, \tau_{\bullet}) \cdot \varpi_{j} d\varpi_{j}$$
(4.3.14b)

$$C_i = \operatorname{Res}_{\eta_i=0} \mathbf{S}_{\eta_i} \mathbf{P}(\eta_i, \tau_{\bullet}) \cdot h^i(q_{\bullet}, \eta_i, \tau_{\bullet}) d\eta_i$$
(4.3.14c)

where in (4.3.14a) and (4.3.14b) we assume that $|q_j|/\rho_j < \epsilon'_j$ resp. $|q_j|/r_j < \epsilon''_j$ (cf. (1.2.10)). Clearly $C_i \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$. It is not hard to see that the definitions of A_j, B_j are consistent for different choices of $\epsilon'_j, \epsilon''_j$. Therefore, by choosing $\epsilon'_j, \epsilon''_j$ sufficiently close to r_j, ρ_j respectively, Eq. (4.3.14a) and (4.3.14b) define $A_j, B_j \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$. It is also not hard to see that $\sum_{n \bullet} A_{j,n \bullet} q^{n \bullet}, \sum_{n \bullet} B_{j,n \bullet} q^{n \bullet}, \sum_{n \bullet} C_{j,n \bullet} q^{n \bullet}$ converge a.l.u. on \mathcal{B} to A_j, B_j, C_j respectively. (See the proof of [Gui23a, Prop. 11.12].) Note that the factor $\frac{1}{2i\pi}$ for (4.3.14a) and (4.3.14b) is missing in Prop. 11.12 and also in (13.8) of [Gui23a].) Thus g_k converges a.l.u. to an element of $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$, i.e., $\frac{c}{12} \left(\sum_{1 \le j \le R} A_j + \sum_{1 \le j \le R} B_j + \sum_{1 \le i \le N} C_i \right)$.

Step 6. This final step is similar to the proof of Thm. 3.1.7. By Thm. 1.3.8, we can find finitely many elements $s_1, s_2, \dots \in \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ generating $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}) \mod \mathscr{J}^{\mathrm{pre}}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathcal{B})$. Fix $\mu_{\bullet} \in \mathbb{C}^N$ such that $s_1, s_2, \dots \in \mathbb{W}_{[\leq \mu_{\bullet}]} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$. Thus $\mathbb{W}_{[\leq \mu_{\bullet}]}$ generates the $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ -module $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B}) \mod \mathscr{J}^{\mathrm{pre}}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathcal{B})$.

Choose any $\lambda_{\bullet} \ge \mu_{\bullet}$. Let $(e_j)_{j \in J}$ be a basis of the (finite-dimensional) vector space $\mathbb{W}_{[\leq \lambda_{\bullet}]}$. By (4.3.11) in Step 4, for each $i \in J$ and $1 \leq k \leq R$ we have

$$q_k \partial_q \mathcal{S} \psi(e_i) = \mathcal{S} \psi(\nabla_{q_k \partial_{q_k}} e_i) + g_k \cdot \mathcal{S} \psi(e_i)$$

where $g_k \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ by Step 5. Since $\mathbb{W}_{[\leq \lambda_{\bullet}]}$ generates the $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ -module $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ mod $\mathscr{J}_{\mathfrak{X}}^{\text{pre}}(\mathcal{B})$, and since $\nabla_{q_k\partial_{q_k}}e_i \in \mathbb{W} \otimes \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ (cf. Def. 2.3.6), we can find $\Omega_{i,j}^k \in \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$ such that

$$abla_{q_k\partial_{q_k}}e_i = \sum_{j\in J}\Omega^k_{i,j}e_j \mod \mathscr{J}^{\mathrm{pre}}_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathcal{B})$$

for all $i, j \in J$. Therefore, by Prop. 4.2.3,

$$q_k \partial_{q_k} \mathcal{S} \psi(e_i) = \sum_{j \in J} \Omega_{i,j}^k \mathcal{S} \psi(e_j) + g_k \cdot \mathcal{S} \psi(e_i)$$

Thus, as an element of $\mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})[[q_{\bullet}]][\log q_{\bullet}]^J$, $f := \bigoplus_{j \in J} \mathcal{S}\psi(e_j)$ is a formal solution of the differential equation of the system of differential equations $q_k \partial_{q_k} f = \Lambda^k f$ (for all $1 \leq k \leq R$) where Λ^k is the $\mathbb{C}^{J \times J}$ -valued holomorphic functions on \mathcal{B} whose $i \times j$ -th entry is $\Omega_{i,j}^k + \delta_{i,j}g_k$. Therefore, by [Gui23a, Thm. A.1], $\mathcal{S}\psi(w)$ converges a.l.u. whenever $w = e_i$, and hence whenever $w \in \mathbb{W}_{[\leq \lambda_{\bullet}]}$. Since $\lambda_{\bullet} \geq \mu_{\bullet}$ is arbitrary, $\mathcal{S}\psi(w)$ converges a.l.u. for all $w \in \mathbb{W}$.

Remark 4.3.2. Recall that (1.2.2) is always assumed in this article, i.e, each connected component of each fiber $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}_b$ of $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ intersects at least one of the incoming marked points $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$. However, Thm. 4.3.1 often holds under a weaker condition:

Instead of (1.2.2), assume that we can add some incoming marked points (i.e. sections) $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_K$ such that $\sigma_1(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \ldots, \sigma_K(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ are mutually disjoint and are also disjoint from each $\varsigma_i(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ and V'_j and V''_j , and each component of each $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}_b$ intersects one of $\sigma_*(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$. Then Thm. 4.3.1 holds.

Proof. Let $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}' = (\widetilde{\pi} : \widetilde{\mathcal{C}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}|_{\varsigma_{\bullet}}, \sigma_{*} \|_{\varsigma_{\bullet}'}, \varsigma_{\bullet}'')$ be the new family obtained from $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$ by adding σ_{*} . Associate the vacuum module \mathbb{V} to each σ_{k} . By the propagation of conformal blocks (cf. [GZ23, Sec. 2.5]), there exists an element

$$\psi \in H^0(\mathcal{B}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}'}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{V}^{\otimes K} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}')) \forall \psi(w \otimes \mathbf{1}^{\otimes K} \otimes m \otimes m') = \psi(w \otimes m \otimes m')$$

for all $w \in \mathbb{W}, m \in \mathbb{M}, m' \in \mathbb{M}'$. Then $\tilde{\mathfrak{X}}'$ satisfies (1.2.2). We sew $\tilde{\mathfrak{X}}'$ and get \mathfrak{X}' . By Thm. 4.3.1, the sewing $S \wr \psi$ converges a.l.u. to a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X}' outside the discriminant locus Δ . Thus

$$\mathcal{S}\psi(w) = \mathcal{S}\wr\psi(w\otimes \mathbf{1}^{\otimes K})$$

converges a.l.u.; the limit is a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X} outside Δ , again by the propagation of conformal blocks.

The following Thm. 4.3.3 says roughly that the sewing of a conformal block is parallel "in the direction of sewing" up to a projective term that can be calculated explicitly. In a future paper, we will use Thm. 4.3.3 to explain the appearance of $-\frac{c}{24}$ in the modular invariance formulas in [Zhu96, Miy04, Hua24].

Theorem 4.3.3. Let $\psi \in H^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'))$. Assume that $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is an open subset of \mathbb{C}^m with standard coordinates τ_{\bullet} . Fix $1 \leq k \leq R$, assume that $\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}} \in H^0(\mathcal{C}, \Theta_{\mathcal{C}}(-\log \mathcal{C}_{\Delta} + \bullet S_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}))$ is a lift of $q_k \partial_{q_k}$ (cf. Def. 2.3.3). We use $\widetilde{\mathfrak{y}}$ to define $\nabla_{q_k \partial_{q_k}}$ on $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ being the dual of $\nabla_{q_k \partial_{q_k}}$ on $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W})$ defined by Def. 2.3.6. Assume that \mathbf{P} is a projective structure on $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}$. For each $1 \leq j \leq R$ and $1 \leq i \leq N$, let a^j, b^j, h^j be defined by (4.3.3), and let A_j, B_j, C_i be defined by (4.3.14). Let

$$g_k = \frac{c}{12} \left(\sum_{1 \le j \le R} A_j + \sum_{1 \le j \le R} B_j + \sum_{1 \le i \le N} C_i \right)$$

(which is in $\mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B})$). Then $\mathcal{S}\psi \in H^0(\mathcal{B} - \Delta, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ satisfies

$$\nabla_{q_k\partial_{q_k}}\mathcal{S}\psi = g_k\cdot\mathcal{S}\psi$$

We repeat that $\tilde{\mathfrak{y}}$ exists due to Rem. 2.3.4, and that \mathfrak{P} exists due to Thm. 2.4.3. Recall Def. 2.3.1 for the meaning of dual differential operators.

Proof. This is clear from the proof of Thm. 4.3.1, especially Eq. (4.3.11) and Step 5. \Box

4.4 Application: convergence of higher genus pseudo-q-traces

In this section, we assume for simplicity that R = 1. We write $\varsigma'_1, \varsigma''_1$ as ς', ς'' . Write $r_1 = r, \rho_1 = \rho$. Associate a grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes N}$ -module \mathbb{W} to $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$. Thus $\mathcal{B} = \mathcal{D}_{r\rho} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$. Choose a grading restricted \mathbb{V} -module \mathbb{M} with contragredient \mathbb{M}' . Associate \mathbb{M}' and \mathbb{M} to $\varsigma'(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ and $\varsigma''(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ respectively. \mathbb{W} is also associated to the marked points $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\mathcal{B})$ of the sewn family \mathfrak{X} . Recall from the beginning of this chapter that the local coordinates $\eta_{\bullet}, \xi_1 = \xi, \varpi_1 = \varpi$ (at $\varsigma_{\bullet}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \varsigma'(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}), \varsigma''(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$) are chosen, and the identifications (4.0.1) are assumed.

4.4.1 The pseudo-trace Tr^{ω} on $End^0_A(\mathbb{M})$

Note that dim $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{V}}(\mathbb{M}) < +\infty$. We fix a unital \mathbb{C} -subalgebra A of $\operatorname{End}_{\mathbb{V}}(\mathbb{M})^{\operatorname{op}}$ such that \mathbb{M} is projective as a right A-module. We fix a symmetric linear functional (**SLF**) ω on A. Namely,

$$\omega:A\to \mathbb{C}$$

is a linear map satisfying $\omega(ab) = \omega(ba)$ for all $a, b \in A$.

As usual, $\operatorname{End}_A(\mathbb{M})$ denotes the set of linear maps $T : \mathbb{M} \to \mathbb{M}$ satisfying (Tm)a = T(ma) for all $m \in \mathbb{M}, a \in A$. We let

$$\operatorname{End}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) := \bigcup_{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}} \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{M}_{[\leqslant \lambda]}) = \{T \in \operatorname{End}(\mathbb{M}) : T = P_{\leqslant \lambda} T P_{\leqslant \lambda} \text{ for some } \lambda \in \mathbb{C} \}$$
$$\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) := \operatorname{End}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) \cap \operatorname{End}_{A}(\mathbb{M}) = \bigcup_{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}} \operatorname{End}_{A}(\mathbb{M}_{[\leqslant \lambda]})$$

Since each $\mathbb{M}_{[\leqslant\lambda]}$ is finite-dimensional, by the pseudo-trace (also called Hattori-Stallings trace) construction (cf. [Ari10] and the reference therein), ω defines canonically an SLF $\operatorname{Tr}^{\omega}$ on $\operatorname{End}_{A}(\mathbb{M}_{[\leqslant\lambda]})$, restricting to the one on $\operatorname{End}_{A}(\mathbb{M}_{[\leqslant\mu]})$ whenever $\Re\mu \leqslant \Re\lambda$. We thus obtain an SLF

$$\operatorname{Tr}^{\omega} : \operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) \to \mathbb{C}$$

called the **pseudo-trace of** ω on $\text{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$. (In fact, the results in this section hold more generally when Tr^{ω} is replaced by any SLF on $\text{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$. Thus, one can forget about the fact that it arises from ω .) Recall that $\overline{\mathbb{M}}$ is the algebraic completion of \mathbb{M} .

4.4.2 The pseudo-sewing $S^{\omega}\phi$ of a conformal block ϕ

Definition 4.4.1. Let $\phi \in H^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathbb{M}))$. So ϕ can be viewed as a linear map $\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathbb{M} \to \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$. Define a map ϕ^{\sharp} by

$$\Phi^{\sharp}: \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{W}, \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(\mathbb{M}, \overline{\mathbb{M}}))$$

such that for each $b \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ and $w \in \mathbb{W}$, the linear map $\phi_b^{\sharp}(w) \in \operatorname{Hom}(\mathbb{M}, \overline{\mathbb{M}})$ satisfies

$$\Phi_b^{\sharp}(w): \mathbb{M} \to \overline{\mathbb{M}} \qquad \langle \Phi_b^{\sharp}(w)m, m' \rangle = \Phi(w \otimes m' \otimes m) \big|_b \tag{4.4.1}$$

for all $m \in \mathbb{M}, m' \in \mathbb{M}'$. We say that ϕ commutes with A if for each $b \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, w \in \mathbb{W}$ and $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{C}$, the following linear map

$$P_{\lambda} \circ \phi_{b}^{\sharp}(w) \circ P_{\mu} : \mathbb{M}_{[\mu]} \to \mathbb{M}_{[\lambda]}$$

$$(4.4.2)$$

commutes with the action of *A* (and hence belongs to $\operatorname{End}_A^0(\mathbb{M})$).

In the following, we fix $\phi \in H^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \otimes \mathbb{M}))$ commuting with *A*. Tr^{ω} can be defined on (4.4.2). Recall that $L(0)_n$ preserves each $\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda]}$ (because it commutes with L(0)). Note that $q^{L(0)}$ and P_{λ} commute with *A*. Thus, for each $b \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, w \in \mathbb{W}$, we can define

$$\mathcal{S}^{\omega} \Phi(w) \Big|_{b} := \sum_{\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Tr}^{\omega} \left(q^{L(0)} P_{\lambda} \circ \Phi_{b}^{\sharp}(w) \circ P_{\mu} \right)$$

$$= \sum_{\lambda \in \mathbb{C}} q^{\lambda} \cdot \operatorname{Tr}^{\omega} \left(q^{L(0)_{n}} P_{\lambda} \circ \Phi_{b}^{\sharp}(w) \circ P_{\lambda} \right)$$
(4.4.3)

which is in $\mathbb{C}{q}[\log q]$. This gives a linear map

$$\mathcal{S}^{\omega} \phi : \mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})\{q\}[\log q] \qquad w \mapsto \mathrm{Tr}^{\omega} \phi^{\sharp}(w)$$

We call $S^{\omega}\phi$ the **pseudo-sewing** (or the pseudo-*q*-trace) of ϕ with respect to ω .

The **a.l.u. convergence** of $S^{\omega}\phi$ is understood as in Def. 4.1.5. In the rest of this section, our goal is to prove the following theorem. Recall $\mathcal{B} - \Delta = \mathcal{D}_{r\rho}^{\times} \times \tilde{\mathcal{B}}$.

Theorem 4.4.2. $\mathcal{S}^{\omega} \phi$ converges a.l.u. to a linear map $\mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\mathcal{B} - \Delta)$, which belongs to $H^0(\mathcal{B} - \Delta, \mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{X}}(\mathbb{W}))$ (cf. Rem. 3.1.1).

4.4.3 Tr^{ω} is a conformal block associated to the $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -module End⁰_A(\mathbb{M})

Recall (1.3.7) for the meaning of $\mathcal{U}(\gamma_z)$. Notice the linear isomorphism

$$\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}' \xrightarrow{\simeq} \operatorname{End}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) \qquad m \otimes m' \mapsto m \cdot \langle m', - \rangle$$

Pushing forward the $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -module structure of $\mathbb{M} \otimes \mathbb{M}'$, we see that $\operatorname{End}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$ is a grading-restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -module whose module structure is determined by the fact that for each $v \in \mathbb{V}, T \in \operatorname{End}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$, the following relation holds in $\operatorname{End}^{0}(\mathbb{M})[[z^{\pm 1}]]$:

$$Y(v \otimes \mathbf{1}, z)T = Y_{\mathbb{M}}(v, z) \circ T \qquad Y(\mathbf{1} \otimes v, z)T = T \circ Y_{\mathbb{M}}(\mathcal{U}(\gamma_z)v, z^{-1})$$
(4.4.4)

Clearly $\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$ is a (grading-restricted) $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -submodule of $\operatorname{End}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$.

Remark 4.4.3. Define a 2-pointed sphere with local coordinates

$$\mathfrak{N} = (\mathbb{P}^1 \| \infty, 0; 1/z, z)$$

where z denotes the standard coordinate of \mathbb{C} . Let \mathbb{X} be a grading restricted $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -module. Let $\psi : \mathbb{X} \to \mathbb{C}$ be a linear map. Then clearly ψ belongs to $\mathscr{T}^*_{\mathfrak{N}}(\mathbb{X})$ iff for each $v \in \mathbb{V}$ and $\chi \in \mathbb{X}$, the following relation holds in $\mathbb{C}[[z^{\pm 1}]]$:

$$\psi(Y(\mathcal{U}(\gamma_z)v\otimes\mathbf{1},z^{-1})\chi) = \psi(Y(\mathbf{1}\otimes v,z)\chi)$$
(4.4.5)

This description is independent of whether X is associated to $(0, \infty)$ or $(\infty, 0)$ (since $\mathcal{U}(\gamma_{z^{-1}})\mathcal{U}(\gamma_z) = \mathrm{id}$).

Proposition 4.4.4. Let $\mathfrak{N} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ be the constant extension of \mathfrak{N} by $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$, i.e., it is the family of 2-pointed spheres with local coordinates

$$\mathfrak{N}\times\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}=(\mathbb{P}^1\times\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}\to\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}|\infty,0;1/z,z)$$

where $\mathbb{P}^1 \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}} \to \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ is the projection onto the $\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ -component, and $0, \infty$ mean the constant sections $b \mapsto (0, b)$ and $b \mapsto (\infty, b)$.

Associate $\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$ to the marked points $(\infty, 0)$ where the first component (i.e. $Y(- \otimes \mathbf{1}, z)$) is associated to ∞ and the second one (i.e. $Y(\mathbf{1} \otimes -, z)$) is associated to 0. Then the linear functional $\operatorname{Tr}^{\omega} : \operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) \to \mathbb{C}$, viewed as a linear map $\operatorname{Tr}^{\omega} : \operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) \to \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$ by enlarging the codomain, is an element of $H^{0}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \mathscr{T}^{*}_{\mathfrak{N} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}}(\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})))$.

Proof. Since the property of being a conformal block can be checked pointwise (cf. Rem. 3.1.1), it suffices to prove that $\operatorname{Tr}^{\omega} : \operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) \to \mathbb{C}$ belongs to $\mathscr{T}_{\mathfrak{N}}^{*}(\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}))$. This, in view of (4.4.4) and (4.4.5), is equivalent to proving that in $\mathbb{C}[[z^{\pm 1}]]$ we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}^{\omega}(Y_{\mathbb{M}}(v,z)\circ T) = \operatorname{Tr}^{\omega}(T\circ Y_{\mathbb{M}}(v,z))$$

for each $v \in \mathbb{V}$ and $T \in \operatorname{End}_A^0(\mathbb{M})$. Take $\lambda \in \mathbb{C}$ such that $T = P_{\leq \lambda}TP_{\leq \lambda}$. Then the above equation becomes

$$\operatorname{Tr}^{\omega}(P_{\leqslant\lambda}Y_{\mathbb{M}}(v,z)P_{\leqslant\lambda}\circ T) = \operatorname{Tr}^{\omega}(T\circ P_{\leqslant\lambda}Y_{\mathbb{M}}(v,z)P_{\leqslant\lambda})$$

which holds because $\operatorname{Tr}^{\omega}$ is an SLF and $P_{\leq \lambda}Y_{\mathbb{M}}(v, z)P_{\leq \lambda}$ belongs to $\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})[z^{\pm 1}]$. \Box

4.4.4 ϕ is a conformal block associated to $\mathbb{W} \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})'$

Let $b \in \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$ and $w \in \mathbb{W}$. For each $\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{C}$, the map $P_{\lambda} \circ \phi_{b}^{\sharp}(w) \circ P_{\mu} = (4.4.2)$ belongs to the weight- (λ, μ) subspace

$$\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})_{[\lambda,\mu]} = P_{\lambda} \circ \operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) \circ P_{\mu} = \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(\mathbb{M}_{[\mu]}, \mathbb{M}_{[\lambda]})$$

of $\operatorname{End}_A^0(\mathbb{M})$. Therefore, ϕ_b^{\sharp} can be viewed as a linear map

$$\Phi_b^{\sharp}: \mathbb{W} \longrightarrow \overline{\operatorname{End}_A^0(\mathbb{M})} = \prod_{\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{C}} \operatorname{End}_A^0(\mathbb{M})_{[\lambda, \mu]}$$

Thus ϕ_b can be viewed as a linear functional $\mathbb{W} \otimes \operatorname{End}_A^0(\mathbb{M})' \to \mathbb{C}$, where

$$\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})' = \bigoplus_{\lambda,\mu\in\mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Hom}_{A}(\mathbb{M}_{[\mu]},\mathbb{M}_{[\lambda]})^{*}$$

is the contragredient $\mathbb{V}^{\otimes 2}$ -module of $\operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})$. Clearly ϕ_{b} is still a conformal block associated to $\widetilde{\mathfrak{X}}_{b}$. Thus:

Proposition 4.4.5. ϕ *is naturally an element of* $H^0(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}}, \mathscr{T}^*_{\widetilde{\mathbf{x}}}(\mathbb{W} \otimes \operatorname{End}^0_A(\mathbb{M})')).$

4.4.5 Reducing pseudo-sewing to (ordinary) sewing

Let $\widetilde{\mathfrak{Y}} := \widetilde{\mathfrak{X}} \sqcup (\mathfrak{N} \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$. We sew $\widetilde{\mathfrak{Y}}$ along two pairs of marked points. The first pair is (ς', ∞) with sewing radii r, 1. The second pair is $(\varsigma'', 0)$ with sewing radii $\rho, 1$. The result of sewing (cf. Subsec. 1.2.1) gives a family \mathfrak{Y} with base manifold $\mathcal{D}_r \times \mathcal{D}_\rho \times \widetilde{\mathcal{B}}$.

By Prop. 4.4.4 and 4.4.5,

$$\phi \otimes \operatorname{Tr}^{\omega} : \mathbb{W} \otimes \operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M})' \otimes \operatorname{End}_{A}^{0}(\mathbb{M}) \to \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})$$

is a conformal block associated to $\widetilde{\mathfrak{Y}}$. Its sewing is

$$S(\phi \otimes \operatorname{Tr}^{\omega}) : \mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})\{q_1, q_2\}[\log q_1, \log q_2]$$
$$w \mapsto \sum_{\lambda, \mu \in \mathbb{C}} \operatorname{Tr}^{\omega} \left(q_1^{L(0)} P_{\lambda} \phi^{\sharp}(w) P_{\mu} q_2^{L(0)} \right)$$
(4.4.6)

The RHS of (4.4.6) is clearly in $\mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})\{q_1q_2\}[\log(q_1q_2)]$, i.e., it is of the form $f(q_1q_2)$ for some $f \in \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})\{q\}[\log q]$.

Theorem 4.4.6. As linear maps $\mathbb{W} \to \mathcal{O}(\widetilde{\mathcal{B}})\{q\}[\log q]$ we have

$$\mathcal{S}^{\omega} \varphi = \mathcal{S}(\varphi \otimes \mathrm{Tr}^{\omega}) \big|_{q_1 q_2 = q}$$

Proof. This is clear from (4.4.3) and (4.4.6).

Proof of Thm. 4.4.2. By Thm. 4.3.1 and Rem. 4.3.2, $S(\phi \otimes \text{Tr}^{\omega})$ converges a.l.u. on $\mathcal{D}_{r}^{\times} \times \mathcal{D}_{\rho}^{\times} \times \mathcal{B}$ to a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{Y} outside its discriminant locus. Therefore, by Thm. 4.4.6, $S^{\omega}\phi$ converges a.l.u. on $\mathcal{D}_{r\rho}^{\times} \times \mathcal{B}$.

Moreover, for each fixed $q \in \mathcal{D}_{r\rho}^{\times}$, we find $q_1 \in \mathcal{D}_r^{\times}$, $q_2 \in \mathcal{D}_{\rho}^{\times}$ such that $q = q_1q_2$. Then for each $b \in \mathcal{B}$, the fiber $\mathfrak{X}_{(b,q)}$ is canonically equivalent to $\mathfrak{Y}_{(b,q_1,q_2)}$. Thus $\mathcal{S}^{\omega} \phi|_{(b,q)}$ is a conformal block associated to $\mathfrak{X}_{(b,q)}$. Since the property of being a conformal block can be checked pointwise (cf. Rem. 3.1.1), we conclude that $\mathcal{S}^{\omega} \phi$ is a conformal block associated to \mathfrak{X} outside $\Delta = \{0\} \times \tilde{\mathcal{B}}$. This finishes the proof of Thm. 4.4.2.

References

- [AN13] Yusuke Arike and Kiyokazu Nagatomo. Some remarks on pseudo-trace functions for orbifold models associated with symplectic fermions. *Int. J. Math.*, 24(2):1350008, 29, 2013.
- [Ari10] Yusuke Arike. Some remarks on symmetric linear functions and pseudotrace maps. *Proc. Japan Acad. Ser. A Math. Sci.*, 86(7):119–124, 2010.
- [DGT21] Chiara Damiolini, Angela Gibney, and Nicola Tarasca. Conformal blocks from vertex algebras and their connections on $\overline{\mathcal{M}}_{g,n}$. *Geom. Topol.*, 25(5):2235–2286, 2021.
- [DGT22] Chiara Damiolini, Angela Gibney, and Nicola Tarasca. On factorization and vector bundles of conformal blocks from vertex algebras. Ann. Sci. Éc. Norm. Supér., 2022.
- [FBZ04] Edward Frenkel and David Ben-Zvi. *Vertex algebras and algebraic curves*, volume 88 of *Mathematical Surveys and Monographs*. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, second edition, 2004.
- [FHL93] Igor B. Frenkel, Yi-Zhi Huang, and James Lepowsky. On axiomatic approaches to vertex operator algebras and modules. *Mem. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 104(494):viii+64, 1993.

- [Fio16] Francesco Fiordalisi. Logarithmic intertwining operators and genus-one correlation functions. *Commun. Contemp. Math.*, 18(6):46, 2016. Id/No 1650026.
- [Gui21] Bin Gui. Genus-zero permutation-twisted conformal blocks for tensor product vertex operator algebras: The tensor-factorizable case. arXiv:2111.04662, 2021.
- [Gui23a] Bin Gui. Convergence of sewing conformal blocks. Commun. Contemp. Math, 2023.
- [Gui23b] Bin Gui. Lectures on vertex operator algebras and conformal blocks. arXiv:2305.03822v1, 2023.
- [GZ23] Bin Gui and Hao Zhang. Analytic conformal blocks of *C*₂-cofinite vertex operator algebras I: Propagation and dual fusion products. arXiv:2305.10180, 2023.
- [HLZ12a] Yi-Zhi Huang, James Lepowsky, and Lin Zhang. Logarithmic tensor category theory, ii: Logarithmic formal calculus and properties of logarithmic intertwining operators. arXiv:1012.4196, 2012.
- [HLZ12b] Yi-Zhi Huang, James Lepowsky, and Lin Zhang. Logarithmic tensor category theory, iii: Intertwining maps and tensor product bifunctors. arXiv:1012.4197, 2012.
- [HLZ12c] Yi-Zhi Huang, James Lepowsky, and Lin Zhang. Logarithmic tensor category theory, iv: Constructions of tensor product bifunctors and the compatibility conditions. arXiv:1012.4198, 2012.
- [HLZ12d] Yi-Zhi Huang, James Lepowsky, and Lin Zhang. Logarithmic tensor category theory, v: Convergence condition for intertwining maps and the corresponding compatibility condition. arXiv:1012.4199, 2012.
- [HLZ12e] Yi-Zhi Huang, James Lepowsky, and Lin Zhang. Logarithmic tensor category theory, vi: Expansion condition, associativity of logarithmic intertwining operators, and the associativity isomorphisms. arXiv:1012.4202, 2012.
- [HLZ12f] Yi-Zhi Huang, James Lepowsky, and Lin Zhang. Logarithmic tensor category theory, vii: Convergence and extension properties and applications to expansion for intertwining maps. arXiv:1110.1929, 2012.
- [HLZ12g] Yi-Zhi Huang, James Lepowsky, and Lin Zhang. Logarithmic tensor category theory, viii: Braided tensor category structure on categories of generalized modules for a conformal vertex algebra. arXiv:1110.1931, 2012.
- [HLZ14] Yi-Zhi Huang, James Lepowsky, and Lin Zhang. Logarithmic tensor category theory for generalized modules for a conformal vertex algebra, I: introduction and strongly graded algebras and their generalized modules. In *Conformal field theories and tensor categories*, Math. Lect. Peking Univ., pages 169–248. Springer, Heidelberg, 2014.
- [Hua97] Yi-Zhi Huang. *Two-dimensional conformal geometry and vertex operator algebras*, volume 148 of *Progress in Mathematics*. Birkhäuser Boston, Inc., Boston, MA, 1997.
- [Hua09] Yi-Zhi Huang. Cofiniteness conditions, projective covers and the logarithmic tensor product theory. J. Pure Appl. Algebra, 213(4):458–475, 2009.
- [Hua24] Yi-Zhi Huang. Modular invariance of (logarithmic) intertwining operators. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 405(5):Paper No. 131, 82, 2024.
- [McR21] Robert McRae. Twisted modules and *G*-equivariantization in logarithmic conformal field theory. *Comm. Math. Phys.*, 383(3):1939–2019, 2021.
- [Miy04] Masahiko Miyamoto. Modular invariance of vertex operator algebras satisfying *C*₂-cofiniteness. *Duke Math. J.*, 122(1):51–91, 2004.
- [Miy15] Masahiko Miyamoto. C₂-cofiniteness of cyclic-orbifold models. Commun. Math. Phys., 335(3):1279–1286, 2015.
- [NT05] Kiyokazu Nagatomo and Akihiro Tsuchiya. Conformal field theories associated to regular chiral vertex operator algebras. I: Theories over the projective line. *Duke Math. J.*, 128(3):393–471, 2005.
- [Seg88] G. B. Segal. The definition of conformal field theory. Differential geometrical methods in theoretical physics, Proc. 16th Int. Conf., NATO Adv. Res. Workshop, Como/Italy 1987, NATO ASI Ser., Ser. C 250, 165-171 (1988)., 1988.
- [Seg04] Graeme Segal. The definition of conformal field theory. In *Topology, geometry and quantum field theory. Proceedings of the 2002 Oxford symposium in honour of the 60th birthday of Graeme Segal, Oxford, UK, June 24–29, 2002, pages 421–577. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2004.*
- [TUY89] Akihiro Tsuchiya, Kenji Ueno, and Yasuhiko Yamada. Conformal field theory on universal fam-

ily of stable curves with gauge symmetries. Integrable systems in quantum field theory and statistical mechanics, Proc. Symp., Kyoto/Jap. and Kyuzeso/Jap. 1988, Adv. Stud. Pure Math. 19, 459-566 (1989)., 1989.

- [Uen97] Kenji Ueno. Introduction to conformal field theory with gauge symmetries. In *Geometry and physics (Aarhus, 1995)*, volume 184 of *Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math.*, pages 603–745. Dekker, New York, 1997.
- [Uen08] Kenji Ueno. *Conformal field theory with gauge symmetry*, volume 24 of *Fields Institute Monographs*. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI; Fields Institute for Research in Mathematical Sciences, Toronto, ON, 2008.
- [Zhu96] Yongchang Zhu. Modular invariance of characters of vertex operator algebras. J. Amer. Math. Soc., 9(1):237–302, 1996.

YAU MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES CENTER, TSINGHUA UNIVERSITY, BEIJING, CHINA. *E-mail*: binguimath@gmail.com bingui@tsinghua.edu.cn

YAU MATHEMATICAL SCIENCES CENTER AND DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, TSINGHUA UNIVERSITY, BEIJING, CHINA. *E-mail*: zhanghao1999math@gmail.com h-zhang21@mails.tsinghua.edu.cn